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FOREWORD

ment was such as to lead him to undertake wntmg one, and the pres-
ent volume is the result.

All the magisterial districts were visited. The public records of the county
were attentively examined, as were also the early records of the parent counties,
Orange, Augusta, and Botetourt. The archives in the capitol and the state library
at Richmond were freely consulted, as were likewise various books in public and
private collections. The files of the local newspapers yielded much valuable ma-
terial. The documentary history of Rockbridge is practically continuous, and it
proved necessary to make the utmost possible use of it.

County history is either general or genealogic. It is general, when it deals
with the people of a. county as a community. It is genealogic, when it deals with
the same people as made up of families and attempts to trace lines of descent
from the pioneer ancestors.

Either of these two aspects of local history is the complement of the other.
John Dee may be pleased to find that his great grandfather, Adam Dee, came
into the county a hundred and fifty years before the date of his own birth, bought
the John Smith farm, and reared ten children, nearly all of whom married and
from whom have come grandchildren and great grandchildren. But John Dee
should not assume that persons who are neither cousins nor near-cousins will
grow enthusiastic in viewing the intricate branches of the family tree. To
them it is little else than a dry network of names and dates, unless one or more
members of the connection have done something that is a good deal out of the
ordinary. But if we seek to know the times in which Adam Dee and his sons
lived ; to learn how they dressed, labored, and housed themselves, and what was
the environment, physical, civil, and social, in which they were placed: we then
have begun to put flesh and blood into the skeleton of names and dates, and have
created a degree of living interest that is not confined to John Dee and his kins-
folk. An interpretation to them becomes an interpretation to others.

This book is therefore divided into two sections. The one dealing with the
general history of Rockbridge begins with a survey of the geographic and scenic
features of the county, this being necessary to an adequate understanding of the
development of the past two centuries. It then explains whence the pioneer
families came and why they came, and in what manner they established them-
selves in the wilderness. It attempts to trace the civic, social, religious, educa-
tional, and industrial unfolding that has since taken place. It tells of the growth




of centers of population, and of the steady outflow of people that has been true of
this region from the start. So far as could conveniently be done, documents have
been allowed to speak for themselves. In a word, this first portion of the volume
aims to present the Story of Rockbridge since the beginning of white settlement
in 1737. What took place between that date and the war of 1861 is rather un-
familiar to the people who are doing the work of the county today. The sources
of information for that long period are fragmentary and are tedious to consult.
The compiler has therefore given special attention to the years that lie mainly or
wholly beyond the practical recollection of any person now living.

Some explanation of the second or genealogic section of this book may be
found in the introduction to Part Two.

As a subject of local history, the annals of Rockbridge are of much more
than ordinary interest and value. The presentation of them in book form has
been seriously thought of, at one time or another, by several of the native citi-
zens. The matter was urged upon Captain J. D. Morrison in 1894. In the
same year it was suggested that a club be formed to gather facts concerning the
prominent names in Rockbridge history. But while, with respect to county his-
tories in general, certain things are obviously in favor of the native historian,
observation shows that he seldom gets down to the task. This is largely because
he sees no end to the material which is constantly coming to light. He may give
one, two, or five years to his task, and all the while be turning up fresh soil.
But unless the undertaking is in every respect a labor of love, there is a limit to
the time and expense which may be given. The historian who is a stranger is
not beset with the antagonisms which are nearly sure to affect the labors of the
native. The very fact that he is a stranger makes it the more easy to be judicial
and to deal with his subject from a broad angle. Nevertheless, he starts in
under a handicap of unfamiliarity with his chosen field. He is very much in need
of a live codperation on the part of the inhabitants. This coéperation needs to
be active and not passive.

During a number of weeks, reading notices relating to the enterprise ap-
peared in the newspapers of Lexington. The compiler hoped thus to come in
touch with many persons who could supplement the data he was gleaning from
the public documentary sources. The responses were few and not all the aid
promised was forthcoming. Personal calls were made by him whenever they
were asked. If the chapters on biography and family history, as well as certain
tabulations, are here and there deficient, this paragraph will afford some ex-
planation. However, our country was at war while this work was being done,
and the minds of the people were much engrossed by this circumstance.

If this book were to be offered at a “reasonable price,” it had to be written
within a certain limit of time and printed within a certain limit of cost. It was
therefore necessary to be concise in statement. There was a sharp limit to the
space which could be devoted to any given topic. The exceptions are where such
space has been paid for by specially interested individuals.




Several residents of Rockbridge have aided very materially by contributing
oral or written information, donating or loaning books or other published ma-
terial, or extending courtesies in hospitality or travel. Particular acknowledge-
ment is thus due to William A. Anderson, Mr. and Mrs. Walter W. Dunlap,
Frank T. Glasgow, Mr. and Mrs. William G. Houston, Mr. Henkle, of Buena
Vista, Mrs. G. A. Jones, Harry O. Locher, Sr., Mr. and Mrs. L. C. Lockridge,
Joseph R. Long, James H. McCown, Emmett W. McCorkle, Daniel W. McNeil,
Mrs. Graham Montgomery, General E. W. Nichols, J. A. Parker, Earle K.
Paxton, J. Sidney Saville, Dr. Henry Louis Smith, Harrington Waddell, and
Hugh J. White. The McCormick portion of the chapter on Rockbridge is from
the pen of Doctor J. H. Latané of Johns Hopkins University. The material for
the sketch of the McCorckle family has been contributed by William A. Mac-
Corkle, ex-governor of West Virginia, and several other members of the McCorkle
connection. Other assistance from without the country has been given by J. J.
Echols, O. C. Ruley, and Kate M. Jordan. .

There is further acknowledgement to Boutwell Dunlap, of San Francisco,
who has heretofore furnished the compiler with some data for his histories of
Bath and Monroe. He has opened to him all his manuscript material relating to
Rockbridge. Mr. Dunlap’s manuscript collections on the history and genealogy
of the Valley of Virginia and Western Virginia are said to be the largest in
America. His interest in this history of Rockbridge is in remembrance of his
father, William Dunlap, a native of Rockbridge, a respected California pioneer
of 1849, one of the largest landholders of the Sacramento valley, and a member
of one of the most prominent family connections of the Valley of Virginia and
the West. Mr. Boutwell Dunlap’s aid has been especially helpful in affording
material for chapters X, XXXI, and XXXIV, and Section XIV.

In making most grateful recognition to all the above named persons, the
author does not mean to withhold his thanks from anyone else who has, even
if in a small way, shown an active interest in the preparation of this history. This
book is the first history of Rockbridge that has been written. It represents
eighteen months of hard work. No statement has gone into these pages without a
careful scrutiny. Yet it should be borne in mind that there is no claim for im-
munity from error in statements of fact or in the spelling of proper names. The
man or woman who can write a local history and escape censure is not to be found
on this side of the millenium, even by the “efficiency engineer.” Another crafts-
man than the one who does write the book could probably do better in some one re-
spect, or in several. The pertinent question is whether in the long run he could
have done as well. The person who is keen in looking for flaws in a county his-
tory will do well to remember that the reviewers often find glaring misstatements
in works intended to be authoritative; and that Joseph E. Worcester, the lexi-
cographer, said that no amount of care will render even an unabridged dictionary
exempt from error.



When an omission or inaccuracy is noticed, one reader will at once denounce
the entire book and excoriate the author. Another reader will write a correction
on the margin of the page. Copies of the book thus annotated are more valuable
than others, especially to the local historian of the future. And. unlike the
generality of books, the county history does not depreciate in financial value. It
commands a higher price as it grows scarce. The owner of such a book has
made a safe investment, and if he takes jealous care of his purchase posterity
will thank him for doing so. ’

OzeN F. MorToON.’
Staunton, Virginia, September 28, 1918.



HISTORY OF ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY, VA.
I .

THE LOCAL GEOGRAPHY

PosITION AND S1ZE—BOUNDARIES—MOUNTAINS—LOWLANDS—STREA MS—GEOLOGY—So1L.s—CLI-
MATE—PLANTS AND ANIMALS—DIvISIONS—PLACE NAMES—
NATURAL ADVANTAGES

There is but one Rockbridge County in the United States. The unique name
is due to a great natural curosity within its limits.

The position of the county is nearly midway in the longer direction of the
Valley of Virginia. The latitude—mostly to the south of the thirty-eighth par-
allel—is that of the center of Kentucky, the south of Missouri, and the center
of California. In Europe it is that of the south of Spain and the island of Sicily.
In Asia it is that of central Asia Minor and central Japan.

In form, Rockbridge is an irregular rectangle, the longer direction being
nearly northeast and southwest. The length of the county is nearly thirty-two
miles, and the extreme breadth is nearly twenty-six miles. The area is officially
stated as 593 square miles, which is considerably more than is true of the average
county in Virginia.

The curving eastern boundary follows for forty miles the crest of the Blue
Ridge, and is therefore a natural geographic line. The western line begins
on Camp Mountain, and passes to North Mountain, then .to Mill Mountain,
and finally to Sideling Hill. The short lines by which the boundary crosses
from one to another of these elevations are determined by valley-divides, so
that the western boundary may likewise be regarded as natural. But the northern
and southern boundaries of the county are straight lines, entirely artificial, and
they set it off as a cross-section of the Valley of Virginia.

The Blue Ridge is not a single well-defined mountain range. Looking from
the high ground along the Valley Railroad, there is seen in the east a succession
of bold elevations. The nearest are heavy foothill ridges. Beyond are the
higher fragments of interior ridges, marked off from one another by depressions
more or less deep. These intermediate heights afford only occasional glimpses
of the central range. Consequently, the general appearance of the mountain wall
is that of a labyrinth of long and short elevations occupying a considerable
breadth of country. But on the western side of Rockbridge, the ranges are
single and well-defined, and present sky-lines that are fairly regular. For several
miles east of the axis of North Mountain, much of the surface is occupied by
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short parallel ridges of much the same character as North Mountain itself.
Some of these are the House mountains, Camp Mountain, Green Mountain, Little
North Mountain, the Jump, and the Loop. The most eastern is the uplift known
as the Short Hills. These break down rather abruptly near the course of
Buffalo Creek, but beyond they reappear under the name of the Brushy Hills.

The space between the two mountain systems may be termed the Central
Lowland. It runs the entire length of the county. On the east it is bordered
by the bottoms along South and North rivers, and by Salling’s Mountain, which
is an outlier of the Blue Ridge, though lying to the west of the James. In the
north the breadth of this lowland is more than ten miles. At the south it is
scarcely half as much. It is by far the most populous area in Rockbridge.

In general the contour of the county is mbuntainous. The Blue Ridge
section is interrupted only by such narrow depressions as Arnold’s Valley and
the valleys of Irish Creek and the Little Mary. The surface of the Central
Lowland is heavily rolling. Between drainage basins it rises into divides of
considerable altitude. Westward is the mountainous belt already mentioned.
It includes a number of well populated creek valleys. In the extreme northwest
is a section of the basin known as the Pastures. Southward it is prolonged into
the wilderness drained by Bratton’s Run.

The highest point in the Rockbridge section of the Blue Ridge appears to
be Bluff Mountain with an altitude of 3250 feet. The northern point of the
Short Hills has a height of 2565 feet. Adcock’s Knob in North Mountain
has a height of 3325 feet, and the Jump of 3190. Big House and Little House
mountains are respectively 3612 and 3410 feet high, and seem to be the most
elevated ground in the county.

The entire area of Rockbridge lies in the basin of the James. This river
courses ten miles through the southeast of the county. North River, which
joins it immediately above Balcony Falls, flows not less than fifty miles within
the confines of Rockbridge and drains seven-eights of its area. It rises in
Shenandoah Mountain, and as the Great Calfpasture it flows southwardly to
Goshen Pass, just above which it is joined by the Little Calfpasture, also running
in the same direction. A little farther above are the mouths of Mill Creek and
Bratton’s Run. A mijle below Goshen the river begins to flow squarely toward
the Blue Ridge, and below its junction with the Little Calfpasture it becomes
known as North River. After passing into the limestone region of the Central
Lowland, its course, which is now a succession of large loops, is first south-
ward, then southeastward, and finally southward again. The largest tributary is
Buffalo Creek, which is itself entitled to be called a river. It rises near the
southwest corner of Rockbridge, and has a broad, rapid course of about twenty-
five miles. Hays Creek, the next largest affluent, rises in Augusta, and above
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New Providence is known as Moffett’s Creek. Its largest tributary is Walker’s
Creek, which also rises in Augusta. South River, which hugs the foothills of
the Blue Ridge and consequently pursues the same general direction, likewise
has its source in Augusta. Irish Creek and the Little Mary, both heading in
the Blue Ridge, are its only important tributaries. Kerr’s Creek parallels the
Buffalo, but has a much shorter course. Still smaller afluents of North River
are Whistle Creek, Mill Creek, Back Creek, Woods Creek, Borden’s Run, and
Poague’s Run. Below the mouth of North River are Arnold’s and Cedar
creeks, flowing directly into the main stream.

Small watercourses are rather many in Rockbridge, and even the Central
Lowland is better supplied with running water than are some other limestone
districts. And because its streams are geologically old, Rockbridge is without
lakes or ponds.

The geological structure of Rockbridge is very ancient, although its rocks
are not among the very oldest of the stratified formations. The age of the rocks
renders it quite useless to expect to find coal, oil, or natural gas, although by
the same token we do find the mountains well stored with that most necessary
metal, iron. Other metallic and mineral riches are manganese, marble, kaolin,
limestone, fireclay, gypsum, barytes, and even tin, a metal with which the United
States is sparingly endowed.

The Central Lowland is preéminently the agricultural district of Rockbridge,
and here the soil is a heavy loam, intermediate in color between the light and the
dark shades, and resting on limestone strata. The rock formation is generally
tilted to a considerable angle, and crops out in ledges or in rocky slopes, and an
occasional sinkhole manifests its presence. The bottoms along the rivers and the
larger creeks are variable in width, and have a soil which is dark in color and
somewhat sandy in texture. Much more stony than other soils and the least
desirable for general farming are those of the mountain slopes. No large inroad
has been made into these, except where they merge into bench or bottom lands.

The climate of Lexington is a fair average for that of the county in general.
The mean annual temperature of the county seat is fifty-four degrees, which is
slightly below that of the city of Washington, the effect of a more southern
latitude being more than offset by the very much greater altitude. With respect
to the seasons, the mean temperatures are 34.5 in winter, 53.8 in spring, 722
in summer, and 554 in fall. The coldest month is February, with a mean of
33.5; the hottest is July, with a mean of 73.7. But during a period of twelve
years, the mean of the coldest month varied from 26.4 degrees to 40.8, and
that of the hottest month from 63.9 to 78. In the average year, the range of
the thermometer is from a minimum of 1.5 degrees to a maximum of 96. But
temperatures of 101 degrees above zero and sixteen below have been observed.
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The yearly rainfall of forty inches is well distributed among the seasons, yet
is heaviest in summer and lightest in the fall. June is ordinarily the wettest
month and November the driest. The average period between killing frosts
is from April 24th to October 15th.

Two inches of sleet in December, 1907, caused a rare beauty of “ice-
scape.” A hailstorm on Colliers’s Creek, June 8, 1909, completely destroyed all
crops in its path and even killed fish in the stream. In the mountain hollows
the huge pellets did not entirely disappear for several days.

But there are wide variations in the climate of Rockbridge. Frost has
been known in every month except July, although one fall was so mild as to be
without a killing frost till the end of November. In the winter of 1855-56,
there was sleighing for six weeks, and the ice in the North River canal inter-
rupted navigation for two months. Two years later, there was no ice in the
canal worth mention until March 5th. Snow fell to a depth of eighteen inches,
October 24, 1854. There was a heavy fall May 20, 1857, and it lay several days
on the Blue Ridge. In the spring of 1859, trees were nearly in full leaf April
23, more than three weeks in advance of the usual time. Fires and warm
clothing were needed during the third week of August, 1866. Rain fell to the
depth of four and two-third inches, September 22, 1907, and in the Kerr’s Creek
valley the precipitation for the month was 15.9 inches. High winds are not
unknown. Floods are sometimes very serious, as in 1870, 1877, and 1913. There
is no proof of any material change in climate since the Rockbridge area* became
known to white people. There was a severe drouth in 1758, and another about
1751, the earlier one causing a local famine.

Since the surface is diversified, the drainage nearly perfect, and the average
altitude not far short of 1500 feet, the air is bracing and health conditions are
naturally very good. The annals of the county disclose many instances of long-
evity. The ailments of most frequent occurrence appear to be those of the re-
spiratory organs. Typhoid fever, a disease due to defective sanitation, has
several times seriously interrupted the schools of Lexington. Smallpox has been
an occasional visitor.

The soils of Rockbridge take kindly to a covering of grass, so that the
county is well adapted to grazing as well as to the general farm crops. But
where nature has her way, she everywhere covers the hills and valleys with
a diversified forest growth. The prevailing wood is oak, chestnut, elm, hickory,
walnut, poplar, sycamore, and other deciduous trees. Pine occurs in some
localities and cedar is still more common. Among the numerous shrubs is the
mountain laurel in the high, shaded hollows. The wild fruits include the black-

*By “Rockbridge area” is meant the geographic space within the present limits of the
county, and as though such limits have existed for an indefinite time.
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berry, the common and the mountain raspberries, strawberries, huckleberries,
mulberries, and pawpaws.

The animal life is of the kinds found in the Valley of Virginia. The buffalo
and the elk disappeared soon after white settlement began. The puma and
the wolf held their ground much longer, but are now extinct. The mountains
shelter an occasional black bear and a few deer. Such predatory pests as wild-
cats, foxes, and skunks still remain. Groundhogs, rabbits, and squirrels are
tolerably plentiful. Still other mammals are raccoons, opossums, otters, and
mink. The wooded surface attracts birds in considerable variety, such as tur-
keys, ducks, cranes, pheasants, hawks, owls, woodpeckers, pigeons, thrushes,
crows, robins, partridges, larks, doves, catbirds, and redbirds. In the mountains
are eagles, buzzards, and ravens. Fish would be more abundant but for the
pollution of somte of the streams by sawmilling and mining. There are the
usual insects native to this part of America, but the mosquito is not a nuisance.
In a single season, a few years ago, the bounty of fifty cents a head on chicken-
hawks was paid on 469 of these birds of prey. They were about one-half of a
flock that came from the west.

Rockbridge is bordered by the counties of Augusta, Nelson, Amherst, Bed-
ford, Botetourt, Alleghany, and Bath. Its magisterial districts are six. Buffalo
lies in the southwest, Natural Bridge in the southeast, South River in the north-
east, Walker’s Creek in the northwest. In the central west is Kerr’s Creek, and in
the center is Lexington District. The corporation of Buena Vista is a seventh
political subdivision.

The names borne by the streams and mountains of Rockbridge have in a
number of instances undergone no change since the exploration by the white
pathfinders. North River was for a while styled the North Branch of the James.
Until about 1760, South River was the River Mary, and Kerr’s Creek was
Tees Creek. The pioneers seem to have given names to all the water-courses,
small as well as large, but some of their designations have gone out of use.
In several instances some peculiar happening appears to have suggested the
name. Thus, Whistle Creek was at first known as Can’t Whistle Creek.

As a place for white occupancy, Rockbridge has natural advantages of a
superior character. The climate is temperate and invigorating. Much of the
soil is fertile, and the hillsides not brought under tillage are very useful for pas-
turage and as a forest reserve. The mineral wealth is very considerable, as is
also the water power. And finally, the passes at Balcony Falls and Panther
Gap have caused the county to be traversed by important railway lines.



II

SCENIC FEATURES

RocKBRIDGE LANDSCAPES—THE NATURAL BRIDGE—GOSHEN PAss—BarcoNy FaLis—House
MounTtaiNs—THE JuMp

Appalachian America is renowned for its scenic beauty, and Rockbridge
county has been granted an ample share. The Blue Ridge and the Alleghanies
are geologically very old and have been eroded into a very great complexity of
outline. Because of this wearing-down process, they do not exhibit the great
elevations and the rugged features of young mountain systems, such as the
Rockies and the Alps. But on the other hand there is more gracefulness of
contour, the effect of which is greatly aided by the loveliness of the Appalachian
forests in the summer season.

The five points of interest we are about to describe do not by any means
exhaust the list of scenic attractions in Rockbridge county. Monotony is
never present in the landscape. In touring this region, the visitor travels many
miles in the thriving agricultural expanse of the Central Lowlands, dotted with
its scores of comfortable farm homes; he passes through areas of more fertile
bottom land, like the “Egypt field” of Kerr’s Creek; he crosses the deep valley
of the Buffalo, and follows the narrow, thickly populated creek valleys that
lie in the evening shadows thrown by the North Mountain. And when his
road crosses a mountain ridge, there is likely to be a delightful view that sweeps
far out upon the lower levels.

Foremost among the scenic features is the world-famous Natural Bridge,
to which the county owes its name. John Marshall, the chief justice, called this
natural curiosity, “one of God’s greatest miracles in stone.” It was almost as
well known to the Americans of three-fourths of a century ago as it is to
those of the present day. It was represented by crude woodcuts in their school
geographies, and in some other books of wide distribution. In the school reader
was a thrilling account of how some foolhardy person tried to carve his name in
the rock at a greater height than anyone else had reached. Ever since illustrated
books on America have been on the market, the Natural Bridge has ranked with
Niagara Falls as one of the most prominent subjects of pictorial art. By
common consent it is one of the wonders of the Western World. 1t is, however,
no more remarkable than the twin Tower Rocks of Pendleton county, West
Virginia; but these are concealed in an almost unknown mountain hollow. It
is less stupendous than the recently discovered natural bridges in Utah; but these
lie in an arid and almost inaccessible region.
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An explanation of the Natural Bridge of Virginia is not at all difficult.
The Central Lowland of Rockbridge owes its existence and its peculiarities to
the thick stratum of limestone that is not everywhere concealed by the surface
soil. This layer, in common with the sandstones and shales of the mountain
ridges, has been bent into almost every possible angle by upward thrusts
coming from the interior of the earth. These titanic forces seam the rocks with
lines of cleavage, both lateral and vertical. Into these narrow openings water
forces its way, and when in the form of ice it acts as a lever to pry the seams
farther apart. When charged with acids drawn from the air and from vegetable
matter, water is a powerful solvent of limestone. The narrow crevice becomes
broad; the shallow parting becomes deep. The rock deposit becomes honey-
combed with water-channels, small and large. The water from the clouds ceases
to flow on the surface, and finds its way into underground passageways. Ex-
tensive caverns are thus eaten into the limestone, and as these spread themselves
laterally, the roof becomes weak, and here and there it falls. On the surface a
limited area of subsidence is indicated by a sinkhole. When the underground
stream has grown large and powerful, the roof gives way entirely for long dis-
tances. The creek now becomes visible, though flowing in a deep gorge. But
atmospheric agencies begin at once to lessen the steepness of the walls of the
canyon.

It is to the working of the process just described that the Natural Bridge
owes its existence. Cedar Creek is a mountain stream rising in the Short
Hills. After a quite direct course of hardly more than six miles it falls into
the James at Gilmore Station. At some remote day it behaved like certain of
the present watercourses in Monroe county, West Virginia. A short distance
below its source it was drawn into a sinkhole and reappeared near the bank of the
river. Little by little the roof of the subterranean channel collapsed. Nothing
is now left but the arch where the support was thickest and strongest. This
fragment is the Natural Bridge. It is significant that for a short distance, above
and below, there is a precipitous wall on either side of the little stream. But
although the slopes soon become much less abrupt, there is an extent of perhaps
three miles within which it would be very difficult to build a road across the
valley. The massive arch comes to the rescue by providing a perfectly easy
passage, and a county road has used it since a very early day.

To view the bridge from below the visitor starts from the Natural Bridge
Hotel and follows a path leading down a ravine to the brink of the creek. Look-
ing upward, a sheet of limestone, sixty to 150 feet broad and with a span of
ninety feet, is seen to connect the opposing cliffs. It is 215 feet to the arch,
which is forty-eight feet thick. Almost overhanging the upper edge of the
arch are the tops of trees and shrubs. Because of these the stranger traveling
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the county road is hardly aware when he is upon the bridge. The surface of the
rock-wall under the arch scarcely permits any foothold for vegetation. The
stone presents some diversity of color, the yellowish and reddish tints being
due to iron oxide, better known as iron rust. When the trees are in full leaf,
the gorge is shaded and cool, and the ruggedness of the canyon is greatly soft-
ened. But at any season the visitor can hardly fail to be impressed with the
grandeur of the spectacle.

The Rockbridge pioneers must have known of the bridge from an early day,
but we have no evidence that it made much impression on their matter-of-fact
minds. The earliest published mention is by the English traveler, Burnaby,
who wrote in 1759. It was twenty years later that lightning struck the arch
and threw down a large mass of rock. The original patentee of the bridge, in-
cluding some land immediately around, was not an actual settler, but a non-
resident living in Albemarle. This was Thomas Jefferson, and the date of his
patent is July 5, 1774. During the Revolution the bridge was twice visited by
French scientists. The picture made from their measurements and diagrams
was widely copied and was about the only one known prior to the invention of
photography.

After Jefferson became President, he surveyed and mapped his patent
with his own hands. The next year he built a two-roomed log cabin, and left it
in charge of a negro named Patrick Henry. One of the rooms was to be kept
open for the entertainment of visitors. He also left a large book in which
visitors might record their “sentiments.” This was written full, but was ac-
cidentally destroyed in 1845. The property did not pass out of the Jefferson
estate until 1833. It is to be regretted that the author of the Declaration of Inde-
pendence did not convey this ground to the State, or to the National government,
so that it might at all times be freely open to the public, as in the case of the
Yosemite Valley of California.

It was in 1802 that Jefferson built the cabin above mentioned. Ever since
that time the bridge has been much visited. Marshall, Monroe, Clay, Van
Buren, Jackson, Benton, and Houston were among the earlier of the American
notabilities who have viewed this “bridge not made with hands.”

When he was a young man, the agile and well-muscled Washington climbed
to a niche some twenty feet above the waters and carved his name. This exploit
was very much exceeded by Thomas Piper, a foolhardy student. He placed his
name higher than anyone else had done, and finding he could not return he ac-
complished the almost incredible feat of climbing to the top. A very narrow
Tedge, perhaps a hundred feet above the creek level, is pointed out as the place
another person reached, but he had to be rescued by means of a rope let down
from the top of the cliff. Several other individuals have been less fortunate,
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and a few fatalities are on record. In 1843 a stranger leaped from the bndge
If he intended to commit suicide, he accomiplished his purpose.

Goshen Pass was formerly known as Dunlap’s Gap and then as Strickler’s
Pass. It extends from near the mouth of the Little Calfpasture to Wilson’s
Springs, a distance of five miles. Just below the mouth of the tributary men-
tioned, North River begins its sinuous passage of the North Mountain. The
heights, which sometimes tower a thousand feet above the swirling waters, are
not generally so steep as to be destitute of a growth of wood, and in summer
the forest verdure adds much to the grace and beauty of the scene. Yet here and
there is a vertical ledge exhibiting the flexures worked into the stratum by the up-
ward pressure of the earth’s crust in remiote geologic periods. The river is
constantly flowing over or among masses of rock and is a continuous cascade. A
new vista opens with every bend in the road, and the stranger who goes from one
end of the pass to the other and then retraces his steps finds the return nearly
as replete with interest as the advance. There is not a house and not an acre .
of tilled land within the pass, and the view is well-nigh as primeval as it was
in the day of the Indian. And yet the road was once a busy thoroughfare, a
line of stages running between Lexington and Goshen.

When Matthew F. Maury was a resident of Lexington, he liked to visit this
watergap in early summer. His admiration for it was so great that one of his
final requests was that his remains should be taken to their permanent resting
place by way of Goshen Pass, and when the laurel should be in bloom. This
direction was faithfully carried out. In going through the pass the procession
halted a while at the foot of a low cliff and below a sharp point of rock pro-
jecting over the road. Soon afterward, an anchor, taken from the pontoon
bridge left at East Lexington by General Hunter ; was suspended from the pro-
jection. With a strange want of consideration, this suitable memento was at
length taken down by some person and carried away. It was the abundance of
rhododendron along the river border that caused a very narrow belt of low
ground to be named Poison Bottom. Fresh herbage is so eagerly devoured by
domestic animals in early spring that they will eat laurel leaves when nothing
else is to be had and sickness is the result.

Another interesting watergap is the pass at Balcony Falls. This is one of
the two places in Virginia where the Blue Ridge opens to its base, so as to permit
the passage of a river. Looking from the town of Glasgow, a stranger might
not suspect the existence of the gap. He will imagine that an exceedingly nar-
row valley is making a zigzag approach to the west from the axis of the Blue
Ridge. As in the case of Goshen Pass, there is not a house in the four miles
of the passage. The mountain slopes are unbroken by clearings, and except for
the railway and the county road, the scenery is that of the virgin wilderness. The
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James falls about 200 feet in going through the defile, and in the days of batteau
navigation it was a danger point.

To the person standing on College Hill at Lexington, the view toward the
west is dominated by an imposing height of unusual form. This is Little House
Mountain, and it has carried this name ever since the day of the white explorer.
The name was evidently suggested by the shape of the elevation. The summit,
half a mile long, is almost horizontal. At each end there is an abrupt falling
away, the mountain terminating in either direction in a concave slope of heavy
grade. The eastward and westward slopes are likewise steep, and all the way
around the mountain is an unbroken forest rising from a stony surface. When
the observer changes his point of observation to Fancy Hill or to the divide be-
tween Kerr’s Creek and North River, he discovers the existence of Big House
Mountain, which from Lexington is almost completely eclipsed by its companion.
The two mountains lie side by side, and are parallel to North Mountain. The
distance from summit to summit is less than a mile, and the valley between is
very deep. Big House Mountain is camel-backed and is the higher of the two,
although the difference in altitude is not conspicuous. Since the House moun-
tains rise like islands from the floor of the Valley of Virginia, their isolation,
their lofty summits, and their exceptional form render them a striking feature
in a Rockbridge landscape. They may be seen to good advantage from the
Matthews mansion near Glasgow, fifteen miles away as the crow flies, and on a
clear day they are in plain view from Flag Rock on Warm Springs Mountain,
almost twenty miles distant. Conversely, a very large portion of Rockbridge
may be viewed from the summit of Little House Mountain. The view from
its companion is less satisfactory because of its less favorable position. From
Lexington the twin heights are so conspicuous and so imposing that the residents
regard them with a feeling akin to affection.

Certain legends are associated with the House Mountains. One of these
relates to a man named Shepherd, who lived a while at the high-lying rock which
ever since has borne his name. He was often noticed poring over a small book
carried in a leather pouch. At intervals not frequent he came down to Col-
lier’s Creek and paid for provisions in bright new coins. He was at first
suspected of being a horse-thief, but he turned out to be a counterfeiter of silver
quarters. Shepherd found it expedient to go away, but the credulous continued to
see lights on Shepherd Rock which would vanish when approached. Some
searching has here been done for pots of silver.

Jump Mountain has a very precipitous face toward the east. It is so
named because of a legend of a battle between Indians at the mouth of Walker’s
Creek. The story relates that an Indian woman watched the conflict from the
mountain, and when she saw her husband fall she threw herself over the precipice.
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But she must have possessed telescopic eyes to recognize her mate at a distance
of at least two miles. As for the alleged battle, it probably rests on no more sub-
stantial basis than the former existence of the Walker’s Creek mound, an ac-
count of which is given in Chapter VIII.

Of Crystal Spring in Arnold’s Valley, there is the following beautiful
legend. An Indian warrior loved a maid of a hostile tribe, and gave her a gem
which his people had brought from beyond the Father of Waters. It was trans-
parent, and she wore it in her necklace of beads. The trysting-place was a
spring. A jealous lover of her own tribe found her here and snatched away
the jewel. She caught his hand, recovered the crystal, and threw it behind her
into the spring, where it dissolved, and gave to the water its purity and its
sparkle.



III

THE ULSTERMAN AND THE PATHFINDERS

STRATHCLYDE AND ULSTER—SCOTLAND IN 1600—THE ULsTERMEN—THER RELATIONS WITH
THE BRITISH GOVERNMENT—THE EMIGRATION To AMERICA—AMERICA AND VIRGINIA
IN 1716—PENNSYLVANIA AND THE IMMIGRANTS—THE AMERICAN
HIGHLANDER—SPOTTSWOOD—SALLING

In the story of the world’s progress, the American Republic is a colonial ex-
tension of Europe. As a white man’s country, its history has therefore a
European background. This background must be studied if the development of
our country is to be properly understood.

For the history of the upper Valley of Virginia the European background
is to be sought in the southwest of Scotland and the north of Ireland; in
Strathclyde and in Ulster, respectively. In latitude, and in surface, soil, and
climate, the two regions are much alike. In each there are mountains, usually
deforested and sometimes gaunt and gloomy, which are similar in height to the
elevations rising above the floor of the Valley of Virginia. In each there are
fine swift streams, comparable in volume to the North River at Lexington, or
to its tributary, the Buffalo. In each the surface alternates from mountain to
valley, and from broken ridges to small tracts comparatively level. In each
the soil is often stony, sometimes excessively so, and in general is not highly
fertile or easily tilled. The mean annual temperature is fifty degrees, as
against fifty-four at Lexington. The winter temperature is noticeably milder
than that of Rockbridge, but the summer is very much cooler, being scarcely so
warm as a Rockbridge May. The climate, cool, cloudy, and humid, is suited
to grass, oats, and root crops, and either region is better adapted to grazing than
to tillage. A domestic rather than an outdoor life is indicated, while the
stony and often spongy soil compels habits of industry and thrift. And since
the aspect of nature is stern rather than smiling, and the sky more often cloudy
than fair, it need not surprise us that these lands have nurtured a sober, thought-
ful, matter-of-fact, unemotional race, with a higher appreciation of the obviously
useful than of the merely beautiful.

The above description of the countries on the two sides of the North Chan-
nel suggests a certain measure of resemblance to the Shenandoah Valley and
the Appalachian uplands. The rock formations are of the same geologic periods
and the soils are similar in texture. The degree of resemblance goes far to ex-
plain why the immigrant from Ulster has so successfully adapted himself to
Appalachian America. The sky proved to be warmer and sunnier, yet the new
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home was not strikingly dissimilar, as was found to be the case with the Missis-
sippi Basin and the plains and mountains beyond.

The southwest of Scotland was once Strathclyde, a petty kingdom about the
size of Connecticut. It was at length overrun by the neighboring kingdom of
Northumbria, and the native Celtic speech gave place to the Saxon. This cir-
cumstance does not imply that the old population was displaced. The pre-
valent idea that the people of Scotland and England are predominantly Ger-
manic is incorrect, and was disproved before the late war had burst upon
the world. Consequently the experts who have investigated the matter did not
have this tragedy to bias their conclusions. The population of the British
Isles is mainly of the elements that held possession in the days of Casar. The
invading bands of Anglen, Saxons, and Jutes overran the lowlands on the in-
stalment plan, and full success did not come for many years. By assimilating
with the natives they gave the country a new language and new institutions.
But whether Highlanders or Lowlanders, the Scottish people are essentially one
with respect to origin. The Lowlands gave up the old speech, while the
Highlands retained it. And it is worthy of notice that the dialect of English
spoken in the Lowlands differs little from the everyday speech of the north of
England.

When Jamestown and Plymouth were being founded, Scotland had about
one-sixth of its present population, perhaps 200,000 of the number being in
Strathclyde. But this corner of Scotland has furnished a disproportionate
share of the great names that occur in Scottish history. Its people of this
period were tall, lean, hardy, and sinewy. They were ignorant of high living and
had good nerves and digestion. They were combative, and not easy to get
along with to those who did not fall in with their ways. They were strong-
willed and strongly individualistic, and were therefore fierce sticklers for per-
sonal liberty. By the same token they were more democratic in thought than
the English and were less inclined to commercial pursuits. To challenge this
Scotsman’s views of right and wrong roused him to speedy action. He was either
quite bad or quite good. In the former respect, he fought, swore, was given
to gaming and racing, and drank plentifully from his whiskey jug. In the lat-
ter respect, his morality had a solid groundwork, being based on general educa-
tion and on regular attendance at his house of worship. Outwardly he was un-
emotional and not given to displays of affection. Yet there was more sun-
shine in his life than is commonly believed.

It had been only a few years since John Knox had caused the Protestant
Reformation to triumph in Scotland. Nowhere in Europe was this movement
effected more peacefully. In England the Reformation was like an inverted
pyramid, in that it began with the sovereign and the court party. In Scotland
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it began with the common people, and was in reality a return to the form of
Christianity first preached in the land. It has been said, and perhaps without
much exaggeration, that Scotland emerged from barbarism within the span of a
single generation of human life. Knox insisted on a school in every parish.
And as thrift has been a watchword of Protestantism from the first, the Scotch
fell into the habit of mending their clothes till they would no longer hold to-
gether, and of saving every nubbin and potato. From a coarse, rough, unruly
horde of semi-barbarians, scornful of steady labor, the Scotch became a re-
ligious, industrious, energetic people, mindful of the main chance, and able to
hold their own against all comers. Yet the change was slow to make them
recognize that a cottage looks better for having a flowering vine climbing up
the gable, or that a house of worship should have a higher degree of architectural
grace than the “little red schoolhouse” that is not as yet forgotten in America.

Scotland united with England on her own terms. Ireland, on the contrary,
was subdued, and to the impoverishment by absentee landlords was added the
oppression of harsh laws with respect to religion and industry. Under James
the First, whose reign began in 1603, an unsuccessful rising of the Irish was
punished by the confiscation of more than 3,000,000 acres of Ulster soil. This
area had become partially depopulated, and the English king made successful
efforts to re-people it with settlers from the other side of the Irish Sea. Al-
ready some lawless Highlanders had flocked in, but they were a most undesirable
element, and preference was now given to the Lowlanders.

When the descendants of these colonists began coming to America, they
were called Irish for the very practical reason that they came from Ireland.
Irishmen of the original stock were scarce in the United States before the enor-
mous immigration caused by the potato famine of 1845. The term Scotch-
Irish came into use to distinguish the earlier inflow from the later. This term
is firmly fixed in popular usage, and yet it is rather misleading. It implies that
the people thus styled are the descendants of Scotchmen who settled in Ireland.
This is true only in part. The Scotch of Strathclyde were the most numerous
element and they gave their impress to the entire mass. But there were nearly
as many settlers from the north of England, and there were a few from Wales.
There were also not a few Huguenot refugees from France. It was the tal-
ented French Protestants, coming at the instance of William of Orange, who
introduced the linen industry into Ulster and made it the basis of its manufactur-
ing prosperity. And finally, some of the native Irish blended with the immigrant
population. It is customary to deny any such fusion, and so far as religion is
concerned, there was none. The newcomers were Presbyterians, while the
natives were Catholics. In Ulster these two elemnts have never ceased to dislike
one another. Yet the rather frequent occurrence of native Irish names among
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the emigrants from Ulster has a very obvious significance. It shows that here
and there the native accepted the Protestant faith, and that neither social nor
religious barriers then remained. It is not a characteristic of the Ulster people to
turn a cold shoulder toward those who agree with them. J. W. Dinsmore
observes that the Ulsterman “has the steadfastness of the Scot, the rugged
strength and aggressive force of the Saxon, and a dash of the vivacity and
genius of the Huguenot.” He might have added that when the Ulsterman came
to America he spoke the Elizabethan type of English, which the Irish adopted
as an incident in their conquest.

It is now necessary to speak of the relations between the Ulstermen and
the British government. There was a Church of Ireland, identical except in
name with the Church of England. Though it had few adherents, the law
was behind it, and it laid a heavy hand on Dissenters as well as Catholics. The
Presbyterian minister was expected to preach only within certain specified
limits, and was liable to be fined, deported, or imprisoned. He could not
legally unite a couple in marriage, and at times he could preach only by night
and in some barn. The infamous “Black Oath” of 1639 required all the
Protestants of Ulster who were above the age of sixteen to bind themselves
to an implicit obedience to all royal commands whatsoever. This display of
autocratic tyranny led multitudes of men and women to hide in the woods
or to flee to Scotland.

In 1689 the Irish rose in behalf of the deposed king of England, James
the Second. Protestants were shot down at their homes. Women were tied
to stakes at low tide, so that they might drown when the ocean waves came.
back. Londonderry was besieged by a large army, but was defended with a
desperation unsurpassed in history. Without help from the English, without
trained officers, without sufficient food or ammunition, and in the face of
deadly fever, the invaders were beaten off with great loss. This staunch sup-
port of the new king would seem to have entitled the Ulstermen to much
consideration. Nevertheless, the British Parliament enforced its anti-popery
laws against the Presbyterians as well as the Catholics. The time had not yet
come when a Presbyterian might sell religious books, teach anything above a
primary school, or hold civil or military office. There was no general redress
of grievances until 1782.

The persecution was industrial as well as religious. English laws dis-
criminated against Ulster manufactures, particularly the manufacture of woolen
goods. This flourishing business was ruined by a law of 1698.

In view of such a hounding persecution, it might seem strange that the
people of Ulster could retain a shred of respect for their government. Yet,
as citizens of the British Isles, they professed loyalty to the crown, which
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by a figure of speech signified the state in its sovereign capacity. They appear
to have had no ill feeling toward the king himself. He did them no harm, be-
cause he did nothing at all in a governmental sense. From 1704 to 1760 the
English monarch was a figurehead in almost the fullest sense of the term. The
resentment of the Ulster people was directed against the corrupt clique that
governed in the king’s name. However, there was a ruling English party in
Ulster. At the present time, Episcopalians are more numerous than Pres-
byterians, in at least two of the seven counties, and the Catholic population
is equal to the Protestant. It is a mistake to think of Presbyterians as out-
numbering other denominations in Ulster.

The straw that broke the camel’s back for the Ulster people was the display
of greed shown about 1723. A large quantity of land given to favored indivi-
duals was offered only on 31-year leases and at two to three times the former
rental. An emigration to America, which really began about 1718, now assumed
large dimensions. During the next half century, or until interrupted by the
war for American independence, the aggregate outflow is reckoned by some au-
thorities as high as 300,000. Ulster was thus drained of the larger and best part
of its population. The fundamental reasons for the exodus are thus stated in a
sermon delivered on the eve of the sailing of a ship: “To avoid oppression
and cruel bondage; to shun persecution and designed ruin; to withdraw from
the communion of idolators; to have opportunity to worship God according to
the dictates of conscience and the rules of his Word.”

Throughout this period of heavy emigration from Ulster there was almost
as large a tide of Germans from the valley of the upper Rhine, inclusive of
Switzerland. But until near the outbreak of the Revolution, the German settlers
in Rockbridge were very few. So it is scarcely necessary, at present, to speak
further on this parallel stream of immigration.

It is next in order to sketch the America of 1716, so as to observe the
effect of the inflow from Ulster and the Rhine.

There were at this time twelve of the English colonies, and their 400,000
inhabitants were scattered thinly along the coast from Casco Bay in Maine to
Port Royal in South Carolina. Exceedingly few were the people who were
located so far inland as a hundred miles. Boston, New York, Philadelphia,
and Charleston were the largest towns, and not one of them had a population of
10,000. The colonies must have presented a very new appearance, but not
of a truly pioneer type. The homes of all but the poorest people were as good
as the better class of homes in Europe. There was a lively commerce with the
British Isles and with the West Indies, the products of the farms, the forests.
and the fisheries being exchanged for manufactured goods and for sugar
and other tropical supplies. There were but three colleges. Elementary educa-




THE ULSTERMAN AND THE PATHFINDERS 17

tion was general only in New England. Elsewhere, education was regarded
as a private interest, and there was much illiteracy. There was no mail service
worthy of the name, no daily newspaper, and perhaps not more than a half
dozen weeklies. Religion was free only in Rhode Island and Pennsylvania.
Elsewhere there was an established church supported by general taxation. The
colonials of 1716 were overwhelmingly of English origin, but there was a
sprinkling of Scotch, Welsh, Irish, Hollanders, and French Huguenots. Each
colony was an independent country with respect to its neighbors. And as roads
were bad and bridges few, traveling was slow and difficult. All knowledge of
the outside world was elementary. There was no intercourse with Asia or
South America, Africa was visited only in the interest of the slave trade, and
Australia was unknown. Every sea was infested with pirate vessels.

Turning to Virginia we find that its 100,000 people, of whom one-fourth
were negro slaves, lived almost exclusively to the east of a line drawn through
Washington and Richmiond. Williamsburg, the capital, was merely a village.
Norfolk was doubtless smaller than Lexington is now. Virginia was strictly
an agricultural region, and the growing of tobacco was by far the dominant in-
terest. The structure of society was not democratic. At the head of the scale
was the tidewater aristocracy, feudalistic and reactionary, polite to women, pro-
fane among its own kind, fond of horses and sports, and indifferent to books.
These people constituted the one and only ruling class, and the public business
thrown upon them induced a good degree of practical intelligence. Below them
were the professional men, tradesmen, small farmers, and white servants, some
of the latter having come to America as convicts.

Such in outline was the America of 1716. Most of its people were American-
born and were beginning to look upon themselves as distinct from the British.
Nearly all of the new immigration landed at Philadelphia, because the colony
of which it was the metropolis was held in high repute across the Atlantic for
the liberality of its government. In 1769 the French traveler Cluny declared
of Pennsylvania that “its form of civil government is better calculated to pro-
mote private happiness and consequently public prosperity than any other with
which we are acquainted under the sun.” But the immigrants found a difference
between its theory and its practice. It is instinctive in the human species to
look with suspicion or dislike on those whose ways are different from our
own. The comfortable Quakers did not like the idea of being swamped by
this deluge of strange people, one portion of whom spoke an unfamiliar language,
while the other portion appeared assertive, somewhat uncouth, and not overly
particular in costume or personal cleanliness. There was scant welcome for the
newcomers in the small settled district, and so they pushed inland, the Germans
moving rather to the right and the Ulstermen to the left. Had the Quakers
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been more inclined to observe the spirit of their institutions, they would have
retained most of this immigration and the settlement of the Valley of Virginia
would have been much delayed. The Ulstermen were very much inclined to
keep together. It was usual for a whole congregation, headed by its pastor,
to leave Ireland in a body and to seek to settle as neighbors after coming to
America. But a tax was laid on the immigrants, they were kept as long as
possible from having any effective voice in the colonial government, and when
the war of 1754 broke out, there was a failure to protect the frontier. Thus
we are the better able to understand why some of the Ulster people lived a
while in Pennsylvania instead of coming directly to Virginia. The liberality of
Pennsylvania was largely outweighed by its narrowness, and so the Ulstermen
pushed southward as well as westward, gradually occupying all Appalachian
America from the Iroquois country south of Lake Ontario to the Cherokee
country on the waters of the upper Tennessee. In this way the inland frontier
of America was pushed rapidly forward. Otherwise the year 1776 might have
found in Virginia but a handful of people west of the Blue Ridge.

In the way we have pointed out, the Ulstermen became a frontier people
as soon as they were settled in America. They were well fitted to become such.
They were overcomers by nature and did not shrink from facing difficulties.
They wanted room and plenty of it, and they wished to bury on their own soil
instead of on the domain of some detested landlord.

The Ulstermen were joined by some of the Germans, and by some of the
more venturesome spirits among the English and Hollanders of the coast set-
tlements, both northern and southern. The pioneer population of the Alle-
ghany valleys thus developed into a composite stock, that of the American High-
lander. This homogeneity moved more rapidly in a blending of customs than
in a mixture of blood. But it was the Scotch-Irish who gave a dominant im~
press to the entire frontier.

Before taking up the settlement of Rockbridge, it is necessary to tell of the
discovery and exploration of “New Virginia,” this term being applied to that
part of the Old Dominion which attracted the Ulster people.

For more than a century after the founding of Jamestown there was no
clear knowledge of what lay beyond the Blue Ridge. An exploring party had
indeed penetrated as far as the falls of New River as early as 1671, but this
spurt of enterprise was not followed up. In a letter to the Board of Trade in
1710, Governor Spottswood remarks that some adventurous men had just climbed
the Blue Ridge, hitherto deemed impassable, and would have proceeded down
the west slope but for the lateness of the season.

The governor became interested. He thought the distance to the Great
Lakes much less than it really is, and he believed it sound policy to keep the
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French from getting the fur trade entirely into their hands. He therefore
recommended that trading stations be established on the lakes, and that they
be connected with the Virginia coast by a chain of fortified posts. To look into
this matter in person, he headed an exploring party that left Williamsburg
in the summer of 1716, and spent thirty-six days in reaching the summit of the
Blue Ridge, probably at Swift Run Gap. The South Fork of the Shenandoah
was forded in the vicinity of Elkton, and the next day—September 6th—the
gay cavaliers who comprised most of the fifty men held a grand revel on the
dozen varieties of liquor they had brought with them. After each toast there
was a volley of powder and ball. Spottswood made no attempt to prosecute the
exploration, and contented himself with viewing the Alleghany ridges from a dis-
tance. We hear nothing more of his zeal in the fur trade. The behavior of the
whole party was that of a crowd of young bloods bent on a jollification in the
mountains.

Nevertheless, an important result came of this expedition. Now that
glimpses by rangers or hunters had been supplemented by a visit from the gov-
ernor and a delegation of the tidewater aristocracy, it could be announced that
the Valley of Virginia was officially discovered. It had been assumed that it
was a forbidding land. On the contrary it was found to be pleasant and fertile,
and abounding in game and fish. There were no Indian occupants, although
a grassy prairie covered the lowlands between the Blue Ridge and the Alleghanies
beyond. It was a vision to appeal to the land speculator, and it did not appeal
in vain.

It was sixteen years before John Lewis came with his advance guard of
Ulster people into the presents limits of Virginia. But although exact informa-
tion is provokingly scarce, it is very clear that during this interval land prospect-
ors were busy in spying out the country and naming the mountains and streams.
It was only eleven years after Spottswood’s visit that a company of tidewater
promoters petitioned for 50,000 acres on the headwaters of the James, almost
before there was a solitary cabin in the Shenandoah Valley itself.

During the period of exploration, the one and only conspicuous name among
the known landhunters, so far as the Rockbridge area is concerned, is that of
John Peter Salling. According to the usual version of the story, Salling went up
the Valley from the Potomac in 1726, in company with John Marlin, a pedler
or trapper. On the Roanoke they were attacked by Indians and Salling was cap-
tured. He was taken from his Cherokee captors by some Illinois Indians and
wandered with them to Kaskaskia, where he was adopted by a squaw. Several
times he went down the Mississippi with the red men, and at length the Spaniards
bought him to use as an interpreter. From New Orleans he in some way was
taken to Canada, where he was redeemed by the governor of that province, and
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sent by him to the Hollanders of New York. After six years of varied ex-
periences he arrived at Williamsburg. The traditions in the Salling family agree
in stating that the pioneer ancestor was several years a captive among the Indians,
by whom he was taken to the lower Mississippi. According to Henry Ruffner,
who wrote in 1844, Marlin met Salling in Williamsburg and so interested the
latter by his description of the Valley that both men went up the James as far
as the beautiful bottom immediately above Balcony Falls. Salling was so well
pleased that he did not wish to look further. He returned to the capital, patented
a choice portion of the bottom, and settled on it with his bachelor brother.
Salling’s home was so well known as to be marked on a map of 1755.

It was in the summer of 1732 that John Lewis came with his family and
built a house a mile below where Staunton now stands. So far as known he was
the first settler in Augusta county. According to Ruffner and others, Lewis
visited Williamsburg before making any settlement, and there met Salling,
whose roseate description of the “back country” led him to choose land on Lewis
Creek. But it is known that Lewis fled from Ireland as a refugee from British
law. He was at length pardoned, but until this took place he would not have
exposed himself to arrest. He is known to have spent a few years in Pennsyl-
vania before coming to Virginia, and it is possible that the pardon was as early
as 1732. But he did not acquire title to his land until 1738.
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THE BORDEN LAND GRANT

THE McDowELLs—BENJAMIN BoORDEN, SR—THE VIRGINIA LAND SYSTEM—SETTLEMENT OF
THE BORDEN TRACT—BENJAMIN BoRDEN, Jr—DISPUTES WITH
THE SETTLERS—]JOSEPH BoORDEN

Early in September, 1737, a little party of homeseekers were in camp on
Linville Creek in what is now Rockingham county. They were journeying by
the trail that was sometimes called the Indian Road, and sometimes the Pennsyl-
vania Road. In the company were Ephraim McDowell, a man now past the
meridian of life, his son John, and a son-in-law, James Greenlee. The younger
men were acconipanied by their families. It is rather probable that a few other
persons were in the party, especially one or more indentured servants. The
destination they had in view was South River. James, another son of Ephraim,
had come in advance and planted a little field of corn in that valley opposite
Woods Gap.

The McDowells had come from Ulster in “the good ship, George and Ann,”
landing at Philadelphia, September 4, 1729, after being on the Atlantic 118 days.
This was a slow voyage, even in those days of sailing vessels, and yet it was
not unusual. As in many other instances among the Ulster people, Pennsylvania
was only a temporary home. The country west and southwest of the metropolis,
as far as the Susquehanna and the Maryland line, was now well-peopled, ac-
cording to the standard of that agricultural age. Land was relatively high in
price, and so the newcomers, if they had to move inland to the advance line of
settlement ,often thought they might as well look for homes in “New Virginia.”
John Lewis, a kinsman to the McDowells, had founded in 1732 the nucleus
of the Augusta settlement, and by this time several hundred of the Ulster people
had located around him. Religion was not free in Virginia, but it was doubtless
the belief of the newcomers that the planters of Tidewater, who were the rulers
of the colony, would not deem it wise to molest them in their adherence to the
Presbyterian faith.

To afford the reader some idea of what Pennsylvania was in 1729, we give
a synopsis of a letter written about that time by a young man to his sister in
Ireland.

The writer pronounces Pennsylvania the best country in the world for
tradesmen and working people. Land was twenty-five cents to $2.50 an acre,
according to quality and location, and was rapidly advancing because of the large
and varied immigration. His father, after a long and cautious search, made a

.
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choice about thirty miles from Philadelphia. For 500 acres of prime land,
inclusive of a small log house, a clearing of twenty acres, and a young orchard,
the purchase price was $875.00. In the meantime the father had rented a
place and put 200 acres in wheat, a crop that commanded fifty cents a bushel.
Oats were twenty-eight cents a bushel, and corn was twenty-five cents. The
laboring man had about twenty cents a day in winter. In harvest time he was
paid thirty cents a day, this service including the best of food and a pint of
rum. At the end of his swath he would find awaiting him some meat, either
boiled or roasted, and some cakes and tarts. One to two acres could be plowed in
a day, which was twice the speed that could be made in Ireland. A boy of
thirteen years could hold the implement, which had a wooden mouldboard.
Horses were smaller than in Ireland, but pacing animals could cover fifteen
miles in an hour’s time. At Philadelphia, then a little city of perhaps 5,000
inhabitants, all kinds of provisions were extraordinarily plentiful. Wednesdays
and Saturdays were market days. Meat of any kind could be had for two and
one-half cents a pound. Nearly every farmhouse had an orchard of apple,
peach, and cherry trees. Wheat yielded twenty bushels to the acre and turnips
200. The writer corrects several false reports about the colony which had been
carried to the other side of the ocean. He said there had as yet been no sickness
in the family, and that not a member of it was willing to live in Ireland again.
The cost of passage to the mother country was $22.50.

There must have been some regret among the Ulster people that it was not
easy to secure a foothold in such a thriving district as the Philadelphia region.
But America was a land of opportunity, whether on the coast or in the interior.

It was just after the McDowells had established their camp on Linville
Creek that an incident occurred which led to some change in destination. A man
giving his name as Benjamin Borden* came along and arranged to spend the
night with them. He told them he had a grant of 100,000 acres on the waters
of the James, if he could ever find it. To the man who could show him the
boundaries he would give 1,000 acres. John McDowell replied that he was a
surveyor and would accept the offer. A torch was lighted, McDowell showed
his surveying instruments, and Borden his papers. Each party was satisfied with
the representations made by the other. At the house of John Lewis, where they
remained a few days, a more formal contract was entered into, the phraseology
of which indicates that it was written by Borden. The document reads as follows:

*The name is sometimes, but erroneously, written Burden. This spelling doubtless
indicates a very usual pronunciation in the pioneer period. But in their signatures, the
members of the family used the spelling Borden.
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Sept. ye 19th 1737

This day John McDowell of Orange County in Virginia have agreed with Benjamin
Borden of the same place that he the said McDowell would go now with his family and his
father and his Brothers and make four Settlements in the said Bordens land which was
granted to the said Borden on this side of the blue ridge in the fork of said River, and said
McDowell has also agreed with the said Borden that he the sd McDowell would cut a good
Road for Horses loaded with common Luggage and blaze the Trees all the way plain, and
also the said McDowell has agreed with the said Denjamin Borden that he the said Mc-
Dowel! would go with the sd Borden and take account of the Settlement of Borden Land
on the River at the place called the Chimbly Stone and on Smith Creek :nd be evidencz fur
the said Borden of all his settlements aforesaid, and in consideration oi the premises the
said Borden is to give one thousand acres of Land when he the said McDowell build in the
sd fork of the sd River and the sd Borden is to give the said McDowell good lawfull Deed
as the said Borden can get of the King clear of all charges excepting the quitrents & also
the said Borden do here agree to give to these the other three Settlements six hundred acres
of Land clear of all charges as before excepted and the said McDowell is to go down with
a compt (count) of all the Settlements as aforesaid with Borden to his House by the tenth
day of October next to go with said Borden to Colo Willis to price the Settlements as afore-
said as witness my hand

BENJAMIN BORDEN

The lands at the Chimney Stone and on Smith Creek lay in the lower
Shenandoah Valley.

Accompanied by John McDowell, Borden went on from Lewis’s and camped
at a spring where Midway now is. From this point the men followed the outlet
of the spring to South River, and continued to the mouth of that stream, re-
turning by a course. Borden could now see that he was within the boundaries
of his grant. John McDowell built a cabin on the farm occupied by Andrew
Scott in 1806. This was the first white man’s settlement in the Borden Tract.
The McDowells had never heard of this grant, and it had been their intention to
locate in Beverly Manor.

All Virginia west of the Blue Ridge was until the establishment of Augusta
and Frederick in 1738 a part of Orange county, and the seat of local government
was near the present town of Orange. But so far as treaty engagements had any
force, the Borden Tract lay in the Indian country. It was not until 1744 that
the treaty of Albany was superseded by that of Lancaster. The former recog-
nized the Blue Ridge as the border of the Indian domain. The latter moved the
boundary back to the Indian Road, already mentioned. The red men were
within their rights when they huntéd in the Valley, or passed through on war
expeditions. In point of fact the whites were trespassers. But the American
borderer has seldom stood back from this form of trespass whenever he was in
contact with desirable wild land.

Borden remained about two years on his grant, spending a portion of the
time with a Mrs. Hunter, whose daughter married a Green, and to whom Borden
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gave the place they were living on when he left. There is a statement that
Borden sailed to England and brought back a large company of settlers. This
is very doubtful. Such action was not necessary. He did advertise. his lands,
and to such effect that more than 100 families located on the Tract within the
two years. But immigrants were arriving at Philadelphia almost every week,
sometimes to the number of hundreds, and efficient advertising was certain to
bring the desired results. When Borden went back to his home near Winches-
ter, he left his papers with John McDowell, to whose house many of the pros-
pectors came in order to be shown the parcels they thought of buying. Three
years later he died on the manor-place he had patented in 1734.

Benjamin Borden, Sr., came from New Jersey, where the name Borden-
town commemorates an early settlement by the family. It is manifest that his
education was meager. The language of his will, which resembles that of the
contract given in this chapter, is boyish and crude, and defective in spelling and
grammar. The personalty inventoried in the settlement of his estate made a
total of $487. The house furnishings were simple and primitive, many of them
being listed as “old” and of little value. The items include a servant man, two
stallions and seventeen other horses, seventeen cattle, seven sheep, three small
hogs, a silver watch scheduled at $10.42, a half-dozen chairs, and some carpenter
tools. In ready means Borden did not quite rank with some of the other early
settlers of Frederick. But as a business man he was shrewd, alert, and tactful,
and was what would now be styled a “plunger.” Besides “Borden’s Great
Tract,” and several much smaller patents in the valley of the James, he owned
land in New Jersey and in several localities in the Shenandoah. On his home-
stead was a mill. It is said that he came to the frontier as a trader, and he
unquestionably knew a good thing when he saw it. His prominence among the
pioneers in the Valley is reflected in the fact that he was a justice of Orange and
afterward of Frederick. William Edmondson relates that “old Mr. Borden
was cunning and polite,” and that he had heard older men laugh in telling of
Borden’s fertility of resource in meeting all objections. Where the timber was
sca.nty, he was able to see “a fine young growth.” Where the soil was poor he

“grandly observed fine sheep walks.”

Benjamin Borden, Sr., was probably less than fifty years old when he died.
His sons were Benjamin, Jr., John, and Joseph, the last named being a small boy
at that time. His daughters were Hannah, Martha, Abigail, Rebecca, Deborah,
Lydia, and Elizabeth. Four were already married, Hannah to Edward Rogers,
Martha to William Fernley, Abigail to Jacob Worthington, and Rebecca to a
Branson. Abigail subsequently married James Pritchard. After their father’s
death, Deborah married a Henry, and Elizabeth a Nicholas. Lydia married
Jacob Peck, who came from Germany in 1745, and lived until 1797, to figure
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prominently in the Borden litigation. The will left to Abigail, Rebecca, Deborrah,
Lydia, and Elizabeth, “5,000 acres that is all good,” out of the grreat tract on
the James. The rest of his lands, excepting the homestead, which was willed
to the sons, and in dower to Zeruiah, the widow, he ordered to be sold, and the
proceeds divided equally between the widow, the sons, and six of the daughters.
To Hannah, the remaining daughter, was given 800 acres of the homestead. The
executors were the widow, Benjamin, Jr., and William Fernley, whose bond,
with William Russell and John Hardin as sureties, was in the sum of 500 pounds.
In 1745 the widow gave Benjamin, Jr., a power of attorney with respect to
sales in the Great Tract, and the following year the latter came into exclusive
control of it. The other sons conveyed their interest to Russell.

According to one writer, the elder Borden was an agent for Lord Fairfax in
settling the Northern Neck. This is very possible. But the statement by Henry
Ruffner that he was a son-in-law to Colonel James Patton is incorrect.

We are somewhat in the dark as to his prestige in securing so large a grant
as the one in Rockbridge. He visited the colonial capital shortly before he met
the McDowells. It is affirmed, and probably with truth, that he ingratiated him-
self with the governor. That official, his son-in-law, and two other men were
interested in getting into their personal control some of the land on the upper
James. Mrs. Greenlee, sister to John McDowell, says these men assigned their
interest to him in the course of a frolic, which of course had its inspiration in
liquor. The younger Borden, during his administration of the estate, told
Samuel McDowell, the son of John, that the estate was much in debt, especially
to one Lauderdale, who seems to have been one of the original grantees. Mrs.
Greenlee further relates that one Hardin, who may have been the same as the
bondsman to the executors of the will of the elder Borden, offered James Mc-
Dowell the unsold lands in return for a bottle of wine, provided McDowell would
assume the liability for the payment of quit-rent. But Ephraim McDowell
counseled against any such transaction, telling his son it might get him into
trouble.

A silly story has been repeated time after time to the effect that Borden
and Lewis visited the capital with a buffalo calf and presented it to Governor
Gooch, causing that dignitary to be so tickled as to sign away the title to 100,000
acres of the public domain. The buffalo never roamed in the Tidewater, yet was
plentiful in the Indian meadows of the Valley, and was necessarily known to the
governor. Gooch, who was one of the best of the colonial executives, was too
sensible a man to be carried off his feet by the present of a shaggy, ungainly,
and ungrown beast. As for Borden, he was not the man to lead the calf all the
way to Williamsburg, without feeling some assurance that the childish proceed-
ing would be worth his while. A colonial land-grant, like the one made in favor
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of Borden, was on stipulated conditions and with the concurrence of the
Colonial Council.

It is now in place to tell how and for what announced purpose such a large
grant came to be made to a private person who was without aristocratic birth or
connections.

The immigrant to colonial Virginia, provided he was of age and could prove
he had paid the cost of his passage from Europe, could claim a “head-right,”
entitling him to fifty acres of public land. He was further entitled to fifty acres
for each male member of his household. He was required to settle on the land,
to improve at least six per cent of the acreage, and to pay each year a quit-
rent of one shilling for each fifty acres. On taking up a head-right, he paid a
fee of five shillings. The tendency of this law was to fill Virginia with a sub-
stantial class of citizens. The working of it was much the same as that of the
present homestead law of the Federal government.

But the governor, with the concurrence of the Council, could grant a huge
block of land to an individual, or a group of men acting as a company. The
theory of the order of council was to settle within a stated time a minimum num-
ber of families on the tract. The grantee was supposed to be restrained from
charging more than a specified price per acre. He issued deeds, just as though
the block was owned by himself in fee-simple. In practice, there was created
a proprietorship, usually non-resident, which enabled men influential with the
colonial government to levy a burdensome tax on the settler without rendering
in return a corresponding benefit. Much of the public domain was thus cor-
nered by these influential men. The settler had to pay their price or go on to
the very verge of settlement. Many a person did so, and the frontier was pushed
forward too rapidly for comfort or safety. Furthermore, the government is said
to have been very lenient in enforcing forfeiture where there was a failure
to comply with the conditions attached to the grant. The order of council method
was monopolistic in its very nature. The headright method was equitable, and it
assumed, which was ordinarily the truth, that the homeseeker was capable of
choosing land for himself.

In the case of Borden, there was a penal bond in the sum of 1800 pounds
($6,000). The grantee was to sell the lands at the rate of threepence (ten cents)
per acre. Sometimes, indeed, he gave title for a smaller sum. But the rate
exacted was sometimes much larger, as will appear from a study of Section III.
A petition to the Assembly, dated 1786, would seem to voice the prevalent
opinion in Rockbridge. The petitioners believe the survey to contain a good
deal of surplus land. In reserving some of the most valuable tracts, the Bordens
“accumulated a large fortune.” A considerable portion was still unsold at
the date of the petition, and like unappropriated land, was in great part free
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from tax. This was offered for sale at the highest price that could be secured.
“Your petitioners have ever considerd this monopoly hard and oppressive, even
under a monarchial government, where the natural rights of man are so much
abused.” They ask that the representatives of the proprietor be compelled to
account for all arrears of taxes, and that the lands be disposed of at a reason-
able price; and that the grant be resurveyed so that the title to the surplus lands
may be vested in the commonwealth.

The patent to Borden was not issued until November 6, 1739. It is based
on the representation that a family had been located for every 1,000 acres of the
grant. The acreage is set at 92,100, and this would indicate that the number of
actual settlements was ninety-one, exclusive of those by the McDowell party.
In consideration of building a cabin, the settler was given 100 acres, and had the
privilege of buying additional land at the minimum price. Such parcel of 100
acres was called a cabin-right. These cabin-rights were of vital importance to
Borden. Each one validated his own title to 1,000 acres of his grant. Mrs.
Greenlee relates that the cabin-rights were at length counted and a return made
to the governor. Benjamin Borden, Jr., affirmed that the number was 145.
But Mrs. Greenlee says one person would go from cabin to cabin, and claim
a cabin-right in each instance. It was immaterial where these claim-cabins were
built. Mrs. Greenlee adds that she heard much of the doings of a young Mil-
hollen woman, a servant to James Bell. She dressed as a man and saved five or
six cabin-rights. She used a different Christian name at each cabin she appeared
at. John Patterson, who made the count and kept tally with chalk-marks on his
hat, was surprised to find so many Milhollens. Mrs. Greenlee does not commit
herself as to whether she believed this sharp practice to have been instigated
by the elder Borden. The junior Borden, in his answer in the suit of Bell v.
Borden, denies that his father sought any advantage from fraudulent improve-
ment. He says he believes it to be true that Bell “caused a servant wench of his
to be dressed up in man’s apparel or clothes, and show himself on one of the
improvements he pretends to have made,” and that at another time, Bell “caused
the wife of William McCanliss, his servant man, to appear in his own proper
person on a different part of the land, as the wife of another settler.”

The surveying of the boundaries of the Tract was not done until after the
counting of the cabin-rights. This circumstance will account for the extraor-
dinarily irregular outline. More than sixty angles are described in the patent.
The general survey was performed by James Wood, surveyor of Frederick
county, assisted by John McDowell. McDowell seems to have surveyed some,
at least, of the individual tracts, yet Mrs. Greenlee says one Beaty appears to have
been the first man to survey land in the Borden Tract. One John Hart was also
a surveyor. Separate parcels, however, were not always surveyed before pur-
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chase, but were described by general boundaries. James Buchanan says his
father’s land was paid for before survey, although certain boundaries were
agreed upon. The younger Borden did not observe these bounds, although
referees decided in his favor. Mrs. Greenlee says people sometimes squatted in
the grant, and without first contracting with “old Borden.” William Patton
says that parcels passed from hand to hand prior to the making of any deed.
This circumstance helps to explain why the names of some of the settlers do not
appear in the deeds issued by the Bordens. '

The death of Benjamin Borden, Sr., left the proprietary interests in the
Tract in much confusion. Many bargains with the newcomers had been reached,
but in rather numerous instances the settler was living on land to which his
claim was incomplete. Judge McDowell very justly remarks that the business
of the estate was intricate and very troublesome. The elder Borden had either
sold or given away many tracts that there was no account of among his papers.
Disputes arose and some of the contestants made good their claims. The quit-
rents coming due every year on the unsold portion of the Tract were a burden
to the younger man. One deponent says a parcel was sometimes sold off merely
to get the money for this purpose. It was the practice of the Bordens to sign
no deeds until the purchase money had been paid in full. For some cause, the
land purchased by Ezekiel Clements in 1746 reverted to the Crown seven years
later.

In 1742 Benjamin Borden, Jr., visited the Tract, spending his time at the
home of John McDowell. When he came back, the year following, his father
and John McBowell were both dead. The junior Borden was a young man
and was at first viewed with coldness and suspicion. There seemed to be
nothing in his bearing to set him above the generality of the settlers them-
selves. It was said that he was illiterate, but this could hardly have been the
case. He was not at first held in respect by Mrs. McDowell, whom he married
about 1744. On his reappearance he entered upon the management of his in-
heritance. He lived at Thorn Hill, afterward the Bowyer estate, which lies on
Woods Creek two miles southwest of Lexington. That his home was just
outside the Tract is explainable on the supposition—which is almost a certainty—
that his wife, whose maiden name was Magdalena Woods, was a sister to Richard
Woods, who settled in this beautiful valley in 1738. Here in April, 1753, the
younger Borden died of smallpox. The disease was epidemic that spring, and
Borden was the first person at his own homie to contract it. His three daughters,
his brother Joseph, the children of John McDowell, and several negroes also
fell ill, and one or two of his children died. Martha Borden, then a girl of about
eight years, had a slow and tedious convalescence. About 1779 she married
Robert Harvey. Mrs. Greenlee, who was probably immune, nursed the patients
at the Borden home.
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The appraisement of the junior Borden’s personality makes the following
exhibit, the values being given both in Federal currency and in the colonial
money of Virginia.

Roger (Slave) ......cciiiiiiiieiineiiineienecconrosessassaasnnees 40 @ ...... $133.33
Mill (S1aVe) .irivitiineiiiiiiaintieeaeeennsennsanessosnnsenanss 0p  ...... 100.00
Other slaves—value not given

13 hOrSES ..uvviiiiinerienereeeraoantesoccsesesnnsasnncsnnssnnnes 63p 10s ...... 211.67
) <1 U 6p 10s ...... 21.67
One yoke of OXeN .....uluiiiiiiineieetrnaeresatosaneeonssasansnns 6p  ...... 20.00
8 milch COWS ...oiviiiiiiiiiii it iiiatenncrseresnasssasenonsens 13p ... 43.33
B Y A S 1p 48 ...... 4.00
7 1T 6p  ...... 20.00
Nails ..ottt it ettt iiec et ietncsaanesncsesnsanansanannes 1Iplls ...... 5.17
Case of pistols and holsters ..........ccoviiiiecrinrinnnneeenennans 1p ...... 333
Still and vessels .....vvietiiitiiiiiiiiietiietiiieiittcaeiraaans 2p ...... 76.67
Implements, traps, smith’s tools ........coviiviiiiinnnnninneennnns 14p 3s 6d...... 47.25
Wagon ears .......ciiieveeeeronntienernannssoncesssonsssnncenas 10p  ...... 33.33
S linen Sheets ......ciiieiiveinnneeererenensaceessnennsnesennnnsees 1p16s ...... 6.00
Large table .....icviiiiiiiietiiieiintienatienreanatonnarannatanee 8 ...... 1.33
One dozen chairs ........coiviiiiiiiiiiieneeneeresacenenrenaronas 1p 8 ...... 4.67
Bed and furniture ........cciiiiiiiiiiiniiirieiiiiiteiiiieaaenen 2p10s ...... 833
Silver watch ....civiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii it iiieieiineaeaea, 49 ..., 13.33
K T £ 1p 10s ...... 5.00
BOOKS tuiiiiitiiiintatiiiiettatateetatteaettateraterinaeiaeanas 3p 6s6d...... 11.08
128 pounds steel, 77 of Iron .......ccceeviiiiiiiiirierinneatennan 4p 19s 8d...... 16.58

Total, 235 pounds, 16 shillings, 8 pence; equivalent to $786.11.

During the ten years he lived in the Tract, Benjamin, Jr., rose in the esti-
mation of the settlers. In 1746 he became a captain of the militia, and in 1752
he qualified as a justice of the county court. He was somewhat frequently
called upon to perform public business. Mrs. Greenlee says he appeared to be a
good man and disposed to do justice to the settlers. His stepson, Samuel Mc-
Dowell, says he was honest and upright, generally well spoken of, and gave
satisfaction in his management of the estate. Such testimony is very strong,
and yet there are statements that seem to conflict with those given by the stepson
and his aunt. In 1748, the younger Borden was convicted by the Augusta court
for giving false receipts for the payment of quit-rents. Three years later, Martha,
the wife of James Dunlap, was fined for saying she would not believe him on
oath. John Patterson, in making his will in 1749, claims seventy pounds as due
him from Borden, and instructs James Patton to see that Borden does not wrong
his wife and children. Borden’s sister Deborah deposed in 1790 that her brother
had treated Mrs. Worthington with much cruelty in word and manner. From
the tenor of the declarations in a number of chancery suits, one is driven to
conclude either that the plaintiffs were trying to “do” Borden, or that the latter
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was evasive and dishonest in his dealings with them. We cannot lightly believe
that all the complainants could have been tricky and untruthful.

The suit of Downing v. Borden is a quite typical specimen of the litigation
that arose after the death of the elder Borden. John Downing sets forth that
John Patterson was a duly authorized agent to act for Benjamin Borden, Sr.;
that through the said Patterson he purchased 300 acres on Galway Creek; that
one-half the purchase money was to be paid as soon as Borden should execute
a good deed, and one-half at the end of twelve months. The elder Borden
having died before title had passed, Downing asked the son to make out a deed,
complaining at the same time that his neighbor, George Moffett, had a mind
to come over the creek running through the land. Benjamin, Jr., replied that
Moffett should not come over, that Downing was in control and should go ahead
with the improvement of his land. Downing says he has made considerable
improvement, and has offered to pay the purchase money, but that Borden insists
there was no bona fide purchase; that Patterson was without authority, unless
in case of a lease-right; that the agreement between Patterson and Downing
was oral only, and that the proprietor is under no obligation to convey.

In the suit of Young v. Borden, Robert Young says Robert Crockett
bargained with the elder Borden and paid one pistole* to bind the contract; that
he himself, to whom Crockett had assigned his right, has paid in $10.82, yet
without being able to get a deed. In 1750 Young petitioned that Borden should
not acknowledge title to any of the land without his consent. The petition was
allowed. In Patterson v. Borden, James Patterson says that the senior Borden
made a verbal agreement with John Patterson, whereby the latter was to act as
agent; that when Borden visited the Tract, which he did frequently, he lodged
with Patterson, who found his own provisions and also entertained landhunters ;
and that Patterson attended the surveyor, for which service he was to have three
and one-half shillings (fifty-eight cents) a day. Borden refuses to pay any
of these claims, falling back on the technicality of an English law of 1689 and
saying that a writing was necessary. The case was dismissed in 1760 without
award. In Mitchell v. Borden, 1747, John Mitchell says that in consequence of
a rumor, after the death of the elder Borden, that the son would not give
title to the places his father and the agents of the latter had agreed to convey,
he himself and several others made preparations to move from the Tract. The
younger Borden, finding his land would be depopulated, and in danger of lapsing
for want of cultivation, publicly announced that he would perfect and confirm
all such agreements. Mitchell remained, but Borden sometimes offers some

e for not making title and sometimes absolutely refuses. Borden rejoins

3.92.
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that Mitchell did no more than make an entry with Patterson, whom he looks
upon as an intruder. In Bell v. Borden, which was abated in 1751, James Bell
says that eighteen cabin-rights were taken by himself and his servant, John
Milhollen, and sixteen other men: Thomas Armstrong, George Henderson, John
and Quentin Moore, Alexander, George, James, Robert, and Adam Brecken-
ridge, John Bell, William McCanless, John Walters, Robert and Seth Poage,
John Grove, and Daniel M’Anler. These settlers were to build and improve by
April 1, 1738, and to be at no expense except the drawing and recording of
deeds, and a fee of eight shillings for laying off each tract. The deeds were not
forthcoming, and the settlers concerned threatened suit. The proprietor then
agreed to make conveyance, but died before the deeds were executed. The
younger Borden says he does not know of any improvements by these men,
and denies that Bell has any right to the 200 acres claimed in behalf of himself
and Milhollen.

The McDowells themselves had trouble with the proprietors. The senior
Borden wanted John McDowell to select on Hays Creek the 1,000 acres he was
to have for surveying. McDowell would not accept brushy upland which he
deemed barren. He brought suit for a selection on Timber Ridge and won, to the
chagrin of Borden, who wanted the land himself. Mrs. Greenlee’s husband
purchased on Turkey Hill, but the younger Borden resisted giving a deed, al-
leging that the whole parcel was choice land, and “for the sake of peace” a portion
of it was given up. Greenlee’s title was confirmed by the court.

The lands remaining unsold after the death of the younger Borden were
considered of inferior quality. Yet for a long while, sales continued to be made
by the executors, of whom Archibald Alexander was chief. A report of sales
that ends in the year 1780, shows that up to that date nearly 300 parcels had
been disposed of.

But Benjamin Borden, Jr., was not always the defendant in this maze of
litigation. He himself brought many suits, usually to enforce the payment of
purchase money.

As to Joseph Borden, Judge McDowell says he was a man “not of the best
sort.” The younger brother came to live with Benjamin, Jr., and went to
school. The fall after the latter died, he went away by dark, not very well
liked, and not made very welcome. After his recovery from the smallpox, he
explored his brother’s papers. His sister-in-law missed a bond of some 300
pounds, and when she accused him of the theft, he asked her in effect, what she
was going to do about it. About twenty years later he again appeared in the
Tract and told Samuel McDowell that he had bought out the claim of his sister,
Mrs. Worthington. McDowell replied that Benjamin, Jr., had bought out the
rights of his sisters—three of whom had' spent about ten days in visiting him—
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because he could not get the lands laid off according to the terms of his father’s
will. Joseph Borden insisted that Mrs. Worthington had never acknowledged
. the deed. To Joseph Walker, the absentee explained his abrupt departure in
1753. He told Walker he could not get on with his sister-in-law. A friendly
servant took his clothes to the woods and caught for him a mare that was the
leader of a herd. As he rode away he was followed by a drove of horses.
Walker told him such conduct was very dishonest, and asked him where he
had been that he had not attended to his claims earlier.

However, Joseph Borden did pay the sister $300 for her interest in her
tract of 1,000 acres, and because of this land he brought suit against his niece,
Martha Harvey, and her husband, Robert. The almiost interminable depositions
and other proceedings during the period 1790-1807 fill two large volumes in
the office of the circuit clerk at Staunton. The controversy centered for a
while about a tract of 448 acres owned by an Edmondson, in the “New Providence
barrens.” The kernel of the whole trouble was the provision in the will of Ben-
jamin Borden, Sr., that five of his daughters should have 5,000 acres that was “all
good land.” Judge McDowell deposed that as a boy he was a chain-carrier for
the surveying parties in the Tract, and thus became very familiar with the ground.
He said it was not possible to embrace 1,000 acres of choice land in a single
survey, and that it would require from fifteen to twenty surveys to cover the total
of 5,000 acres. Joseph Borden died in 1803 at his home in Iredell county,
North Carolina, but the suit dragged its weary length along, and was at length
merged into the suit of Peck v. Borden. It appeared in the docket term after
term with monotonous regularity. The Borden heirs became more numerous,
year by year, and the case never seemed ready for settlement. About 1885 the
circuit judge ordered the funds in the hands of the court, amounting with interest
to some $5,000, to be paid to the army of heirs. The case was then stricken from
the docket. It had involved the legality of all the Borden titles, but no landholder
in the Tract was dispossessed.

Passing the entire Borden matter in review, it appears in the light of a
long-continued nuisance and an unjustifiable and injurious monopoly. The elder
Borden had performed no public service to warrant so large a benefit from the
public domain. The heirs, with the one exception of Benjamin, Jr., were non-
residents. There was never any sound reason why the individual purchases
should not have been patents issuing from the state. A vast amount of litigation
and other forms of annoyance would thus have been avoided.
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EARLY PIONEER DAYS

SociAL DisTINCTIONS—A VIRGIN WILDERNESS—HOUSES—PREDATORY ANIMALS—CHURCHES,
TAvVERNS, AND MI1LLS—STAUNTON—LITIGATION—WILLS—
NarturE ofr THE TiMES

The eighteenth century was less democratic than our decade of the twentieth,
and the English were less democratic than the Ulster people. Yet even on the old
frontier, where leveling tendencies came into play from the very outset, social
lines were somewhat closely observed. More than a century after the settlement
of Rockbridge, we are told by Alexander S. Paxton that there was little or no
social intercourse between the planter on the one hand and the mechanic or the
ordinary tradesman on the other. In land deeds the social rank, or the occu-
pation, of one or both parties was frequently mentioned. The institution of
nobility, universal in Europe in our colonial period, never took formal root
in our soil. The recognized gradations in social rank were fewer in the
Valley of Virginia than in Tidewater. In the former district the number of
those who were technically known as “gentlemen” was quite small. This
term did not have in 1737 its present rather indefinite application. The gentle-
man was understood to be one of the upper middle class, coming between the
nobility and the yoemen. He was descended from freemen, had a coat of arms,
and had the privilege of wearing a sword. But on the frontier, a prominent
person, a member of the county court for instance, would be given the title
as a matter of courtesy.

The yeoman, according to the British usage, was a freeholder, and was
qualified to vote and to serve on a jury. In old Augusta this class was numer-
ously represented, and it was the backbone of its society. Below the yeoman
was the freedman, who had emerged from servitude and was now in the full
enjoyment of the ordinary civil rights. On a level with the freedmen were a
considerable number of people who were penniless or nearly so. These were
sometimes worthy members of society and sometimes very unworthy. At
the bottom—and still on the white side of the scale—was the indentured servant.
With the exception of his larger legal rights, he was practically as much a serf as
the negro. These white servants were numerous in Augusta and require special
mention. )

Some of these people were convicts. But the convict of those days was
not necessarily a “hard case.” The person who purloined a coat or loaf of
bread to fend off cold or starvation was marked for the gallows by the letter
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of the savage English law. The British judge would order him to be trans-
ported to America, where he had to undergo servitude a number of years.
Some other members of this class, especially boys, had been kidnapped from
the British seaports. Still others were debtors, poor relations, and ne’er-do-wells,
sent away by their “friends,” so as to be out of sight if not out of mind. But
many a person sold himself to some shipmaster in order to reach America.
Such a person was known as a “kid.” On arrival at an American seaport
the servants, whether voluntary or involuntary, were sold by the captain, the
usual price being about $65. The average age at indenture was nineteen, and
the average term of servitude was five years. They were beetter fed than
in Europe and did not work so hard. They were entitled to free time, medi-
cal attention, commutation from punishment, the right to sue and to complain
by informal petition, and protection from service to colored persons. When
the servant’s time was out, his freedom dues would help him to get a start in the
world. If he ran away—and he often did—he was advertised, and if retaken
he might be branded and whipped. The county court would also decree that he
should serve his master a year or more of extra time, by way of indemnifica-
tion for the cost of recovery. On the other hand, there are instances where
the servant agreed to serve a year longer for being purchased from a disagree-
able master. In 1761, a servant to Sampson and George Mathews agreed to
serve them three years extra time in return for their consent to her marrying
the man of her choice. If in that time there were no issue the brothers were to
pay her $10 a year, less the cost of her clothes.

The indenture system, with respect to immigrants, came to an end during
the Revolution. It was a mode of colonization and it promoted a democratic
feeling. But with its decline negro slavery grew in favor. The moral in-
fluence was bad, and not a few of the women servants were of loose character.
When, as often occurred, one of these women had a child by another man than
her master, she would be required to serve him extra time.

There were native apprentices as well as imported servants, and with re-
spect to the general character of the servitude there seems to have been little
difference between the two classes. The master was not infrequently summoned
to answer the complaint of an apprentice. A petition of 1811 asks for a more
efficient means of effecting recovery of the many apprentices that try to abscond.

In the next paragraph we give a specimen of the colonial form of indenture.
The John Roseman mentioned therein was a settler of the Raphine neighbor-
hood. The McBride name appears in the same locality.

THIS INDENTURE made the twenty fourth Day of in the year of Our Lord
Christ one thousand seven hundred and fifty five WITNESSETH that Daniel McBride
of the County of Augusta in the Colony of Virginia hath Put himself apprenting Servant
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and by these presents Doth Voluntarily Put himself and of his own free will & accord put
himself apprenting servant to John Roseman Cordwainer or shoemaker of this sd County
of Augusta in the Colony aforesd to Learn his art and Trade or Mystery after the manner
of an apprenting servant to sarve him or his assigns from the Day of the Date hereof for
& During the full Term and Time of two full years next ensuing, During all what time the
sd apprentice his Said Master faithfully shall Serve his secret Keys his Lawfull Commands
very —— gladly obey he shall Do no Damage to his said Master nor see it Done by others
with out Letting or giving notice thereof to his said Master he shall not wast his said Mas-
ter’s goods nor lend them unlawfully to others he shall not Commit fornication nor Contract
Matrimony within the sd Term at Cards or Dice or any other unlawfull games he Shall
not play whereby his said Master may be Damaged with his own goods or the goods of
others During the sd Term without the License of his sd Master he Shall Nither Buy nor
Sell he Shall not absent himself Day nor Night from his sd Master’s Service without his
Leave nor haunt ale houses still houses Taverns or play Houses but in all things Behave
himself as a faithful apprentice Savant ought to Do During the sd Term & Time and the sd
Daniel McBride doth hereby Covenant and Declare himself Now to be of the age of
Nineteen years a single Person & no Covenanted Indented or Contracted Servant or appren-
tice to any persons or persons whatsoever and the sd Master Shall use the utmost of his
Indeavors to Teach or Cause to be Taught & Instructed the sd prentice in the Trade and
Mystery he now professes Occupieth or followeth and procure and provide for him the sd
apprentice sufficient meat Drink apparel washing and Lodging fitting for an apprentice
During the sd Term and at the End & Expiration thereof the sd master shall pay unto the
sd prentice the sum of Ten pounds Current Money of Virginia or the value thereof in
goods or Chattels and for the true performance of all & every this sd Covenant & agree-
ment Either of the said Parties binded them selves to the other firmly by these presents IN
WITNESS whereof they have hereunto Interchangeably set their hands and affixed their
seales the Day and Year first above written

The newcomers spoke English of the Elizabethan type that was current
in Ulster. Words peculiar to the Scotch dialect were also heard. The old pro-
nunciation vanished in the second or third generation, on American soil, yet
there is abundant evidence of its everyday use in the colonial age. The broad
sound of the first letter of the alphabet was much more often heard than it is
now. A number of conversational expressions, such as “cow-beast,” have
gone out of use, but when our ancestors committed their thoughts to paper,
their meaning is perfectly clear to ourselves; more so than our own breezy,
snappy speech would be to them, if they were here to listen to it.

Though we speak of Rockbridge as being on the old American frontier,
it was never, unless to a partial extent for a few years, a section of the back-
woods fringe. The immigrants continued to clothe themselves very much
as they had been doing. The dress suit of the gentlemen and yeomen was
more elaborate than a costume of this character is now. The colors were
brighter and more diversified. We read of green and plum colored broadcloths
and of bright red fabrics. The coat of a certain militia captain was valued
by himself at $13.33, and it would have taken two or three of his cows to
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pay for it. We find a tailor’s bill of $7.67. In the settlement of the estate of
Adam Dickenson, a pair of silver knee buckles is listed at one pound, a set of
silver breeches buttons at the same figure, a silk bonnet at $11.33, and a lawn

handkerchief at $1.25. The man for whom Jackson’s River is named lived on the -

very edge of settlement, yet he wore a wig and a stock and buckle. The statue
of Andrew Lewis at Richmond presents that general in hunting shirt and
leggings. This is a violation of historical fact. He had little to do with the
conventional garb of the scout and is known to have been particular in the
matter of raiment. The Reverend Samuel Houston was old-fashioned in his
attire, which was representative of the epoch under consideration. He wore
short breeches buttoned and buckled at the knee, long stockings, large shoes
with heavy silver buckles, a dress-coat rounded in front and with its many
buttons on one side only, and a standing collar. His broad-brimmed, three-
sided cocked hat was made by John Ruff, a famous hatter of Lexington. His
riding boots that reached nearly to the knees and had white leather tops were
made by Colonel Jordan of the same town.

In many an instance the settler was master of some handicraft, as is often
noticed in reading the early land deeds. One man was a weaver, another a
millwright, another a cooper, another a rope-maker, and still another a car-
penter or cabinet-maker. A very important man was the blacksmith. He did not
limit himself to repair work, but was really a manufacturer. He made nails,
horseshoes, edged tools, and cooper-glazed bells. He also made farm implements,
except such as were wholly of wood.

When immigration began to flock into the Rockbridge area in the fall of
1737, it was not into an unknown land. Governor Gooch had given wide publi-
city to what had been seen by Spottswood and his companions. The prospectors
who spied out the choicer portions of the Valley, with the intention of covering
them with orders of council or with patents of less ambitious size, were de-
sirous of seeing people come in. John Lewis, who arrived at Lewis Creek in
1732, very soon had a hundred families of the Ulster folk around him, and
when Augusta attained to separate county government in 1745, the population
of its vast area was about 4,000.

Nearly coinciding with the line of the present Valley Turnpike was an
Indian warpath, which, like all the more conspicuous trails of its class, could
be used by a wagon as well as by a pack-horse. This “Pennsylvania Road”
was the one thoroughfare by which a stream of immigration poured into Augusta.
The court of Orange adopted it as a county road. The latter portion of its order
reads as follows:

And that the said road continue from Beverly Manor line to Gilbert Campbell’s ford
on the North Branch of James River, and that Capn Benjamin Borden, Capn William

LA
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Evins, and Capn Joseph Culton be overseers of the same, and that the gang to clear the
same be all the inhabitants above Beverly Manor line to the said Gilbt Campbell’s ford.

And that the road continue from Gilbt Campbell’s ford to a ford at the Cherrytree
Bottom on James River, and that Richard Wood, Gilbt Campbell, Joseph Lapsley, and
Joseph Long be overseers, and that all the inhabitants betwixt the said rivers clear the same.

And that the said road continue from the said Cherrytree Bottom to Adam Harmon’s
on the New, or Wood’s, River, and that Capn George Robinson and James Campbell, and
Mark Evins, and James Davison be overseers of the same, and that all the inhabitants
betwixt James River and Wood’s River clear the same.

And that a distinct order be given to every gang to clear the same, and that it be
cleared; as it is already blazed and laid off with two notches and a cross. Given under our
hands this 8th day of April, 1745, '

The settlers of this county found that much of its area was covered with
brush, or with “Indian meadows,” in which the coarse grass and peavine is spoken
of as quite luxuriant. A forest growth was confined largely to the mountains,
as in the case of Timber Ridge, which derives its name from this circumstance.
So far from being compelled to clear the land, the settler had sometimes to go
a mile to find logs for a cabin. And yet, as the “brushy barrens’ were considered
poor, they were passed over in favor of the timbered localities. The early comers
were particular in refusing all lands they thought to be poor, but afterward
found their judgment had sometimes been at fault. Thus Timber Ridge was
settled in preference to open ground that was actually better.

The country being generally open, it was a comparatively simple and ex-
peditious matter for the homeseeker to view the land, determine his individual
preference, and assist in making what were called roads in that early time. If
any of his open ground went back to its natural forest covering, it was because
he permitted it so to do.

The purchases within the Borden grant averaged nearly 300 acres, and this
was rather less than the customary size of the individual patents around it.
And since labor-saving machinery was unknown in that day, so large a holding
was a plantation rather than a farm. As a rule the purchaser was a substantial
yeoman, and he often had a tenant on his place or one or more indentured ser-
vants in his household. Under circumstances like these, the normal development
of the region would be at a quite rapid pace.

The very first dwelling houses were undoubtedly primitive. They were
round-log cabins, and sometimes the floor was nothing better than the naked
earth. There is no doubt that the bark hunting-lodge left here by the red man
was occasionally used. But by all except the moneyless and the easy-going, the
rough and ready shelter was intended only as a makeshift. The man of property
who felt that he had come to stay did not lose much time in building a larger
and better dwelling of hewed logs. The house of Captain William Jameson, of
the Calfpasture, built in 1752, was probably a fair specimen of a home of the
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permanent type. It was eighteen by twenty-four feet in the clear, one and one-
half stories high, and had a shingled roof. The contract price was $22.50.

The Indian peril, which first manifested itself at the close of 1742, must
have been a powerful incentive to build houses of strength and a fair degree of
security. Several structures of this kind are still in existence, but with enlarged
windows and some other alterations.

Log houses were the rule for several decades. The immense chimney was
of stone, the supply of which in Rockbridge is abundant. Before the close of
the Revolution there were few houses of stone or brick. As the years went by,
the brick house became increasingly frequent, but it was some time before the
log house was outnumbered by the framed dwelling. Even yet, the log house
is far from being extinct in Rockbridge.

The tilled acreage was small. Grain could be marketed only in the form of
flour, and then only to a limited extent. Consequently, the pioneer grew little
more than the supplies consumed on his place. Indian corn, unknown in the
British Isles, was the only staple he had to learn how to grow. Since only
the well-to-do could afford clothes of imported cloth, there was much weaving
of linen and linsy-woolsy. The flax patch was consequently a feature of the
frontier farm. Hemp was a staple crop, and it was the one most immediately a
source of ready money. The' cultivation of it was encouraged by the colonial
government. The fiber brought $5 a hundredweight, and there was a bounty of
$1. More hemp seems to have been grown in Rockbridge than in other parts
of old Augusta. Orchards were begun with young apple and peach trees brought
from Pennsylvania. Kitchen gardens are said to have been unknown before
the Revolution. The hint was taken from the Hessian prisoners-of-war at
Staunton, who were permitted to plant gardens in the vicinity of their camps.
Wagons were at first scarce, but were rather common during the Revolution.
The farming tools were few and simple. Almost the only implements drawn
by horses were the brush harrow and the plow with wooden mouldboard.

Rockbridge is well suited to grazing, and the early farms were well stocked
with horses, cattle, sheep, and hogs. These animals were not so large as the
breeds of the present day. The immigrants were not slow to see the advantage
of irrigating the level meadows along the large streams. Such artificial water-
ing was practiced on Walker’s and Kerr’s creeks. There is mention of the
“Egypt field” on the last named watercourse. The dams and ditches are now
gone, and corn is king rather than hay.

The early comers found the wilderness infested with several predatory
animals, the most troublesome of which was the wolf. For many years it was
necessary to pen the calves and sheep by night to protect them from the bear
and the puma, as well as the wolf. It is a noteworthy fact that crows, black-
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birds, and honeybees were not known in this region before the arrival of the
white men. The Indians called the bee the “white man’s fly.”

It was provided that the settlers in Augusta should be exempt from levy so
long as they remained under the jurisdiction of Orange. This was found to be a
disadvantage, and in response to a petition from them a poll tax of two shillings
was authorized. This was to provide a fund for paying wolf bounties. The oath
administered to a claimant of the bounty read as follows:

I, ——————, do swear that this head by me now produced is the head—or heads—
of a wolf taken and killed within the county of ——————— in Virginia; and that I have
not wittingly or willingly spared the life of any bitch wolf in my power to kill. So help me

The whole head of the wolf had to be shown to the magistrate, who clipped
the ears, administered the above oath, and issued a certificate. In one month
of 1752, 225 wolf-heads were brought to the Augusta court-house. In 1790,
forty wolf-heads were presented to the magistrates of this county, the bounty
then being 100 pounds of tobacco ($3.33) for a grown animal, and fifty pounds
for a cub. A petition of 1809 says wolves are increasingly numerous, and asks
that the bounty be raised to $8 and $6. There was the same complaint in 1823.
In 1831, the bounties were $12 and $6 for wolves and $1 and fifty cents for
red foxes. In 1834, only one wolf-head was produced, but there were 110 fox
scalps. Squirrels as well as crows were destructive to the corn, and a law of
the Revolutionary period imposed a penalty on each tithable for failing to
present a specified number of scalps each year. Deer, on the contrary, were
protected by law. A statute of 1792 made it illegal to kill a deer with a bell or
collar on its neck.

Except for a few communicants of the Established Church, the pioneer popu-
lation of Rockbridge was Presbyterian, so far as it adhered to any creed at all.
The earliest meeting houses are spoken of in another chapter. The Sunday
services continued from 10 o’clock in the morning until sunset, but with an inter-
val of one hour for dinner. At a time of communion the meeting continued four
days, and several ministers were present. People then came from a wider radius
than usual, and the families living near the meeting house were duly hospitable.
Some persons walked barefoot to church, putting on their shoes and socks
after crossing the last branch on the road. To serve hot coffee on Sunday was
considered a desecration.

According to Howe, there was little social intercourse, except within the
churchyard, and there were no gay amusements at any time. In fact, social
intercourse was largely of a religious character. The presbytery was the chief
festival occasion. Dancing lay under a ban, and the “cavalier vices” of Tide-
water Virginia did not flourish within the mountains. But at length some of the
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Rockbridge people grew idle, merry, and dissipated, and this element was more
conspicuous on the very front line of settlement.

Prior to the organization of Rockbridge as a county, there was no town or
village. The store, the ordinary, and the mill were the weekday places where
the male element was most likely to congregate. There may have been a few
stores previous to 1777, but we have no knowledge of them. The distance to
Staunton was not prohibitive, and an occasional visit by a pedlar could be
counted upon. The ordinary, or tavern, had a name which was painted on a
board placed near the front entrance. There were a few of these in Rockbridge,
but they were usually styled houses of private entertainment. There was a fine of
ten pounds for keeping a tavern without a license. The guest could not be
made to pay unless there were an agreement in advance. “The White Horse”
was the name of the McClenahan hostelry in Staunton.

The first mill, according to Mrs. Greenlee, was that of Charles Hays. It was
probably built not later than 1740. It was soon followed by the mill of James
Young at the mouth of Kerr’s Creek. Other mills, dating from about 1752,
were those of David Moore, Joseph Long, and Joseph Kennedy. But in 1747,
James Allison and Henry Gay had petitioned for leave to build water grist-
mills. Before 1788, and perhaps a little before the opening of the Revolution,
Thomas Paxton had put up a mill at the mouth of the Buffalo. The earliest of
these concerns were probably on a par with the tabmills of William Wilson
and Adam Dickenson in the Bath area. The former was built in 1750 at the
contract price of $20. The labor put into the second mill on the Dickenson
plantation was in 1763 adjudged to be worth four pounds cash, or $13.33. The
tubmill had a wheel five feet in diameter.

Staunton was the seat of government for the Rockbridge area during two-
score years, and therefore deserves a few lines of mention. Nine years after
the coming of the McDowells there was nothing around the little log court-
house and prison except two cabins, one of these being tenanted by a woman
of questionable character. The colonial capital was at that time a village of
about thirty houses. “Stantown” was surveyed in 1750, and three years later
contained about twenty houses. Two years later yet, a new courthouse, twenty-
six by forty feet, was completed. In 1761, Staunton was designated as a town
by legislative enactment, and wooden chimneys were no longer to be permitted.
Fairs were authorized in June and November for the second Tuesday of the
month. When the Revolution broke out, Staunton was one of the few important
towns in Virginia and had several stores and taverns.

The doings within the courtyard were not always tame. The justices were
repeatedly disturbed by rioting outside the building or by ball playing. They
were sometimes “damned,” or otherwise insulted, while on the bench. In 1754
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a woman called one of them a rogue, and said that on his “coming off the bench
she would give it to him with the devil.” Neither was there the best of public
order away from the precincts of the court. In 1754 John Clark went into
the house of Robert McClenahan and demanded satisfaction for a decision given
by McClenahan as a magistrate. Two years later, three men entered the
house of Alexander Wright, broke doors and windows, and beat and abused
Mary McDonnell, an inmate.

In fact, instances of assault and battery were rather numerous. It was a
frequent occurrence for a person to complain of standing in fear of bodily hurt
from some one else, and to ask that the person in question be bound over to keep
the peace. A certain woman of Kerr’s Creek was an offender in this particular.
Put notwithstanding the many unruly characters, there seems to have been an
honest effort to enforce a high standard of conduct, including a strict observance
of the Sabbath. A certain man, one of whose sons may have been responsible
for the House Mountain tragedy, was repeatedly summoned to show cause
why “he does not bring up his children in a Christian-like manner.” Samuel
Dale was presented for taking wheat or flour and mixing it with his own in
John Wilson’s mill. For stealing a blanket from Samuel Houston and a bed
quilt and a shirt from some other person, Elizabeth Smith asked for corporal
punishment and was accommodated with thirty-nine lashes on the bare back at
the public whipping post.

The settlers of old Augusta were very much given to litigation. The num-
ber of their lawsuits, prior to the subdivision of the county, runs into the thous-
ands. Very many of the suits were for debt, and the jail was principally used
as a boarding house for delinquent debtors. Some of the suits were for slander.
The charges set forth in these are at times very gross and are described without
any mincing of words.

The will of the colonial period usually begins with a pious preamble varying
in length, yet with so much general resemblance as to indicate that set forms
were commonly used. The maker then asks that he be given Christian burial,
and the executors are to see that all claims against the estate are paid or adjusted.
Provision is next made for “my well-beloved wife,” and the items of personalty
left her are minutely mentioned. She is to live with a son, “if they can agree.”
The son is to furnish her, year by year, a stipulated minimum of garden space,
firewood, flour, corn, bacon, etc., and perhaps a stated area in flax. “If she
chooses to live in a house by herself,” a small one is to be built by the son who
inherits the homestead. “If she marry again,” her interest in the estate is to be
curtailed. The children are generally mentioned by name, sometimes in the
order of age, but as married daughters are commonly spoken of as “Margaret
Smith,” or “Liddy Black,” one is not always certain whether a daughter is really
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meant. Sometimes a son is given only a nominal consideration, perhaps with
the explanation that “he has received his sheer already.” Personal property—
and also real estate, where there is much of it—it apportioned with much exact-
ness. Occasionally the homestead is divided, or a son is given lands patented or
purchased on the “western waters”; on the “Canaway” River or in Ohio, or
“Caintucky.” If there are grandsons bearing the grandparent’s given name, they
are remembered with a small legacy, and when the will is by a grandmother, the
granddaughters bearing her own given name are similarly remembered. Where
there are several slaves, they are distributed among the members of the family.
To “my beloved John” will be left accounts due the parent by outside parties.
To a son will be left “my best suit of close,” and to a daughter a horse and saddle.
Frequently, the children, or a portion of them are minors, and there are directions
for their support and schooling. Quite often, all the children are small, and there
is sometimes another birth to be expected. Not seldom was the pioneer cut off
by acute illness while in the prime of life. Nevertheless, the merchants sold
“Lockyer’s Pills” and “Duffey’s Elixir,” just as the drugstores dispense various
proprietary cure-alls today..

Light on a well-nigh forgotten burial custom is afforded in the following
petition by the “widow Allison,” who lived at a ford of North River near the
mouth of Kerr’s Creek:

15th March 1773 To Ye Vestry Whereas Joel Millican came to my house in a very
low condition destitute of any help for himself either in body or goods Therefore provided
a bed for him and attended him nine days and he died. I therefore provided a Coffin and
sheet and a gallon and a half of liquor and had him buried in a decent manner according to
his station which I hope you will take into consideration as I am not of great ability to be
at so much expense and trouble which is from your Humble Servant

In 1767 we find the vestry allowing for one “bare skin to lay under Cummings
and dig Cummings grave.”

Until 1755 there was no regular mail service with the British Isles, and if
a letter weighed more than one ounce, it cost a dollar to have it delivered there.
So late as 1775 there were but fifteen postoffices in all Virginia. There were no
envelopes, and postmasters read the letters, just as gossip now claims that country
postmasters read the postal cards. The first newspaper in the colony was the
Virginia Gagette, started in 1736. The size of its page was six inches by
twelve, and the subscription price was fifteen shillings. There was no other
paper in Virginia until 1775.

The purchasing power of the dollar was several times greater in the colonial
era than it is now. This fact has to be taken into consideration when we read
of the seemingly very low prices for land and livestock. But some articles were
relatively more expensive than they are now. Whether, on the whole, living was
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easier in those days is a question on which a study of the paragraphs below will
throw some light. The values are taken from those chancery papers of Augusta
which are of a date anterior to the disturbing effect of depreciated currency in
the latter half of the Revolutionary struggle.

The rental for three years on a certain farm of 517 acres was $6.46. For
the same time, James Gay was to pay four pounds a year for 149 acres. A mare
could be had for $15, although an extra good horse might come as high as $40.
One to two pounds would purchase a cow, although a young woman, perhaps
through sheer necessity, sold two cows and a yearling for $10. In ordinary in-
stances, a sheep or a hog could be had for a dollar, Common labor ran from
thirty-three to fifty cents a day, yet corn could be gathered and husked for twenty-
five cents a day, while thirty-three cents would command the services of a person
who could tend store and post books. A man with his wagon and two horses
could be hired for fifty cents a day. Rails could be split for thirty-seven and
one-half cents a thousand, although they might sell as high as $5. A black-
smith would make a mattock for sixty-seven cents. A carpenter charged eighty-
three cents for making a churn, $2.50 for laying a barn floor, $6.67 for covering
a house, and $10.00 for covering a barn. Two pounds would build one of the big
stone chimneys of that day, and four pounds would build a log dwelling. A bed-
stead could be made for $1.25, a loom for $5.00, a coffin for $2.17, and a linte-
kiln for eighty-three cents. A month’s board could be satisfied for $3.00, and
$10.00 would pay for a year’s schooling. The maid-servant of a man on the
Cowpasture worked for $20.00 a year.

Wheat and rye varied little from fifty and thirty-three cents a bushel, re-
spectively. Rye was worth twenty-five to forty-two cents, corn twenty-four to
thirty-eight cents, and potatoes twenty cents. Flour by the barrel ran all the
way from $3.25 to $8.33. Butter was five to eight cents a pound, and tallow
two cents. Beef and mutton averaged hardly more than two cents a pound, al-
though we once find 400 pounds of bear meat, bacon, and venison billed at
$25.00. A half of the carcass of a bear is mientioned at eighty-three cents, and
a whole deer at thirty-six cents. A “haf buflar” was sold in 1749 for $1.25. Salt
varied much. We find it as high as sixty-seven cents a quart in 1745. Coarse
salt could be bought for $2.00 a bushel in 1763, and it cost eighty-three cents to
have it brought from Richmond. As to sugar, we are sometimes in doubt
whether maple or cane sugar is meant. White loaf sugar from the West Indies
was generally twenty-five cents a pound. Brown cane sugar was much cheaper.

A weaver was paid six cents for each yard of linen that came from his loom.
But Irish linen cost $1.08, flannel forty-one cents, sheeting $1.25, velvet $3.33,
and ribbon seventeen cents. The handkerchief cost twenty-five to thirty-three
cents if of cotton, but seventy-five cents if of silk. Men’s stockings, which came
above the knee and were there secured under the trouser-leg with a buckle,
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cost eighty to ninety cents. Worsted hose for women was fifty cents, and plaid
hose thirty-three cents. Leggings were $1.04, pumps $2.00, and men’s fine shoes
$1.41. A blue broadcloth coat is quoted at $5.42. Gloves are listed at fifty-eight
cents, a necklace at thirty-three, and a fan at twenty-five. Leather breeches,
very generally worn by laboring men, cost $3.17. Common buttons were forty-
two cents a dozen, silk garters, forty-two cents a pair, and thread was half a
shilling an ounce. Headgear was high or low in price, according to the means
of the wearer. A woman’s hat is named at $5.00, and a boy’s at eighty-three
cents. But a cheap felt hat could be purchased for thirty-three cents.

A very creditable specimen of the colonial will is this one by a pioneer settler
of Kerr’s Creek:

In the Name of God Amen the 25th March 1786 I Robert Hamilton of Kerrs Creek in
Rockbridge County, being very sick and weak in Body but of perfect Mind and Memory
thanks be given to God therefor. Calling to mind the Mortality of my Body and knowing
that it is appointed for all men once to die, do make and Ordain this my last Will and Testa-
ment, that is to say principally and first of all, I give and Recommend my Soul into the
hands of God that gave it, and for my Body I recommend it to the Earth to be Burried in
a Christian like and decent mannor, at the direction of my Executors, nothing doubting
but at the General Resurrection I shall receive the same again by the mighty power of God.
And as Touching such Worldly Estate, wherewith it hath pleased God to bless me with in
this life, I give and devise and dispose of the same in the following manner and form, to
Witt. first I give and bequeath to my wife Margaret a free Room where our bed is with
all its Furniture thereunto belonging with her Wheel & Reel with all her Cloathing of what-
ever kind or sort it is likewise One horse called Wilkenson with a Side Sadle and Bridle
(new) with suitable Intertainment for her Station and Seven pounds ye Year to uphold her
in Necessaries she finds Needfull for herself during life. But in Case should not to live
in that Station she is to have a liberty of Spending her days among either her Children, and
in Case she should be so disposed, I bequeath her fifteen pounds ye Year to be paid out of
my real Estate during Life, or while she continues my Widow, and no longer. Also I will
and Bequeath to my son William Two cows & two Calves to my son Archibald Five Cows
and two Calves, and Four Sheep. To my Son Joseph Twenty pounds to be paid out of
my Real Estate. I give and bequeath to my son John the place where I now live with all
the Improvements thereunto belonging (he paying all these Legacies as the Will Specifies)
to him and his heirs forever but in Case he should dye a Batcheler, in that Case the Estate
to be sold and Equally Divided among the Rest of his Brothers. To Moses Gwynn I be-
queath Ten pounds to be paid out of my Real Estate. To my Daughter Jennett that fifty
Acres of Land in Caintuck’y To Mary Erwin my Daughter the 2d Vol. of Askins works,
to Miriam my Daughter One Cow & Calf & four Sheep, to my Daughter Margaret, 1
give or allow a Horse Saddle & Bridle with all her Cloathes, also two Beds and Beding
suitable with one Case of Drawers, three Cows and three Calves with six Sheep—also I
give to my wife Sarah Callman to wait on her during her Servitude and Hannah her Sister
to Margaret, my Daughter on Condition of their performing their duty to them as their
Indentures Requires. I constitute Wm. Hamilton & Archibald, my Sons to be my Sole
Executors, and I do impower them to collect all Debts due to me & to Discharge all my
Lawfull Debts Revoking all Wills and Testaments heretofore made, I confirm this to be
my last Will and Testament, This and only this to be my last Will and Testament and none
other, in Witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and Seal the day and Year above
Written
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CIVIL GOVERNMENT (1737-1852)

CONSERVATIVE INFLUENCES—STATE AND LocAL GOVERNMENT—LAWS AND PUNISHMENTS—
Wrirs AND ReECORDS—LAND SYSTEM—MARRIAGE REGULATIONS—MONEY

For about forty years after the beginning of settlement, the laws and institu-
tions under which the people of Rockbridge lived were those of Colonial Vir-
ginia. For almost twice as long a period, or until the constitution of 1851 went
into effect, there was no very striking change. In cutting loose from England,
the American did not throw away an old suit of clothes and immediately don a
new suit of quite different pattern. It was more as if the old suit were still worn,
after being dusted and having a few of the wrinkles pressed out. The coming in
of the new order is an illustration of the fact that progress is ordinarily by easy
steps and not by jumps.

After independence, the law-making body was the General Assembly, but it
was the House of Burgesses under a new name. From certain official forms
the king’s name was left out. There was still a Governor’s Council, and it was
very much like the old one. The governor was now a Virginian instead of a
Briton, but like the colonial governor he lived in style, and in attending to his
official business he followed much the same routine. The Constitution of 1776
left things a good deal as it found them. There was indeed a re-statement of
the source of Virginia law, so that there might be a definite recognition of the
fact that the state was no longer a part of the British Empire. Juries no longer
said that “we find for our Lord the King.”

The independence party had a conservative and a progressive wing. The
former wanted independence, but with the least possible change otherwise. The
latter also wanted independence, but it also wanted to make Virginia a republic,
so that it might be no longer a constitutional monarchy. The early years of in-
dependence showed that the conservative element was in control and that the
progressives had scored only a few points in their program. As the years went
by, there was a slow but rather steady yielding in the conservative viewpoint. The
dis-establishment of the state church came early, yet only after strenuous opposi-
tion. The penal code was ameliorated. Modifications crept here and there into
the working of the miachinery of government. But the constitution of 1829 was
dictated by the conservatives, whose stronghold lay east of the Blue Ridge. To
the progressives the new instrument was like a stone instead of a loaf of bread.
It was not until 1852, when the third constitution came into effect, that the
progressives won anything like a general victory. Until that date, and with
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respect to economics as well as institutions, the people of Virginia continued to
live under conditions that were essentially colonial. The modern era was not
fairly under way until the middle of the last century.

Until 1776, the common law of England, supplemented by the enactments
of the House of Burgesses, was the law of Virginia. The statutes passed by
the colonial legislature were expected to conform to the British practice. The
king’s veto, which was dictated by the Board of Trade, was freely used, and it
went so far as to frustrate the attempt to incorporate some town or village.
After independence these annoyances were a thing of the past.

Under the foreign régime, the governor was an appointee of the British
crown and acted as its personal representative. Sometimes he remmained in
England and enjoyed the actual title, the duties of the office being performed
by a deputy. But the official that appeared in Virginia lived in pomp and drew
a very large salary, even for that age. He was able to wield a great influence,
although he was commonly an overbearing aristocrat, who took little pains
to acquire the Virginian point of view. After 1776 and until 1852, the governor
was an appointee of the Assembly and was not elected by the people. The
royal governor could remit fines and forfeitures, and he could veto any bill. He
could grant pardon for any crime except treason or wilful murder, and in these
instances he could reprieve.

In colonial times there was a Council of eight members, who were appointed
and not elected. They served an indefinite time and had a monopoly of most
places of honor and trust. They assisted the governor and acted as a supreme
court. This council of eight was continued after independence. The members
of the House of Burgesses were chosen by popular vote, and there were two
from each county. Until 1830, there were likewise two members from each
county in the House of Delegates, regardless of the matter of population. After
1830 there was a more equitable arrangement, and it was based on the number of
people in the various counties. The Senate of 1776 contained twenty-four
members.

Under colonial rule the elective franchise was much restricted, and this
continued to be the case until 1852. In effect, there is as much restriction now
as there was then, even among the whites. But whereas the small vote now polled
in the average county of this state is largely due to indifference, it was formerly
due to a property qualification. Voting was viva voce. Until 1852 the burgess
or delegate was almost the only public official, state or local, who was dependent
on popular vote.

For a long while there was no higher judicial tribunal than the Council. Under
independence, there was a State Court of Appeals, any three of its five members
constituting a minor court. Rockbridge formed with Augusta, Rockingham,




CIVIL GOVERNMENT (1737-1852) 47

and Pendleton a judicial circuit, its judges having full jurisdiction in civil and
criminal causes, and original jurisdiction in all causes involving a consideration of
more than 100 pounds.

With the exception that we shall presently note, the affairs of each county
were looked after by the county court, a body which until 1852 was almost
the same thing that it was in 1737. It was a self-perpetuating, close corpora-
tion, and had more extensive powers than those of the present Board of
Supervisors. When a new county was established, its first board of “worship-"
ful justices” was nominated by the court of the parent county. When vacan-
cies occurred, or when there was a desire to increase the membership, nomina-
tions were made by the court and commissions were issued therefrom by
the governor. The county court was therefore not responsible to the people. The
system was not democratic. The justices were chosen from the most influential
families, and were often related to one another. The office often descended
from father to son. It was in the power of the court to use partiality toward
its friends and its own membership, and to be arbitrary and tyrannical. But in
practice the working of the system was in the direction of good government.
The justices felt the responsibility of their position and were in touch with the
people. They were not only justices of the peace, but acted collectively, or by
classes, as a board of county commissioners. They served without pay. They
held office for an indefinite time, but the governor might remove a justice
for cause. Until 1830 there was no positive limitation on the number of justices.
Four justices made a quorum and opinions were decided by a majority vote.

Until 1776 a county court was opened by the reading of the royal commis-
sion: “Be it remembered (date here given) his majesty’s commission directed
to (names of commissioned justices here given) to hear and determine all treas-
ons, petit treasons, or misprisons thereof, felonies, murders, and all other offenses
or crimes, was openly read.” The county court had general police and probate
jurisdiction, the control of county levies, of roads, actions at law, and suits in
chancery. It passed judgment on all offenses except felonies and high treason,
these coming before the Governor’s Council, to be there examined by a grand
jury before the final trial in the home county. But in the case of such criminals
as were negro slaves, it could decree the death penalty and order the sheriff
to execute it. It appointed the constables and the overseers of the roads, no
acting justice being eligible in the latter capacity. After independence it ap-
pointed the county clerk. Under British rule, the county clerk was the deputy
of the secretary of state, and was appointed by him. A single justice had
jurisdiction in matters not exceeding the value of twenty-five shillings. In 1788,
suits at common law and in chancery might no longer come before the county
court where the consideration was in excess of five pounds.
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Jurors were ordinarily chosen from the locality of the issue they were to
pass upon. Tavern-keepers, surveyors of roads, and millers were exempt from
grand-jury service. In 1793 the allowance to a witness was fifty-three cents a
day, in addition to four cents for each mile of travel.

In 1808 the court day for Rockbridge was changed to the Monday after
the first Tuesday in each month.

A petition of 1802 complains that the recovery of small debts is difficult,
and asks that the jurisdiction of single magistrates be extended to $20.00. It
also asks that constables be required to give security for the faithful discharge
of their duty, and for the same service as a sheriff to be allowed the same fee.

Each year the court sent to the governor the names of one to three of the
senior members, one of whom was commissioned by him as sheriff. But the
high sheriff sold out the office to the highest bidder—sometimes at auction—so
that the actual work was done by his deputies, while he enjoyed the honor and
something of the emoluments. The court also nominated the coroner, who
served during good behavior. His office was more important than it is now,
since the incumbent was a conservator of the peace.

The county lieutenant was an appointee of the governor and might be re-
garded as his deputy. He had charge of the militia of the county, and ranked
as a colonel in time of war.

An auxiliary medium of county government was the vestry, one of which
existed in colonial times in every parish. The parish might be co-extensive
with the county, or the county might contain two or three parishes. When a
new county was formed, the members of its first vestry or vestries were chosen
by the qualified voters. But with a curious inconsistency, the vestry was thence-
forward self-perpetuating like the county court. Its executive officers were the
two church-wardens selected from its own membership. Their duties were
both civil and ecclesiastical. They built chapels and rectories for the established
church and levied taxes for that purpose. They also looked after moral de-
linquencies, and bound out orphans and bastards. The parish clerk and the
sexton could be appointed by the rector as well as by the vestry. The vestry
fell into disuse during the Revolution, and was never revived. It passed out of
existence with the dis-establishment of the Episcopal Church. A petition from
Rockbridge, dated May 20, 1780, asks permission for a levy for poor relief. It
says that as there has been no vestry for some time, the poor have had to trust to
humane contributions.

The courthouse known to the people of Rockbridge in 1746 was the one
first built in Augusta. It was of hewed logs, and was eighteen by thirty-eight
feet in size. There were two little windows unprovided with glass or shutters,
but some light came in through unchinked spaces between the logs, a number
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of these openings being several feet long and several inches wide. The jail
was smaller and not very secure. The first courthouse authorized at Lexington
was almost as primitive as the one at Staunton. Prisoners might walk about
within the jail limits, which covered five to ten acres. A prisoner for debt
might live in a house if it were within such limits.

Previous to the French and Indian war small printed forms were used for
legal writs. From then until the Revolution legal papers were written out by
hand, usually in a neat, legible manner. Very small pieces of paper were used
and the lines of writing are near together. As for the old record-books, they
contain many more words to the page than do those of our time, even with
the use of the typewriter. The lines are near together, but when a coarse-
pointed quill was used, the writing may be more easily read than the hurried
scribbling that is customary today. The copyist not only made his small letters
of uniform height, but he often took time to begin a long entry with a highly
ornamental initial. Indexing was done on the fly-leaves and with great economy
of space. The ink was of a very durable kind. None but quill pens were
known or used, and unlike steel pens, their action is not corrosive to the paper.

" The laws of the colonial era were harsh. Virginia was more humane in this
respect than England, and yet twenty-seven offenses were recognized as pun-
ishable by death. In 1796 this number was reduced to one. Lashes at the
public whipping-post, on the bare back and “well laid on,” were frequently
ordered, thirty-nine being the limit at any one time. Women were thus pun-
ished as well as men. Imprisonment for debt continued until the middle of the
nineteenth century. By this time the pillory, the whipping-post, and the practice
of branding the hand had become relics of a past age. The spirit of the time de-
manded a more humane administration of the criminal code.

The constable’s path was not one to be envied. A writ of 1765 has this
endorsement: “Not executed case of by a hayfork.” Another constable says
he was “kept off by force of arms.”

Taxes were seemingly low, yet no easier to meet than they are today. The
poll-tax varied a good deal from year to year, and when new county buildings
had been contracted for, it must have seemed rather formidable to many persons.
Before the Revolution and for a while afterward, hemp was generally grown
on the farms of this county, the state paying a bounty of one dollar per hun-
dredweight. The certificates therefor, issued by the county court, were re-
ceivable for taxes. The bounty on a single wolf-head would pay the taxes
for almost any man.

Each year several men were appointed by the court to list the “tithables,”
this term being given to those individuals who were subject to head-tax. Aged
men, any men who were objects of charity, and boys under the age of sixteen



50 A HISTORY OF ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY, VIRGINIA

were exempt. Old or infirm servants were also exempt, but a widow who was
the head of a household was subject to levy.

British law followed the Roman in holding that the crown is a personifi-
cation of the state. Therefore, by virtue of a legal fiction all public lands were
held to be the property of the king. Patents for them were made out in his
name and signed by the royal governor as the king’s deputy. The Revolution
swept away this rubbish and recognized the public domain as belonging to the
state instead of a theoretical person. The landseeker, armed with a warrant
from the state treasury, perhaps the result of military service, applied to the
county surveyor and had a tract set off. This survey was the basis on which a
patent was issued after the lapse of one or two years or perhaps a much
longer period. The survey might be assigned to another man, and several as-
signments might precede the patent. A transfer of this sort had to be attested
by two witnesses. There was much trading in land warrants, and some money
was made in these transactions. Regularity in surveying was seldom observed.
The first comer ran his lines in any fashion that would give him a maximum
of good land and a minimum of cull land. The surveyor held office during good
behavior.

In land conveyances before the Revolution, there was followed the English
practice of drawing two instruments for the same transaction; a deed of lease
and a deed of release, so that deeds are recorded in pairs in the deed-book.
The consideration named in the first is usually five shillings. The deed of release,
which is the real and effective instrument, is dated one day later and names the
actual consideration. There is sometimes ntention of the purchaser receiving
from the seller a twig in token of possession. The Revolution also did away
with this clumsy practice of issuing deeds in pairs, each one stuffed full of
verbose legal technicalities.

Until 1776, a quitrent of one shilling for each fifty acres was exacted from
purchasers of the public domain. This requirement was very much disliked,
and was regarded as a cloud on the title. After American independence was
declared, the quitrent was speedily abolished.

The processioning of private holdings of land was begun in 1747. Every
four years, men appointed for that purpose by the vestry, and afterward by
the county court, marked the corners of the surveys. This had to be done
between October 1st and April 1st. In 1797 the payment per day for this
service was fifty cents. The practice fell into disuse, but was revived by a law of
1865-6.

Religion was not free in this state until just after the close of the Revolu-
tion. The established church was the Church of England, known to us as the
Episcopalian. It was supported by general taxation, and each parish owned a
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farm known as a glebe. On this the rector lived. In theory, and to a limited
extent in fact, attendance at the parish chapel was compulsory. Other Protestants
were known as Dissenters. Their houses of worship had to be licensed and
registered by the county court, and their ministers had to take various oaths.
But west of the Blue Ridge, where few people adhered to the Establishment, there
was and could be no persecution of the Dissenters. To learn the attitude of the
Virginia government, the Presbyterian Synod of Ireland addressed a memorial
to Governor Gooch in 1738. It brought this reply:

As I have always been inclined to favor the people who have lately removed from
other provinces to settle on the western side of our great mountains, so you may be assured
that no interruption shall be given to any minister of your profession, who shall come
among them, so as they conform themselves to the rules prescribed by the Act of Toleration
in England, by taking the oaths enjoined thereby, and registering the place of their meet-
ing, and behave themselves peaceably toward the government.

This letter has been construed as a letting down of the bars. Yet the
governor promised nothing to the Ulstermen that the laws did not already per-
mit. He merely said in effect that the newcomers would be let alone, so long as
they obeyed the laws. There was no limitation on the number of their houses
of worship, yet they had to contribute to the support of the Establishment
just the same as if they had settled on the other side of the Blue Ridge. Their
ministers were not permitted until the close of 1781 to unite couples in marriage.
John Brown married two couples in 1755, but finding he was violating a law,
he did not again perform a marriage ceremony for twenty-six years. The
people of the Valley were restive under the disabilities imposed on them, and
were nearly unanimous in helping to secure religious freedom for Virginia, this
end being accomplished in 1784. It is claimed, and probably with reason, that
the lack of express toleration kept thousands of intending immigrants out of
colonial Virginia.

The ruling element in colonial Virginia held that education is a private and
not a public interest, and that schooling is to be purchased like clothing or
groceries. The constitution of 1776 is silent on the subject. The mention of
schools in the public records is accordingly very meager and incidental. We
find mention of a schoolhouse in 1753, which was sixteen years after the coming
of the McDowells. It is not at all probable that it was the only one, or that it
had just been built.

During the colonial time a marriage was solemnized by the parish minister
or parish reader, but the certificate he gave was not deposited with the county
clerk. The public recording of marriages did not begin until about the close
of 1781, and it is therefore difficult to secure definite knowledge of unions that
took place before that date. By the new practice, the groom was required to



52 A HISTORY OF ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY, VIRGINIA

sign a bond of fifty pounds. His surety was commonly the bride’s father. If
either groom or bride were under the age of twenty-one, and this was very
often the case, the consent of the parent or parents had to accompany the
bond, which served as a license. The consent was ordinarily written on a
narrow scrap of paper, and often with poor ink. The signature, if not in the
form of a mark, is usually crabbed and more or less difficult to make out. This
scrap, not always unsoiled, was folded into a small compass, making it look
like a paper of epsom salts as put up by a doctor before tablets and capsules
came into use. The bonds were filed away in bundles. This system was in
force until 1852.

Personal liberty was so highly prized on the old frontier that a certain
statute of 1661 must have seemed irksome to the settlers. This law made it
illegal for any person to remove out of his county until after setting up his
name for three Sundays at the door of the church or chapel of his parish. This
notice had to express his intention and certify where he was about to go. It was
then attested by the minister or reader and the church-wardens, who gave him
license to go. The order-books of Augusta indicate that this law was not a dead
letter.

The house of entertainment was called an ordinary. The prices the
tavern-keeper might charge were regulated by the county court with great
exactness. These rates had to be posted in the public room and not above a
specified height from the floor. This care was not needless. Extortion would
otherwise have been more possible than it is now. '

Money was computed, as in England, in pounds, shillings, and pence. But
on this side of the Atlantic these names applied to values and not to coins. In
the “current money of Virginia,” the pound represented $3.33, the shilling six-
teen and two-third cents, and the penny one and seven-eighteenths cents. Be-
cause of the depreciation of the colonial money, British coins did not freely
circulate here. The hard money in actual use came from the West Indies, and
was of Spanish, French, and Portugese coinage. Thus we read of the pistole,
the doubloon, and the louis d’or, or “loodore.” These were gold coins worth,
respectively, $3.92, $7.84, and $3.96. It was by way of the West Indies that
the Americans became acquainted with the “piece of eight,” or Mexican dollar.
Eight reals made a dollar, the real being a silver coin of the value of nine pence,
or twelve and one-half cents. The earliest mention of the dollar by name, in
the Augusta records, is in 1752. The fact that the Mexican dollar subdivided so
readily into the terms used in computing the colonial money, is the leading reason
why the dollar, a well known coin, became the unit of Federal money. Under
the names of “levy” and “fip,” the real and half-real were legal tender in the
United States until near the beginning of the war of 1861.
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Since the gold and silver coins that passed from hand to hand were of
so varied a character, it was tedious and inconvenient to turn their values into
Virginia money. A sum of money is spoken of in 1750 as made up of one
doubloon, one pistole, two moidores, and two pieces of silver. The value of these
Spanish and Portuguese coins was about $24.00. It was customary to com-
pute the foreign money by weight, and hence money-scales are often mentioned
in inventories of personal property. Copper pennies were coined for Virginia
in 1733. This coin was worth almost exactly one cent. Paper money of colonial
issue began to appear in the colony in 1755. The ten-pound note was not quite
one-half the size of a postal card, was crudely engraved, and was too easy to
counterfeit. Warehouse certificates for tobacco also passed from hand to hand
as money and did not need endorsement. When a money consideration was
written into a legal document, the sum usually mentioned is five shillings. The
‘legal rate of interest was five per cent. There were no banks, and when a large
stock of money was on hand it was secreted. There is very frequent mention
of Pennsylvania currency, in which the pound was worth $2.50 and the shilling
twelve and one-half cents.

Money, whether of metal or paper, could be counterfeited with more im-
punity than is possible today. We not infrequently find mention of bad bills
and suspicious doubloon certificates.
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ANNALS OF 1737-1777

SELECTIONS FROM THE RECORDS OF ORANGE, AUGUSTA, AND BoTETOURT

ORANGE ORDER-BOOK, 1735-1745

1111 tithables—Nov. 18, 1735.

Road surveyors to set finger-boards at every crossroads in large letters.

The Rev. Richard Hardwell presented for being drunk.—1741.

James Phillips fined ten shillings for non-attendance at his parish church, and for not
appearing to answer the charge against him.

Poll tax, fourteen pounds of tobacco—1744.

Andrew Campbell takes out a pedler’s license—1740.

Wolf-heads turned in by Charles Campbell, James Hamilton, John James, and Richard
McDowell.

Constables: 1741, James McDowell; 1742, Hugh Cunningham; 1743, Joseph Lapsley,
John Mitchell, William Moore, and James Anderson; 1744, Samuel Gay.

Militia officers: John Mathews and Patrick Hays appointed captains in 1742; William
Jameson, captain, 1745; Alexander Dunlap, captain of horse, 1743; Henry Gay, lieutenant
in 1744, and Andrew Hays in 1745,

People of Borden Tract petition for a road from James Young’s on to Borden’s Tract
by a gap in Blue Ridge called Michael Woods' Gap. Francis McCown, Samuel Walker,
Captain Charles Campbell, and Captain Patrick Hays among the overseers. Colonel James
Patton to lay off the precincts. South River to be crossed at the plantation of Samuel
Davis.

Tavern rates, 1742: Hot diet, one shilling; cold diet or loging, sixpence each; corn or
oats, per gallon, sixpence; stabling and fodder for one night, or pasturage for twenty-four
hours, sixpence; Barbadoes rum, per gallon, eight shillings; New England rum, per gallon,
two shillings and sixpence; Virginia brandy, per gallon, six shillings; claret, per gallon, four
shillings; Virginia cider, per quart, four and half pence.

AUGUSTA ORDER-BOOKS

1745
Robert Young appointed constable in Richard Woods’s militia company, and James

Greenlee to succeed William Moore in Benjamin Borden’s company. Greenlee afterward
excused on account of illiteracy.

1746

Joseph Lapsley and John Peter Salling sworn in as captains, Robert Renick as first
lieutenant.

Statements of losses by Indians certified to in case of Richard Woods, John Mathews,
Henry Kirkham, Francis McCown, Joseph Lapsley, Isaac Anderson, John and James
Walker.—Feb. 19th. )

James Huston and three other men presented for being vagrants, and hunting and
burning the woods; on information given by John Peter Salling, James Young, and John
McCown. Huston fined three pounds for illegally killing three deer.



ANNALS OF 1737-1777 55

Constables: William Taylor from Benjamin Allen’s to the lower end of the county;
William Gay on the Calfpasture; Michael O’'Dougherty in Woods’s company; John McCown,
Michael Finney, and Thomas Williams in the Forks of James. Samuel Dunlap, John
Ramsay, and John Campbell succeed, respectively, Nathaniel McClure, William Gay, and
Robert Gwin. Alexander McCroskey is also a constable.

1747

Henry Gay, James Allison, John Hodge, and John Edmondson petition for leave to
build gristmills.

The road formerly cleared from James Young’s mill to Woods’s Gap to be altered.

John Allison given license for a ferry between his landing and Halbert McClure’s.

Robert Patterson and James Allen to view a road from John Picken’s mill to lower
meeting house.

Petition by James McCown for road from crossroads below Patrick Hays. Hays is on
north side of South River.

1748

Richard Burton to take the list of tithables in the Forks.

Roger Keys and Sarah, his wife, win in a slander suit against Ephraim McDowell.
John Lyle is a witness.

George Campbell presented for striking and beating Joseph Walker in the court-
yard. Henry C——— presented for assaulting and beating Joseph M in a meeting
house yard at a time of burial service.

Constables: David Dryden and William Lockridge succeed Samuel Dunlap; William
Woods succeeds John McCown; Alexander Walker succeeds Michael Dougherty.

1749

Archibald Alexander, Benjamin Borden, William Jameson, Samuel Gay, John Lyle,
John Mathews, and Richard Woods are on the list of justices.

Benjamin Borden to take the list of tithables from North River to the end of the
county; David Stuart, from the courthouse to North River.

1750

A road has been cleared over the Blue Ridge at “Woods’s old gap”—May 25.

Road ordered from John Hays’ mill to Providence meeting house. Posts of direction
to be set up.

Richard Burton, Robert Renick, John Poage, Peter Wallace, are to survey a road
from Looney’s Ferry to North River; Benjamin Borden, John Thompson, Isaac Taylor,
and William McClung are to survey to the intersection with the county road.

Road ordered from William Gay’s to Robert McCutchen’s and thence to Robert Camp-
bell’s. McCutchen to build the road with the help of William Elliott, Thomas Fulton, John
Fulton, John Meek, Thomas Meek, John Williams, and John Gay.

John Maxwell, James McDowell, and Edward Hogan were in a canoe on the James,
Sunday, May 13 (Old Style). The boat upset and Hogan was drowned. Coroner’s jury
at James Greenlee’s, five days later: Michael Dougherty, Josiah F. Hendon, John Hitchins,
Joshua Mathews, James Montgomery, John Poage, John Ramsey, John Vance, Matthew
Vance, Samuel Walker, Joseph Walker, and Walker.

1751

William Lusk a justice.
Archibald Alexander, Michael Finney, John Hargrove, John Maxwell, and John Peter
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Salling are surveyors for a road from David Moore’s Mill to Robert Poage’s mill.

Order for road from Hays’ fulling mill to Timber Ridge meeting house.

Constables: James Phillips vice Samuel McCutchen; William Elliott vice James Gay;
Richard Cousart vice James Greenlee; John Gilmore vice John Allison.

1752

James Young, miller, presented for taking toll twice.

Road ordered from William Cleghorn’s to Purgatory.

Benjamin Borden to lay off a road from his house to Providence meeting house. John
Patton, surveyor.

Petitioners for a road from Kennedy’s mill to John Houston’s, and from Houston’s
to the great road from Timber Grove to Woods’ Gap: Robert Alexander, Andrew Duncan,
Robert Dunlap, Walter Eakin, James Eakin, John Edmondson, John Handly, Patrick Hays,
James Hill, John Houston, Joseph Kennedy, William Lockridge, William McConnell, John
Montgomery, Andrew Steele, Robert Stuart, John Stuart, William Wardlaw, and John
Wilson.

Petition of settlers on the lower Cowpasture petition for a road over the mountains
to the Borden Tract—Oct. 19.

1753

225 wolf-heads turned in—Nov. 22

Cornelius Bryan given permission to cut a road at his own expense from the “bent”
in Buffalo to Michael Dougherty’s.

Members of grand jury, Nov. 20: Robert Bratton, James Lockridge, John Anderson,
William Caruthers, Archibald Alexander, John Paxton, and Samuel McClure. James
Trimble, foreman.

John Paxton road overseer from Edmondson’s mill to Fork Meeting House.

Order for a road from Campbell’s schoolhouse to the Renick road. Samuel Walker,
overseer. Workers: John Allison, Samuel Allison, Stephen Arnold, Richard Burton,
William Burt, William Byers, James Frazier, Henry Fuller, John Hutchings, Sr., John
Hutchings, Jr., John Maxwell, John McColley, Richard Mathews, Sampson Mathews,
William Noble, John Peteet, Joseph Ryan, Thomas Shaw, John Smith, Joseph Smith, John
Sprowl], John Peter Salling, George Salling, Mathew Vance, Samuel Walker.

1754
Several runaway servants taken up.

Joseph Tees fined twenty shillings for saying, “he got nothing in this court but
shuffling.”

Lancelot Graham constable on Great Calfpasture, William Ramsay on Little Calfpasture.
Thomas Paxton constable to succeed John Lowry.
1755
James Lockridge appointed a lieutenant.
Mary McDonald bound over to keep the peace for putting John Cunningham in fear
of his life. Cunningham has tavern license.

Abraham Brown constable below Brushy Hills in Forks of James.

1756

Mary, wife of William Whiteside, refused separate maintenance. The court blames
certain of her relatives for the breach.
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Many claims for ranging and for the impressment of horses are ordered certified.

Valentine Utter and Mary, his wife, servants of John Paxton, are set free on con-
sideration of their paying him twelve pounds.

Constables: David Doak vice Samuel Braford; Samuel Steele vice James Walker;
Moses Whiteside in James Kennedy’s company ; Samuel Wilson vice Alexander McNutt.

1757
Constables: John Shields vice John Henderson; William Logan vice Andrew Campb.ell;
William Rhea vice Samuel Steele; John Paxton vice Abraham Brown; Thomas Kirk-
patrick vice Thomas Berry.

1758
James Alexander becomes a captain.
John McCroskey road overseer from Alexander Miller's to the line of Beverly Manor;
Charles Hays, from Andrew Hays’ mill to Captain Kennedy's.
Order for a road from Hays's mill to Timber Ridge meeting house. Overseers,
Alexander Miller, Joseph Culton, and Archibald Alexander.

1759
Richard Woods, sheriff.
Samuel McDowell, captain, James McDowell, lieutenant, John Lyle, ensign.

1760
Joseph Culton granted mill license.

John Dickenson and James Lockridge to survey a road from John Wilson's to Panther
Gap.

1761

John Paxton granted tavern license.

John Buchanan to take the list of tithables on the south side of the James, Richard
Woods in the Forks, Archibald Alexander from North River to Beverly Manor, and James
Lockridge in the Pastures and on Jackson’s River.

John Mathews is road surveyor from North River to the junction with the road near
Sharp’s.

Archibald Alexander, Felix Gilbert, Andrew Hays, John Tate, John Buchanan, to
survey a road from Stuart’s to the top of the mountain near Rockfish Gap. Tithables to turn
out from Woods Gap to Jennings Gap, and from between North Mountain and South
Mountain to North River.—Aug. 19.

John Moore of Borden Tract presented for staying away from public worship.

1763

John Houston overseer of road from Timber Ridge to Providence.

James McDowell, captain, William McKee, lieutenant.

For having two children taught dancing Israel Christian is sued for five pounds.

Thirty-three justices, inclusive of Richard Woods, John Bowyer, James Buchanan,
Archibald Alexander, John Maxwell, and Samuel McDowell.

1764
John Paxton certifies to 7720 pounds of hemp.
John Anderson made oath to an account of five pounds expense in taking up his

servant, Edward Lochan, who was absent twenty-nine days. Ordered that Lochan serve
Anderson fifteen months extra time.
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Daniel Lyle, William Ramsay, and James Simpson to view a way from North River to
James Stinson’s (Stevenson) on Buffalo.

Samuel and David Lyle to view from William Davis’s to Timber Ridge.

John Mathews with wife and six children were burned in and with their house accord-
ing to a statement by Sampson Mathews. Christian Godfrey Milliron is bound on suspicion
of being guilty of the deed.

George Lewis is held for trial because of driving a wagon on Sunday.

1765
For provisions and impressed horses for the use of the militia, claims are turned in by
Thomas Alexander, Robert Bratton, John Dunlap, William Elliott, John Finlay, Hugh
Fulton, James Mateer, Samuel McCutchen, William McKemy, William McNabb, Daniel
O’Freel, Thomas Poage, John and Mary Trimble, and Joseph Walkup.
Judith Ryley convicted of killing her bastard child.
John Greenlee road surveyor from John Mathews, Jr's,, to Sinclair's Gap.

1766
James Cloyd overseer of road from lower end of John Bowyer's plantation on James,
by Cedar bridge, to Mathews road. Workers: John Berry, Matthew Hair, John Hall,
William Hall, John Jones, John Logan, James McClure, James Skidmore, George Skillern,
Christopher Vineyard, Conrad Wall, George Wilson.

1767

Old and new roads from Isaac Taylor's to Timber Ridge meeting house.

Andrew Hays, captain, James Cloyd, captain, James Lapsley, ensign.

Samuel Todd asks for a mill license on Whistle Creek.

View for a road ordered from Hanna's mill on Collier’s Creek to George Gibson’s at
House Mountain.

Road open from Cowpasture to Gilmore’s Gap.

1768

Thomas Paxton is making grape brandy.
Robert Steele has a mill.

1769
James Cowden has a stone house near Samuel McDowell’s.
John Summers constable in place of Alexander Dale.
Jacob, a slave, ordered to have thirty-nine lashes for shooting at the children of
Alexander Moore.

1770

Charles Hays certifies to 2293 pounds of hemp.

George Mathews, sheriff.

John Hays, James McDowell, Samuel McDowell, and Archibald Houston are vestry-
men.
John Caldwell has leave to build an oil mill on South River.

1771

Brice Hanna, contractor to do work at New Providence, failed and ran off. Charles
Campbell, Alexander Moore, William Walker, and James Walker, commissioners.
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1773

Order for a road from Thomas Lackey’s to Timber Ridge meeting house.

Alexander Stuart, neighbor to William McClung, granted mill license on Mill Creek.

Samuel McDowell qualifies as justice.

For illegal selling of liquor, Thomas Mathews asks for corporal punishment in place
of a fine. Twenty-one lashes to be given at once and costs imposed.

Road ordered from head of Kerr’s Creek to North River. In 1774 the bridle-path is
reported to be the most convenient way.

Hemp certificates given: to James McKee for 2290 pounds; John McKee, 2415; Isaac
Anderson, 2863; John McCown, 2566; Andrew Hays, 3300; James Kerr, 2372; James
Lindsay, 1070.

Dr. George Parker, servant of Samuel McChesney, agrees, with the approval of the
court, to pay McChesney 100 pounds for his freedom, on condition of being given a horse
and saddle worth ten pounds, and drugs and medicines worth thirty pounds, and is to pay
ten pounds a year for his board until the sum of 100 should be paid up. Parker is to keep
the horse at his own expense.

1777

John Gilmore, John Lyle, and David Gray are captains.

Nat, an Indian boy in the custody of Mary Greenlee, complains that he is held in
unlawful slavery. A stay is granted until Mrs. Greenlee’s son in the Carolinas can be heard
from. Meanwhile, Nat is hired out until it can be determined whether he is slave or free.
The court considers that Mrs. Greenlee has treated him in an inhumane manner.

Zachariah Johnston and Andrew Moore, captains.

Liberty to inoculate for the smallpox is granted to the people of Staunton and for
three miles around. °

BOTETOURT ORDER-BOOK

1770-1777

Richard Woods is first high sheriff, and James McDowell and James McGavock and
John Bowyer are his undersheriffs. John Maxwell is sheriff in 1773.

James Bailey and Joseph Davis are constables on Buffalo, and William Hall on Cedar.—
1770, '

Salary of king’s attorney is 4000 pounds of tobacco, the equivalent of sixteen pounds
thirteen shillings four pence, or $55.55 in Federal money.

Surveyors of roads, 1770: Audley Paul and Hugh Barclay, from Renick's to James
Gilmore’s; James Simpson, from Gilmore’s to Buffalo; John Paxton, from Buffalo to North
River Ferry; James Templeton, from Buffalo ford to North River; George Francisco, from
Fork of road below Barclay’s to the Buffalo; James Templeton, from ford of Buffalo to
North River.

William McKee to take the tithables from the county line to the Buffalo and from
mountain to mountain; Benjamin Estill, from the Buffalo to the James and from moun-
tain to mountain.

John Bowyer, John Maxwell, James Trimble, William McKee, James McGavock, and
Robert Poage are among the first justices.

Hugh Barclay has license to keep an ordinary—1770.

Wolf-heads, 173—1770.

Charles Given certifies that his left ear was bitten off by Francis McDonald—1771.
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Elizabeth Collier agrees to serve her master, James Green, one year extra time, pro-
vided he employs her as house-servant—1773.

Head-tax, sixty-seven pounds of tobacco ($2.00); Tithables, 1494, of whom 229 are
delinquent—1773.

Allowance of $40.00 for furnishing courthouse with candles and firewood—1773.

Tavern rates: Warm diet with good meat, one shilling; cold diet, seven and one-half
pence; lodging in good bed with clean sheets, six pence; lodging with two or more in
bed, four pence each; grain, per gallon, six pence—1775.

Samuel Wallace, road surveyor from Paxton’s ford on North River to ford in Buffalo.

Benjamin Estill and John Bowyer among the persons appointed to administer the oath
of allegiance to the free white inhabitants, as per Act of Assembly; Estill for the com-
panies of John Paxton and James Hall, Bowyer for the companies of William Paxton and
Samuel Wallace—August 13, 1777.

Contract let for building a prison sixteen by twenty feet, logs squared to the dimensions
of fourteen by fourteen inches to form the walls and the upper and lower floors.
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STRIFE WITH THE RED MAN

AN EmPry LAND—INDIAN MoOUNDS—INDIAN MEADOWS—RELATIONS BETWEEN THE RACES—
Tae McDowelL FicEr—BLockHOUSEs—THE RENICK AFFAR—THE
Kerr's CrREEk Rams—DunNMore WAr—THE LoNe HUNTERs

The Rockbridge area was a vacant land when found and explored by the
whites. That such had always been its condition does not follow by any
means. There have been inhabitants in America since a day that makes the
voyage of Columbus seem as but an occurrence of last year. In the Western
Hemisphere as in the Eastern, we may be sure that war, or pestilence, or some
other catastrophe has here and there emptied a region of its human occupants.

It is true enough that the arrowheads, pipes, scrapers, and other relics,
which have been numerously found in various localities, do not necessarily point
to a period of settled occupation. Hunting operations continued for centuries,
varied by an occasional tribal fight, are sufficient to account for these. It was
possibly by hunters alone that the Indian path was made which may be seen
on Jump Mountain opposite Wilson’s Springs. It was possibly by hunters alone
that the stone-pile on North Mountain was built up.

But all these suppositions are not enough to account for the mound which
used to stand on the Hays Creek bottom, a very short distance below the mouth
of Walker’s Creek. At the time it was dug away and examined by Mr. Valen-
tine, it was almost circular, averaging sixty-two feet in diameter at the base
and forty feet on the flat top. The vertical height was then four and one-half
feet, but the Gasette in 1876 speaks of it as having been ten or twelve feet
high. The encroachments of cultivation had undoubtedly much diminished the
original bulk. The excavators found eighty perfect skulls and more than 400
skeletons. In all instances the legs were drawn up and the arms folded across the
breast. Shell-beads and pendants were found on the necks of twenty-eight of the
skeletons. A few pieces of pottery and some other relics were found, and there
were eight skeletons of dogs, several of these being almost perfect. The site
is now completely leveled, and the exact spot is in danger of being forgotten.

To those who know something of the customs of the Red American, it is
evident that this mound was a burial mound, and that near it was once a village.
Indian huts were of very perishable materials, and it is not at all strange that
no trace of the village can now be found, unless by a trained investigator. At the
time of white settlement—about 1738—there may have been a very low earth-
ring, marking the site of a palisade, and this could soon have been destroyed



62 A HISTORY OF ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY, VIRGINIA

by repeated plowings. At all events, no recollection of such a ring seems
to remain.

White people are very prone to imagine that the native mounds were
built over the corpses of the braves slain in battle. But the Indian war party
rarely comprise more than a few dozen men, and often it was exceedingly
small. The victors would lose but a few of their number, if any, and these
were buried in individual graves marked by little mounds of loose stones. The
vanquished dead were left to be devoured by wild beasts. It is to be remembered
that until a quite recent time the European nations held themselves to be
under no obligation to bury the dead of a defeated army. The fact that
many of the skeletons in the Hays Creek mound were of women and girls,
and the conventional mode of interment, show that the burials distributed over
a considerable period of time. As to the age of the mound, there is no
answer but conjecture. Earthworks tend to endure indefinitely, and in this
instance the bones began to crumble on exposure to the air. This burial mound
may have antedated the coming of the white man by several centuries.

A tradition of uncertain authenticity tells of a battle between Indians at the
mouth of Walker’s Creek. It further tells of a squaw who witnessed the fight
from the end of Jump Mountain, and leaped over the precipice on seeing the
fall of her companion. The tradition may be correct. The battle could not have
resulted in the mound, though it may have resulted in the extinction of the
village. The Indian’s eyes were good, yet not keen enough to identify a man
from the top of the precipice several miles away.

The Ulster people were very disputatious, particularly as to the meaning of
texts from the Bible. An old resident of Hays Creek contended all his life as to
the name of the tribe that built this mound. He made a solemn request to be
buried on the hill facing it, so that at the resurrection he might be the first one
to see his theory vindicated.

Within the memory of men still living, a mound stood near Glasgow close to
the position of the lowest county bridge on North River. On the Buffalo was a
burial mound. No other earthmounds, extant or leveled, have been named to the
writer. It is surprising that there is no knowledge of any mound on the bottom
near Kerr’s Creek postoffice. Such a spot would have appealed to the Indian
as a place of settlement.

Mention has been made of the stone-heap on the very summit of North
Mountain. It stands close to the Lexington and Rockbridge Alum Turnpike.
It used to be twenty feet long, six feet wide, and four feet high, but the
two holes dug into it have lowered the height and disarranged the once nicely
rounded top. The pieces of rock are wholly of brown ironstone, such as is found
abundantly on the western face of the mountain. Isaac Taylor, a Rockbridge
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man who went to Ohio, was told by an Indian that it was the work of a war
party from the West. Each brave, while passing over, was to throw down a
stone, and on the return each survivor was to pick one up, so that a count of
the remaining ones might determine the loss. The expedition was disastrous
and the heap remained quite intact. If the tradition be correct, it must apply
to some other and smaller stone-pile. Before being tampered with, this mound
must have contained several thousands of rock-fragments. Much more reason-
able is the conjecture that it grew up little by little, and was due to a custom
of the passing red man to drop a stone as an act of propitiation to the Great
Spirit, and as the expression of a wish that his journey might have a favorable
outcome. It was in fact a practice of the red man to rear a mound where his
trail went through a mountain pass. This pass was used by him and when the
trees are leafless it commands a view of the Kerr’s Creek valley.

When the white explorer came the Rockbridge area, like the Valley of Vir-
ginia in general, was largely occupied by tracts of prairie. These were known
as Indian meadows, or as savannas, the word prairie having not yet come into
the English language. These meadows were fired at the close of each hunting
season so as to keep back the forest growth and thus attract the buffalo and other
large game. This practice had undoubtedly been going on for centuries.
Throughout all Appalachia nature strives to keep the surface clothed in forest.
A large expanse of open ground could only originate in the little clearing that
always surrounded the native village. The persistent firing of a deserted clear-
ing would make the meadow steadily increase in size.

After white settlement began, parties of Indians continued to come here
to hunt, or to pass through on some war expedition. The Iroquois of New
York were the native claimants of the district, and they were at feud with
the Cherokees and Catawbas to the southward. Hunting parties would build
bark cabins for temporary shelter, and these were sometimes temporarily used
by the whites.

John Craig was for a third of a century the minister at the North Mountain
Meeting House near Staunton. He lived five miles away and walked to church
carrying his gun on his shoulder. He wrote that the Indians “were generally
civil, though some persons were murdered by them about that time (1740). They
march about in small companies from fifteen to twenty, and must be supplied
at any house they call at, or they become their own stewards and cooks, and
spare nothing they choose to eat and drink.”

While he was hunting, the Indian took food wherever he found any, and he
considered that animals running at large were lawful game. If he expected free
and liberal entertainment, it was because he was ready to treat others as he
expected to be treated himself. There were no bounds to his hospitality, be-
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cause in the usage of his race food was not private property. But the points
of view of the two races were very divergent. The native thought the paleface
uncivil and unhospitable, and was not attracted to his manner of living. Neither
did he like being elbowed step by step out of the hunting ground which for
generations had belonged to his fathers. The white man despised the Indian
as a heathen and was contemptuous of his rights. He regarded him as a thief
and wished he would keep out of the way. He deemed it “contrary to the laws
of God and man for so much land to be lying idle when so many Christians
needed it.” But notwithstanding the sources of distrust, the tribesmen were
in a general way friendly until 1753. They learned to express themselves in
English, and it is significant that they became very familiar with terms of
insult and profanity. In their own languages there were no “cuss words,” and
they did not comprehend the real nature of them.

The first clash between the settler and the aborigine took place near the
mouth of North River, December 18, 1742. Our information as to the cause
itself is meager and obscure. The current account is the one written by Judge
Samuel McDowell, sixty-five years after the time of the tragedy. But the judge
was only seven years old when it occurred, and the most definite impression
made on his mind was the sight of the lifeless bodies of his father and the other
men who were killed, after they had been brought to Timber Ridge for burial.
In a practical sense, his knowledge of the matter was derived from older persons
and not until he had reached a mature age.

The judge relates that thirty-three Iroquois came into the Borden tract on
their way to fight the Catawbas, and gave the settlers some trouble. They were
entertained a day by Captain McDowell, who plied them with whiskey. They
then went down South River, lay in camp seven or eight days, hunted, took what
they wished, scared the women, and shot horses running at large. Complaint
being made, Colonel Patton ordered McDowell to call out his militia company,
and conduct the Indians beyond the settled area. McDowell took about thirty-
four men, these being all the county could furnish. Meanwhile, the Iroquois
moved farther southward. McDowell overtook them and conducted them be-
yond Salling’s, then the farthest plantation. One Indian was lame and fell
behind, all but one of the militia passing him. This man fired upon the native
as he went into the woods. The native then raised the war-cry, and the fight
was on. The Indians at length gave way, took to the Blue Ridge, and followed
it to the Potomac. Seventeen of them were killed, several others died on the
retreat, and only ten got home. Of the militia, the killed were eight or nine.
Jacob Anderson, Charles Hays, Joseph Lapsley, Solomon Moffett, and Richard
Woods were in the battle.

Another and more trustworthy version is that which was unearthed by Mr.
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Charles E. Kemper from the colonial records of Pennsylvania and New York.
This account states that Colonel Patton reached the battlefield three hours after
the fight. He wrote that very day to the governor of Virginia, reciting the
particulars and asking his intervention to avert a war. That official wrote
to the governor of New York, inclosing Patton’s letter. This letter recounts
that the Indians had appeared in the settlements in a hostile manner, commit-
ting the annoyances already spoken of ; that on coming up with them, McDowell
and Buchanan sent forward a man with a signal of peace, upon whom the Indians
fired, precipating a fight that lasted forty-five minutes. Eleven whites were
killed and others wounded, and eight or ten Indians were killed. The governor of
New York sent an agent to see the Iroquois, who claimed the Valley of Virginia
by right of conquest. The Indians were restive and the authorities were appre-
hensive of trouble. The governor of Pennsylvania undertook to act as medi-
ator. An Indian who was in the fight told him his party consisted of thirty-two
Onondagas and seven Oneidas. They were treated well while passing through
Pennsylvania, but in Virginia they were given nothing to eat and had to kill a
hog once in a while. As they went up the Valley they were several times
interferred with by the whites, but avoided difficulties with them. They rested a
day and two nights near the spot where the fight took place. On resuming
their march, some of the militia, riding horseback, fired on two boys but did not
hit them. The Indian leader told his men not to fire because of the white flag.
But the whites fired again, killing two of the party. The chief then ordered
an attack, and the Indians fought with tomahawks at close quarters. Two of
their number were killed and five wounded. The whites were worsted, ten of
them being killed. Ten of the Indians went up the river to the mountains, and
were pursued to the Potomac, barely escaping with their lives. The mediator
ruled that the whites were the aggressors, and by way of reparation Governor
Gooch paid the Iroquois 100 pounds. The trouble was finally adjusted by the
treary of Lancaster in 1744, the Iroquois then renouncing their claim to Virginia.
In a suit for slander brought by James McDowell against Benjamin Borden,
Jr., and which was decided in favor of the defendant, there is an obscure allusion
to the responsibility for the affair. According to McDowell, Borden applied
these words to him, August 17, 1747: “Thou art a rogue and a murdering villain
and I can prove it. * * * He is a murderer and brought the Indians upon
the settlement.” Thirteen claims for losses by the Indians were presented in the
February court of 1746. Among the claimants were Isaac Anderson, Domick
Berrall, Joseph Coakton, Henry Kirkham, Joseph Lapsley, John Mathews,
Francis McCown, John Walker, James Walker, and Richard Woods.
The following is the roster of John McDowell’s company. Not all these
men were in the battle:
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Aleson, John; Beaker, Hen; Campbell, Gilbert; Campbell, James; Cares, John; Corier,
John; Cunningham, Hugh; Cunningham, James; Dredin, David; Finey, James; Finey,
Michael; Gray, John; Hall, William; Hardiman, James; Kirkham, Hen; Lapsley, Joseph;
Long, ; Long, ; Mason, Loromer; Matthews, John; McClewer, Alexander;
McClewer, Holbert; McClewer, John; McClure, Alexander; McClure, Moses; McCowen,
Fran; McDowell, Ephraim; McDowell, James; McKnab, Andrew; McKnab, John; McKnab,
Patt; McRoberts, Samuel; Miles, William; Miless, John; Miller, Michael; Moore, James;
Patterson, Edward; Patterson, Erwin; Quail, Charles; Rives, David; Saley, John Peter;
Taylor, Thomas; Whiteside, Thomas; Wood, Richard; Wood, Samuel; Wood, William;
Young, Robert; Young, Matthew.

The French and Indian war broke out in 1754, and continued, so far as the
Indians were concerned, until 1760. The advance line of settlement had passed
the Alleghany divide, and the greatest havoc was in the valleys along the frontier.
A local cause for the outbreak was the outrage at Anderson’s barn on Middle
River. The date is not exactly known, but seems to be the month of June,
1753, or possibly 1754. Twelve Indians were returning from a raid against
the Cherokees, and lodged with John Lewis near Staunton. Some men were
present whose families or friends had suffered some loss at the hands of the
natives. A beef was killed and whiskey provided. The guests were induced
to stay till nightfall and give one of their dances. After they left they were
followed in the darkness to Anderson’s barn, where all but one were mur-
dered. For this act of treachery in a time of at least nominal peace, a heavy
toll of vengeance was exacted. The colonial government sought to punish the
perpetrators, but the effort was ineffectual. One of the faults of the Ulstermen
was their propensity to make trouble with the “heathen.”

The Rockbridge area was by no means safe from attack, and there were
several blockhouses for the protection of the people. William Patton mentions
a stockade at Alexander McClary’s, a mile and a half from his home, and says
there were several others in the Borden grant. One of these must have been the
Bell house, which is still standing and occupied. It is about two miles south of
Raphine and very near a branch. Another was a log structure on Walker’s
Creek, used as a dwelling until a recent date. The floor was of walnut puncheons.
The roof, which was too steep to scale, fell in during the winter of 1917-18.
In several other instances, the pioneer blockhouse still exists, with widened
windows and some other alteration, or the logs have been used in a building of
later design. In all instances, the walls and doors were bullet-proof against the
weapons of that age, the windows were too narrow for a man to crawl through,
and there were loopholes in the walls. The loophole was cut in the shape of
the letter X, so that a considerable breadth of vision might be commanded by
the gua pointed through the opening. A spring or other water supply was always
within easy distance. In some instances the water was reached through a
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covered way, which was practically a narrow tunnel, high enough for a person
to pass through. The Indian was unwilling to storm a blockhouse. The cost
might be severe, and the defenders were comparatively safe from his bullets.
So he endeavored to gain his end by stealth or strategem, and when he did make
an attack it was usually by night. If he could set fire to the roof he did so.

A council of war held at Staunton, May 20, 1756, mentions that “the greatest
part of the able-bodied single men of this county is now on duty on our frontiers,
and there must continue until they are relieved by forces from other parts.”
Sitting on this council were these captains: Joseph Culton, John Moor, Joseph
Lapsley, Robert Bratton, James Mitchell, and Samuel Norwood.

The only conspicuous raids belonging to this period were the occurrences
in the Renick settlement and the first foray into the valley of Kerr’s Creek. The
latter will be spoken of in connection with the second.

The date of the attack on the Renick house is July 25, 1757. A party of
Shawnees, said to have been sixty in number but probably much fewer, came
through Cartmill Gap to Purgatory Creek, where they killed Joseph Dennis
and his child, and took prisoner his wife, Hannah. They also killed Thomas
Perry. Then they went to the house of Robert Renick, where they captured
Mrs. Renick, her four sons, and a daughter. The next blow was at Thomas
Smith’s, where they killed both Renick and Smith, and took away Mrs. Smith and
her servant, Sally Jew. George Mathews, Audley Maxwell, and William Max-
well,* who then were young men, were on their way to Smith’s, and thought a
shooting match was in progress. As soon as they saw the bodies of the two
men, they wheeled their horses about, and the four bullets fired at them at the
same instant did no other harm than to wound Audley Maxwell slightly and
take off the club of Mathews’ queue. One party of the Indians started away
with the prisoners and booty, and the others went to Cedar Creek. An alarm
was given and the people of the neighborhood gathered at Paul’s stockade near
the site of Springfield. The women and children were left with a guard of
six men, while George Mathews went in pursuit with a force of twenty-one
men. He overtook and fought the enemy, but the night was wet and dark,
and the foe got away. Next morning nine dead Indians were found on the
battleground and were buried. Benjamin Smith, Thomas Maury, and a Mr.
Jew were killed, and were buried in the meadow of Thomas Cross near Spring-
field. Mrs. Renick was released a few years later. Her daughter died in cap-
tivity, and her son Joshua became a chief of the Miamis. The other children
returned with their mother. Mrs. Dennis was a woman of much resourcefulness
and determination. She learned the Shawnee tongue, painted as the red men
did, and because of her skill in treating illness she was given much liberty. She

*This name should probably be Paul instead of Maxwell,
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thereby found a chance to escape, crossed the Ohio on a driftwood log, and
made her way back to her frontier home. This was in 1763.

It is very probable that several minor raids took place, no clear recollection
of which has been handed on to the present day. An occurrence can easily
be given a wrong setting by its being accidentally merged with some larger event.
Sometimes a single Indian would go on the warpath for himself, and when the
party was very small only depredations on a small scale were likely to be com-
mitted. There were instances where some white scoundrel would disguise
himself as an Indian and perpetrate an outrage. Such may be the explanation
of the tragedy at the home of John Mathews, Jr., the nature of which recalls
the Pettigrew horror of 1846. Sampson Mathews miade oath that his brother
John, with his wife and their six children, were burned to death in their house.
A neighbor named Charles Godfrey Milliron was arrested on suspicion and held
for trial at the capital. We do not know the result, but Milliron seems to have
been acquited.

An incident which took place in Botetourt is worthy of mention here.
Robert Anderson and his son William—grandfather to William A. Anderson of
Lexington—went to a meadow to look after some livestock, and passed the
night in a log shelter, the door of which could be strongly barred. Before morn-
ing Mr. Anderson woke up and roused his son, telling him the animals were
restless and that he feared Indians were near. Bear oil and cabin smoke gave
the redskins an odor that was quickly noticed by domestic animals. Voices were
presently heard, and father and son held their weapons in readiness for an
emergency. The prowlers tried the door, and seeing it did not readily yield,
they used the pole as a battering ram, but without visible effect. Much to the
relief of the persons within they then desisted and went away. In the morning
it was seen that another blow would have forced the door.

The red terror threatened to depopulate the Valley of Virginia and the
settlements beyond. Writing in 1756, the Reverend James Maury makes this
observation: “Such numbers of people have lately transported themselves into
the more Southerly governments as must appear incredible to any except such
as have had an opportunity of knowing it. By Bedford courthouse in one week,
’tis said, and I believe, truly said, near 300 inhabitants of this Colony past on their
way to Carolina. From all the upper counties, even those on this side of the
Blue Hills, great numbers are daily following.”

What is known as the Pontiac war broke out very suddenly in June, 1763,
and continued more than a year. It was a concerted effort, on the part of a con-
federacy of tribes, to sweep the whites out of the country beyond the Alle-
ghanies. To a band of Shawnees was assigned the task of operating in the
Rockbridge latitude. Their first blow completely destroyed the Greenbrier set-
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tlements, and their next attention was given to Jackson’s River and the Cow-
pasture. Thence a party crossed Mill and North mountains to devastate the
valley of Kerr’s Creek.

There were two raids into this locality and there has been some doubt as to
their chronological sequence. That one of them took place July 17, 1763, is evi-
dent. There is agreement as to the day and month of the other event; October
10th. Samuel Brown says the second raid occurred two years after the first,
and he places it in 1765. In this he is followed doubtfully by Waddell in his
Annals of Augusta. Mr. Brown wrote his account a long while ago, and
when people were living whose knowledge of the massacres was very direct.
Nevertheless, he is in error. His informants were confused in their récollection
of dates.

The record books of Augusta contain no hint of any Indian trouble in the
fall of 1764 or 1765. A raid of serious proportions would have constituted a
renewal of the Pontiac war, and further military events would be on record in
frontier history. But in 1759 and 1760 the number of wills admitted to record,
the number of settlements of estates, and the number of orphan children put
under guardianship is deeply significant. However, our evidence is more con-
clusive. In the suit of Thomas Gilmore against George Wilson, recorded Novem-
ber 19, 1761, the plaintiff makes this declaration: “During the late war the
Indians came to the plantation where plaintiff lived, and after killing his father
and mother, robbed them and plaintiff of almost everything they had. * * *
Defendant and several others pursued the Indians several days and retook
great part of the things belonging to the plaintiff. The inhabitants of Car’s Creek,
the plaintiff not being one of them, offered to any persons that would go after
the Indians and redeem the prisoners, they should have all plunder belonging
to them.” The records further tell us that John Gilmore was dead in 1759 and
that Thomas Gilmore was his executor. We may therefore affirm that the
earlier raid occurred October 10, 1759, and the later, July 17, 1763.

We now proceed to relate the two occurrences, as the particulars have
been given to us.

With respect to the first there was a forewarning. Two Telford boys,
returning from school, reported seeing a naked man near their path. Little serious
thought seems to have been given to the matter. A few weeks later, twenty-
seven Indians were counted from a bluff near the head of the creek. The war
party first visited the home of Charles Dougherty and killed the whole family.
The wife and a daughter of Jacob Cunningham were the next victims. The girl,
ten years of age, was scalped, but made a partial recovery. Four Gilmores and
five of the ten members of Robert Hamilton’s family were afterward slain.
The Indians did not go any farther. Accounts differ as to whether any pris-
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oners were taken by them. They killed twelve persons, and according to one
statement, thirteen were carried away.

With his usual promptness and energy, Charles Lewis, of the Cowpasture,
took the lead in raising three companies of militia, one headed by himself, the
others by John Dickenson and William Christian. The Indians were overtaken
near the head of Back Creek in Highland County. It was decided to attack at
three points. Two men sent in advance were to fire if they found the enemy
had taken alarm. They came upon two of the enemy, one leading a horse,
the other holding a buck upon it. To avoid discovery the scouts fired and
Christian’s company charged with a yell. The other companies were not quite up
and the Indians escaped with little loss. However, they were overhauled on
Straight Fork, four miles below the West Virginia line, their camp being re-
vealed by their fire. All were killed except one, and the cook’s brains were scat-
tered into his pot. Their carrying poles were seen here many years later, and
ancient guns have been found. In the first engagement the loot was recovered,
and it was sold for $1,200.

On the second visitation the Indians were in greater force, and made their
approach more cautiously. They concealed themselves a day or two at a spring
near the head of Kerr’s Creek. But moccasin tracks were noticed in a cornfield,
and some men detected the camp from a hill. A rumor had come to the settle-
ment that Indians were approaching, but there was little uneasiness. It is
nearly certain that the savages first seen were an advance party, and that this
was waiting for a reénforcement. Another probable motive for delay in an
attack was to scare the settlers into gathering at some rendezvous, so that they
might be fallen upon in a mass. If such was the purpose it was accomplished.
The people flocked to the blockhouse of Jonathan Cunningham at Big Spring.

Meanwhile the house of John McKee was attacked and Mrs. McKee was
killed. There are differing accounts of this incident. According to Alexander
Bane, Mr. McKee started with his wife and a dog to reach a wooded hill. Their
children were at Timber Ridge. Because of her condition, Mrs. McKee was
unable to walk fast, and she insisted that her husband should go on and effect
his own escape. Before doing so, he hid her in a sinkhole filled with bushes
and weeds, but the barking dog betrayed the place of concealment. After the
redskins had gone on, she was taken to the house, where she soon died. This
statement is challenged by the author of The McKees of Virginia and Kentucky.
He construes it as a reflection on John McKee’s courage and his duty to his wife.
He says that some of the settlers did not like this pioneer for his bluntness, and
that they set afloat a garbled version of the facts. The author of the book
prefers to believe that John McKee had gone to a neighbor’s to look after some
sick children, and finding on his return that his wife was scalped, he took her




STRIFE WITH THE RED MAN 71

to the house. Be this as it may, the murder could not have occurred in the
first raid, as some statements affirm. The family Bible gives July 17, 1763, as
the date of Mrs. McKee’s death.

We must now return to the assemblage at Big Spring. A number of the
people of the valley were attending a meeting at Timber Ridge, the day being
Sunday. Those gathered at Cunningham’s were in a field, saddling their horses
in great haste, in order to join their friends at the meeting house. The secreted
foe seized the coveted moment to cut them off from the blockhouse. The
scene which followed was witnessed by Mrs. Dale from a covert on a high
point. When the alarm reached her she mounted a stallion colt that had never
been ridden, but which proved as gentle as could be desired. The foe was gain-
ing on her, and she dropped her baby into a field of rye. In some manner she
afterwards eluded the pursuers, but was too late to reach the blockhouse. A
relief party found the baby lying unhurt where it had been left. Such is the
story, but it is more probable that the mother recovered the child herself after
the raiders had gone away.

While the saddling was going on two men started up the creek to reconnoiter,
but were shot down, as were also two young men who went to their aid. The
onslaught of the foe was immediate, and each redskin singled out his victim.
Mrs. Dale said the massacre made her think of boys knocking down chickens
with clubs. Some tried to hide in the big pond or in thickets of brush or weeds.
All who attempted to resist were cut down. Cunningham himself was killed
and his house was burned. There is no record that the Indians suffered any
loss.

According to Samuel Brown, sixty to eighty persons were killed in the
two Kerr’s Creek raids, and twenty-five to thirty carried away. This is an
overstatement. William Patton, who was at Big Spring the day after the
massacre, helping to bury the dead, says these were seventeen in number. He
adds that the burial party was attacked. Among the prisoners, according to
Mr. Brown, were Mrs. Jenny Gilmore, her two daughters, and a son named
John; James, Betsy, Margaret, and Henry Cunningham; and three Hamiltons,
Archibald, Marian, and Mary. One of the Cunninghams was the girl scalped
in the first raid. She returned from captivity and lived about forty years after-
ward, but the wound finally developed into a cancerous affection. According
to a rather sentimental sketch in one of the county papers, Mary Hamilton was
among the killed, and John McCown, her lover, died two years later of a broken
heart and was buried by her side at Big Spring. Mr. Waddell says she had a
baby in her arms when she was captured. She threw the infant into the
weeds, and when she returned from the Indian country she found its bones
where she had left it,



72 A HISTORY OF ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY, VIRGINIA

Mention has been made of a meeting at Timber Ridge the day of the sec-
ond massacre. A rumor of the attack reached the congregation at the noon
recess, but little was thought of it, since similar alarms had often been given.
But an express arrived when the second service was beginning. There was
immediate confusion and speedy flight. Some of the Kerr’s Creek families sought
safety in the Blue Ridge.

On the afternoon of the second tragedy, the Indians returned to their camp
on North Mountain, where they drank the whiskey found at Cunningham’s still.
They became too intoxicated to have put up a good resistance to an assault.
Yet they had little to fear, as there was a general panic throughout the Rockbridge
area. Next day two Indians went back, either to see if they were pursued or
to look for more liquor. It seems to have been on this occasion when Mrs. Dale
saw them shoot at a man who ventured to ride up the valley. When he wheeled
they clapped their hands and shouted. This incident constituted the attack men-
tioned by William Patton. During the march to the Shawnee towns, the Indians
brained a fretful child and threw the baby on the shoulders of a young girl who
was killed next day. At another time, the prisoners were made to pass under
an infant pierced by a stake and held over them. On still another occasion,
while some of the prisoners were drying a few leaves of the New Testament for
the purpose of preserving them, a savage rushed up and threw them into the
camp fire. When the column arrived at the Scioto, the captives were ironically
called upon to sing a hymn. Mrs. Gilmore responded by singing Psalm 137 as
she had been wont to do at Timber Ridge. It is related that she had stood over
the corpse of her husband, fighting desperately and knocking a foeman down.
Another Indian rushed up to tomahawk the woman, but his comrade said she was
a good warrior, and made him spare her. She and her son were redeemed, but
she never knew what became of her daughters. Several other captives were also
returned.

Some account of the massacres on Kerr’s Creek was related many years
afterward by Mrs. Jane Stevenson. She was then living in Kentucky, and her
story was reduced to writing by John D. Shane, a minister. Mrs. Stevenson,

was born November 15, 1750, speaks of a girl four months older than

elf taken at the age of seven years and held until the Bouquet delivery in

}. The children had gone out with older companions to gather haws, and

narrator escaped capture only by not going so far as the others. At the first

an aunt who had two children escaped into the woods, the Indians going

n the river. But on the second occasion, this aunt and her three children were

n and an uncle and a cousin were killed. Two of the children died in cap-

y, but the aunt and the third child were restored. In this second raid Mrs.

enson thinks the Indians “had the ground all spied out,” and followed a
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prearranged program. She says they “came in like racehorses,” and in two
bours killed or captured sixty-three persons. One of the prisoners was James
Milligan. He escaped on Gauley Mountain and reported having counted 450
captives, as the total collected in the entire raid. Two small boy-captives were
James Woods and James McClung, and after their return they had the condi-
tion of their ears recorded in the clerk’s office at Staunton. Cropping the
human ear was in those days a form of punishment, and the person who had
an ear mutilated by accident or in a fight went before the county court to have
the fact certified, so as not to be regarded as an ex-convict.

Mrs. Stevenson was a daughter of James Gay, who lived seven miles from
Kerr’s Creek. Her mother, whose maiden name was Jean Warwick, was killed
by the Indians about 1759. Mrs. Stevenson relates that the adult male mem-
bers of the Providence congregation “carried their guns to meeting as regular as
the congregation went.” Alexander Crawford was killed about fifteen miles from
the meeting house in the direction of Staunton. The narrator says that when
“the Indians took Kerr’s Creek settlement a second time they were greatly bad,”
and that it “almost seemed as though they would make their way to Williams-
burg.” They “shot the cows mightily with bows and arrows.” She moved to
Greenbrier in 1775, “where there was never a settlement of kinder people,”
these being “great for dancing and singing.” But her statement that William
Hamilton and Samuel McClung were the only Greenbrier settlers who were “not
Dutch and half-Dutch,” cannot be correct at all, unless true of the particular
locality where these men settled. It is also to be remembered that she was not
yet grown at the time of the doings on Kerr’s Creek. As for Milligan, he must
have been able to see more than double in order to count 450 prisoners led away
by probably not more than one-fifth as many warriors.

It is not known that the settlers on Kerr’s Creek had themselves given cause
to make their valley a special mark for Indian vengeance. The native venerated
the home of his forefathers, and would make a long and perilous journey for
no other purpose than to gaze upon a spot known to him only in boyhood or
perhaps only by tradition. It may have been resentment, pure and simple, that
led him to visit his fury upon the palefaces who had crowded him out of a
choice portion of his hunting grounds. So it is not to be wondered at that
the children attending Bunker Hill schoolhouse near Big Spring had a super-
stitious horror of the field where the massacre took place.

The treaty which ended the Pontiac war stipulated that the Indians should
return their white captives, and these were delivered to Colonel Bouquet in
November, 1764. However, there were instances where the return did not
take place until some time later. According to William Patton, the foray of
1763 was the last that took place on Rockbridge soil. Yet in the Dunmore war,
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and in the hostilities that continued intermittently from 1777 to 1795, there was
always the possibility of still other incursions. The Indian peril was forever
removed from Rockbridge by the treaty of Greenville, in 1795, which was secured
by General Wayne’s victory in the battle of the Fallen Timbers.

The Dunmore war of 1774 was caused by the extension of white settle-
ment into the valley of the Ohio. It was waged between the Virginia militia and
a confederacy headed by the Shawnees. Rockbridge men served in the companies
from Augusta and Botetourt, and helped to gain the memorable victory of Point
Pleasant.

We find only one recorded instance where an Indian was held in slavery in
Rockbridge. This was in 1777, and is mentioned in Chapter VII.

It is said that several of the family names on Kerr’s Creek were blotted out
as a result of the scenes in 1759 and 1763. The record-books for 1758-60 indi-
cate an exceptional mortality in the Rockbridge area. We append to this chap-
ter some names that appear to belong to this region, but we do not know that
violence was the cause of all the deaths indicated.

Jacob Cunningham—will probated March 18, 1760.

Isaac Cunningham—died 1760*—Jean, administrator.

Benjamin, orphan of John Gray—1760.

Samuel, orphan of Alexander McMurty, becomes ward of Matthew Lyle, 1759.
James McGee—will probated August 20, 1759—Erwin Patterson, administrator.
Robert Ramsay—will probated November 21, 1759—Robert Hall, administrator.
James Rogers—died 1760*—Ann Rogers administratrix with Walter Smiley on her bond.
James Stephenson—died 1760*.

Thomas Thompson—died 1760.*

John Winyard—will probated, November 15, 1758—Barbara, executor.

Samuel Wilson—died 1760*.

James Young—died 1760.

An episode made much note of in the pioneer history of Kentucky and
Tennessee is the story of the “Long Hunters” of 1769-1772. Some writers
throw doubt on the narrative, yet it seems founded on fact. From a con-
cordance of the various accounts, it would appear that in June, 1769, a party of
over twenty men, several of whom were from Rockbridge, started from Reedy
Creek on an extended hunting trip in the valley of the Cumberland. They
found a grassy prairie and plenty of game. No Indians were found living in
that region, although there were numerous Indian graves. In June, 1770,
several of the hunters returned, the others building boats and floating down to
Natchez on the Mississippi, where they sold their cargo. A portion of the
party remained there and settled, the others returning by way of Georgia. In
the fall of 1771, a party of twenty-two went out again. At least five of these

*The date is that of record. The person may have died in 1759.
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were members of the first party. This second party was so successful that it
could not take back all its pelts, and a portion was deposited in a “skin-house”
in what is now Greene county, Kentucky. Ammunition ran low, and all but
five returned the next February. One of the five fell ill, and a comrade took
him to the settlements. Two of the remaining three of the camp guard were
captured by Indians. The seventeen returned after about three months, and
continued to hunt and explore, some of the names they gave to certain localities
enduring to the present day. Late in the summer of 1772 their camp was plun-
dered by Cherokees at a time when they were absent from it, but hunting con-
tinued till the end of the season. The only names we can certainly identify as
belonging to Rockbridge are those of Robert Crockett and James Graham, of
the Calfpasture. Another member was James Knox, who lived at the mouth
of the Bullpasture and finally settled in-Kentucky. The claim is made with
much show of reason that it was this James Knox, and not General Knox, of
Washington’s army, for whom Knoxville in Tennessee is named. Crockett,
who lost his life during the first expedition, is said to have been the first white
man killed in that state. The wives of Governor Bramlette and Senator J. C. S.
Blackburn, of Kentucky, were granddaughters of Graham.



IX

ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY ESTABLISHED

New CouNTiEs—AcT OF ASSEMBLY—THE CORNSTALK AFFAIR—ANNALS oF 1778-1783

The house that John Lewis built near the site of Staunton in the summer
of 1732 was not within the recognized limits of any county. Until 1744 the
Blue Ridge was the treaty line between paleface and redskin. The first county
organization to cross that barrier was Spottsylvania, which became effective in
1721. Yet it came only to the South Fork of the Shenandoah, one extremity
of the line touching the river in the vicinity of Elkton, the other about midway
between Front Royal and Bentonville. Orange was created in 1734, and
organized in 1735. It was defined as extending westward to the uttermost
limit claimed by Virginia. Four years later, the portion of Orange west of
the Blue Ridge was divided into the counties of Frederick and Augusta by a line
running from the source of the Rapidan to the Fairfax Stone at the source of
the North Branch of the Potomac. The present boundary between Rockingham
and Shenandoah is a portion of this line.

During the westward march of population in Virginia, the practical area
of a county has always been co-extensive with its settled portion. The fact that
Augusta once extended potentially to the Mississippi, did not mean that a jury-
man might have to travel hundreds of miles to attend court. When the first
division of Augusta took place in 1769, probably not less than three-fourths of
the inhabitants were living within a radius of fifty miles around Staunton. Of
the other fourth, nearly all were within a few miles of a trail leading from
Buchanan to Abingdon.

The first county to be set off from Augusta was Botetourt, which became
effective January 31, 1770. The line separating it from the parent county is thus
described in a report by James Trimble, the surveyor :

Beginning at two Chestnuts and a Black Oak on the South Mountain by a Spring of
Pealer Creek on Amherst Line and running thence 55 degrees West 4 Miles 240 Poles to a
Spanish Oak marked AC on the one Side and BC on the Other Side where the South
River or Mary’s Creek empties into the North Branch of James River, and up the North
River to Kerr’s Creek and up Kerr’s Creek to the Fork of the said Creek at Gilmore’s Gap.
Then beginning at a chestnut and three Chestnut Oaks and a Pine at the upper Fork of
Kerr’s Creek and runneth the same Course to wit North 55 degrees West, 23 and one-
half miles, Crossing the Cowpasture in Donally’s Place at a Large Poplar on the River
marked AC and BC.

The course beginning on the top of North Mountain continued to the
Ohio, which it touched a little below Parkersburg. It is an exact parallel to the
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present line between Rockbridge and Augusta. It does not appear that the sur-
veying of this line was ever carried beyond the summit of the Allleghany Divide.
The cost of the survey by Trimble was $37.15.

From this old boundary between Augusta and Botetourt, the airline distance
to Fincastle does not vary much from thirty-five miles, and is slightly less than
the distance to Staunton. To the people of the present Rockbridge area, the
journey to a courthouse in 1777 was not excessively long. The need for a new
county was very much less than in the case of Rockingham or Greenbrier, all
three of these counties being authorized by the same Act of Assembly, which was
" passed at the October session of 1777. The sections relating to Rockbridge are
these:

Section Three. And be it further enacted, That the remaining portion of the said
counties and parishes of Augusta and Botetourt be divided into three counties and parishes,
as follows, to wit, by a line beginning on the top of Blue Ridge near Steele’s mill, and run-
ning thence north 55 degrees west, passing the said mill, and crossing the North Mountain
to the top, and the mountain dividing the waters of the Calfpasture from the waters of the
Cowpasture, and thence along the said mountain, crossing Panther’s Gap, to the line that
divides the counties of Augusta and Botetourt, and that the remaining part of the county
of Botetourt be divided, by a line beginning at Audley Paul’s, running thence south, 55
degrees east, crossing James River to the top of the Blue Ridge, thence along the same,
crossing James River, to the beginning of the aforesaid line dividing Augusta county, then
beginning again at the said Audley Paul's, and running north 55 degrees west till the said
course shall intersect a line to run south 45 degrees west, from the place where the ahove
line dividing Augusta terminated. And all other parts of the said parishes of Augusta and
Botetourt included within the said lines shall be called and known by the name of Rock-
bridge.

Section 4. (A court for Rockbridge, first Tuesday of every month, the first court to
be held at the house-of Samuel Wallace. The justices, or a majority of them, being present
and duly sworn, shall fix on a place as near the center as the situation and convenience shall
admit, and proceed to erect the necessary public buildings).

Section 5. (Making it lawful for the governor with the advice of the Council to
appoint the first sheriff.)

Section 6. And be it further enacted, that at the place which shall be appointed for
holding court in the said county of Rockbridge, there shall be laid off a town to be
called Lexington, 1300 feet in length and 900 in width. And in order to make satisfaction
to the proprietors of the said land, the clerk of the said county shall by order of the
justices issue a writ directed to the sheriff commanding him to summon twelve able and
discreet freeholders to meet in the said land on a certain day, not under five nor more than
ten days from the date, who shall upon oath value the said land, in so many parcels as there
shall be separate owners, which valuation the said sheriff shall return, under the hands and
seals of the said jurors, to the clerk’s office, and the justices, at levying their first county
levy, shall make provision for paying the said proprietors their respective portions thereof,
and the property of the said land shall on the return of such valuation, become vested in
the Justices and their successors, one acre thereof to be reserved for the use of said
county, and the residue to be sold and conveyed by the said justices to any persons, and the



78 A HISTORY OF ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY, VIRGINIA

money arising from such sale shall be applied towards lessening the county levy; and the
public buildings for the said county shall be erected on the lands reserved, as aforesaid.

Section 7. (Relates to suits and petitions now depending. Dockets of such to be made
out in Augusta and Botetourt.)

Section 8. (No appointment of clerk of the peace, nor of place for holding court,
unless a majority of the justices be present.) )

(Another section dissolves the vestry of Augusta, and instructs the inhabitants of
Augusta, Botetourt, Rockbridge, Rockingham, and Greenbrier to meet at places appointed
by their sheriffs before May 1, 1778, to elect twelve able and discreet persons as a vestry
for each county.)*

The boundaries of Rockbridge, as set forth in the above act, have since
undergone but one change. In October, 1785, all the county west of the top of
Camp Mountain was annexed to Botetourt.

There is a belief that the killing of Cornstalk at Point Pleasant led to the
establishment of Rockbridge. The perpetrators of that deed were some of the
Rockbridge militia, and as there was an attempt to punish them, the trial would
have been at the county seat of Greenbrier. The erection of a new county would
insure a trial among friends and not among strangers. But the killing of Corn-
stalk took place November 11, 1777. It would have taken several weeks for the
news to reach Williamsburg and for a movement to take shape in Rockbridge
which would bear fruit in legislative action. The act authorizing Rockbridge *
had been passed in October of the same year.

Nevertheless, the event should have mention in this chapter.

The Shawnees, “the Arabs of the New World,” were a small but valiant
tribe dwelling on the lower Scioto. In mental power they stood much above the
average level of the red race, and it was an ordinary occurrence for a member
of the tribe to be able to converse in five or six languages, including English
and French. According to the Indian standard, the Shawnees were generous
livers, and their women were superior housekeepers. They were so conscious of
their prowess that they held in contempt the warlike ability of other Indians. It
was their boast that they caused the white people ten times as much loss as they
received.

At the time of which we write, the most eminent war-leader among the
Shawnees was Cornstalk. It is not probable that he headed the band that struck
Kerr’s Creek in 1759, although the warriors may have been of his people. We
do know, however, that he was the leader in the terrible raid of 1763. Within
a few days his band blotted out the settlements on the Greenbrier, won a
victory over two companies of militia at Falling Springs in Alleghany county,

*The first vestry for Rockbridge included James Buchanan, Charles Campbell, Samuel
McDowell, John Gilmore, John Lyle, Samuel Lyle, Major William Paxton, Alexander Stuart,
and John Trimble.



ROCKBRIDGE COUNTY ESTABLISHED 79

raided the valleys of Jackson’s River and the Cowpasture, and then crossed
Mill Mountain to work still further havoc on Kerr’s Creek. With slight loss to
themselves, they killed, wounded, or carried away probably more than 100 of
the whites. At Point Pleasant, the Shawnees were the backbone of the Indian
army, and Cornstalk was its general-inchief. It was only because of loose dis-
cipline in the camp that the Virginians were not taken by surprise. Technically,
the battle was little else than a draw. Cornstalk effected an unmolested retreat
across the Ohio, after inflicting a loss much heavier than his own. But his men
were discouraged and gave up the campaign. Cornstalk was not in favor of the
war, but was overruled by his tribe. During the short peace that followed, he
from time to time returned to Fort Randolph at Point Pleasant horses and
cattle that had been lost by the whites or stolen from them.

In 1777 the Shawnees were again restless. They had been worked upon
by British emissaries and white renegades. Cornstalk came with a Delaware and
one other Indian and visited Fort Randolph under what was virtually a fiag
of truce. He warned Captain Arbuckle, the commandant, of the feeling of the
tribesmen. His mission was an effort to avert open hostilities. According to
the Indian standard, Cornstalk was an honorable foe, and he knew he ran a
risk in putting himself in the power of the whites. Arbuckle thought it proper
to detain the Indians as hostages. One day, while Cornstalk was drawing a
map on the floor of the blockhouse, to explain the geography of the country
beyond the Scioto, his son Ellinipsico hallooed from the other bank of the Ohio
and was taken across. Soon afterward, two men of Captain William McKee’s
company, a Gilmore and a Hamilton, went over the Kanawha to hunt for turkeys.
Gilmore was killed by some lurking Indian, and his body was carried back. The
spectacle made his comrades wild with rage. They raised the cry of, “Let us
kill the Indians in the fort,” and without taking a second thought they rushed
to the door of the blockhouse. They would not listen to the remonstrances of
Arbuckle, and threatened his life. When the door was forced open, Cornstalk
stood erect before his executioners and fell dead, pierced by seven or eight balls.
His son and his other companions were also put to death. The slain chieftain
was about fifty years of age, large in figure, commanding in presence, and
intellectual in countenance. Good contemporary judges declare that even Patrick
Henry or Richard Henry Lee did not surpass Cornstalk in oratory.

By the people of Kerr’s Creek the raids into their valley were remembered
with horror. Homes had been burned. Families had partially or wholly been
blotted out. Women and children had been tomahawked and scalped. Friends
and relatives had been carried away, and some of these had never returned.
Even at the present day, the scenes of 1759 and 1763 are referred to with more
impatience than is usually found along what was once the frontier.
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The Indian method of making war was unquestionably cruel. The impulses
of the native were those of the primitive man. Like the child, he was sometimes
swept by gusts of passion. Deceit has ever been deemed legitimate in warfare.
The Indian played the game without restraint and was consistent. The white
man assumes to conduct war according to rules suggested by Christian civiliza-
tion and laid down in time of peace. But in time of war he does not live up to
these rules. It had been little more than a century since Cromwell had carried
fire and massacre from one end of Ireland to the other, and with a fury that
would have made Cornstalk “sit up and take notice.” It was within the memory
of living men that the Highlanders of Scotland gave no quarter in their mur-
derous clan fights. It seems instinctive for nations of the Baltic stock to hold
the colored races in contempt. To the frontiersman of America, the Indian
was not only a heathen but an inferior. The comparatively humane treatment
to which he thought the French and the British were entitled, because of their
color, he held himself justified in withholding from the redskin. The practical
effect of this double standard was most unfortunate. It reacted with dire effect
upon the white population. It was more often the white man than the Indian
who was responsible for the cause of border trouble. The Indian’s version is
much less familiar to us than our own.

Despite his proclivity to tomahawk the woman as well as the man, the child
as well as the adult, the Indian in his war-paint was a gentleman when com-
pared with the German soldier in the present war. The latter, who professes
to be a civilized man, wars against the very foundations of a civilization that
the red man knew next to nothing of. The Indian kept his word. He respected
bravery. The children he spared and adopted he loved, and not infrequently
the adult captive was unwilling to return to his own color. Women were never
violated by the Indians of the tribes east of the Mississippi, and when a child
was born in captivity to the white female, the mother was looked after as though
she were one of their own kind.

The deed of Hall’s men at Point Pleasant is a painful incident in Rockbridge
history. It bore the same relation to open warfare, whether civilized or savage,
that a lynching does to a fair trial in a courtroom. There was nothing to show
that Cornstalk had anything to do with the killing of Gilmore, or that the perpe-
trator of that deed was a member of his tribe. Had Cornstalk been a British
officer, his government would have pronounced his murder an inexcusable assassi-
nation, and would have avenged it with the execution of some captive Ameri-
can officer. The plea, which is not confined to the book by Kercheval, that
it was right for the frontiersman to lay aside the restraints of civilization when
dealing with the Indian, would, if it had been used in the present war, been made
a justification for matching German atrocity by allied atrocity. Even at Point
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Pleasant, where we might expect the feeling against the native to be acute, it
was long considered that the town lay under a curse. So late as 1807 it had
only a log courthouse, twenty-one small dwellings, and a few ague-plagued
inhabitants. It now contains a monument to Cornstalk.

Only a few years since, a contributor to one of the Lexington papers
spoke rather harshly of Colonel Roosevelt for mentioning the killing of Corn-
stalk as “one of the darkest stains on the checkered pages of frontier history.”
Roosevelt is no apologist for Indian cruelty. The writer was probably unaware
of the fact that Patrick Henry, who was then governor of this state, denounced
the deed in words that were much more vehement. He regarded it as a blot
on the fair name of Virginia, and announced that so far as he was concerned,
the perpetrators should be sought out and punished. But as will appear later
in this chapter, his efforts were nullified by the friends of the persons responsible.

A sequel to the episode deserves mention. In an attempt to avenge the death
of their chieftain, the Shawnees besieged Fort Randolph in the spring of 1778.
An Indian woman known among the whites as the Grenadier Squaw, and who
was understood to be a sister to Cornstalk, had come to the fort with her
horses and cattle. By going out of the stockade and overhearing the natives she
was able to tell their plans to Captain McKee, then the commandant. McKee
offered a furlough to any two men who would make speed to the Greenbrier
and warn the people. John Insminger and John Logan undertook the perilous
errand, and started out, but not seeing how they could get past the Indians, they
returned the same evening. John Pryor and Philip Hammond then agreed to
go. The Grenadier Squaw painted and otherwise disguised the men, so that
they would look like Indians. The two messengers reached Donally’s fort a
few hours in advance of the Shawnees, and though a severe battle quickly fol-
lowed, the foe was repulsed and the settlement was saved.

We will let the order-book tell the story of the organization of Rockbridge
and relate the local annals during the remnining years of the War for Inde-

pendence.

First court at the house of Samuel Wallace, April 7, 1778. Justices present: Archibald
Alexander, John Bowyer, John Gilmore, Samuel Lyle, Samuel McDowell. Archibald
Alexander qualified as sheriff, Andrew Reid as clerk, John Bowyer as county lieutenant,
and John Gilmore as lieutenant-colonel. Sheriffs bond, 1000 pounds. Next day James
McDowell qualified as surveyor, and the following constables were appointed: Richard
Williams in Captain James Hall’s company; Samuel Wilson in Captain Samuel Wallace’s
company; Robert Robertson in Captain John Paxton’s company; Robert Faris in Captain
John Lyle’s company; William Dryden in Captain David Gray’s company; Isaac Anderson
in Captain Alexander Stuart's company; William McCampbell in Captain John Gilmore’s
old company. John Ward was also made a constable.

Moses Collier was continued as road surveyor from John Thompson’s to David

Logan’s.
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New road surveyors appointed: Andrew Taylor, from North River to Stuart’s store;
Captain John Taylor, from Stuart’s old store to Colonel Samuel McDowell’s; John McClung,
from said McDowell’s to the forks of the road at John McClung’s; Andrew Moore, from
said forks to the county line; James Gilmore, from Buffalo Creek to his own house;
Charles Campbell, from Robert Kirkpatrick’s to the county line; Hugh Barclay, Sr., from
said Gilmore’s to the county line; Samuel McCampbell, from head of Kerr's Creek to
Andrew McCampbell’'s; William McKemy, from Andrew McCampbell’s to ford on North
River; Alexander Tedford, from Robert Kirkpatrick’s to North River; Alexander Willson,
from Captain Charles Campbell’s to Hugh Weir's; Samuel Caruthers, from Buffalo
Creek to the forks of the road above James Gilmore’s.

Captain John Lyle, John Lyle, Henry McClung, and James Lyle, or any three of them,
to view a way from Robert Kirkpatrick’s, by way of Alexander Stuart’s merchant mill, to
Stuart’s store.

April 9—Survey of the town site ordered given in at next sitting.

April 18.—Called court to examine Captain James Hall, bound in recognisance for
felony, the specific charge being the murder of Cornstalk. Hall did not appear.

April 28.—Hall appeared, there were no witnesses for the commonwealth, and he was
acquitted. Hugh Galbraith bound in recognisance on the same charge.

May 5.—No witnesses appeared against Galbraith and he was acquitted.

Thomas Vance appointed road surveyor from the great road below William Sprowl’s
to the other great road near James Thompson’s.

Grand jury: David Gray (foreman), Joseph Moore, Thomas Wilson, William Porter,
Alexander Tedford, David McClure, Samuel McCorkle, William Walker, David McCroskey,
James Patton, Hugh Weir, Doctor Patrick Vance, Andrew Hall, Samuel Paxton.

Citizens appointed to take the lists of tithables: Captain John Gilmore, for his own and
John Paxton’s companies; John Trimble, gentleman, for the companies of William Paxton,
Samuel Wallace, and James Hall; Samuel Lyle, gentleman, for the companies of John Lyle
and David Gray; Alexander Stuart, gentleman, for the Calfpasture and for the companies of
Samuel Steele and James Gilmore; Charles Campbell, gentleman, for his own company and
Andrew Moore's,

Rates to be observed by keepers of ordinaries:

“Hot “diett” with small beer ..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i iiiieeinrenrennens 3 shillings
Cold “diett” with N0 beer ........iiiiiiiiiiii ittt iveiaennrenens 2 shillings
Stablage and hay or fodder for twenty-four hours .............cc.coiiiineiinn, 2 shillings
Good pasturage for twenty-four hours ..................ccu.t. 1 shilling 8 pence per horse

. 1 shilling 3 pence per cow
Lodging with feather bed and clean sheets .............ccoiiiiiiiiininiinennnnnn 1 shilling
Lodging with chaff bed and clean sheets ..............coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirinnnnens 6 pence
Cornper gallon .......ociniiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiirerrataniinainannas 1 shilling 3 pence
Oats per Gallon ......iuiiniieiiiieiieiiioniiieiieaniiioisestinaseesasasnannns 1 shilling

Samuel Wallace granted ordinary license.

May 14—Mary, wife of John Walker, found guilty of uttering words sustaining the
authority of king and parliament. Damage penalty of fifteen and one-half pounds and costs.

May 19.—Malcolm McCown bound on the same charge as in the case of Captain Hall,
and with the same result.

July 7.—Malcolm McCown acquitted on the charge of raising an alarm on Kerr's
Creek.

Mary and Richard, orphans of William Butt, ordered bound.

John Kirkpatrick granted ordinary license.
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Joseph Moore, William Paxton, and John Gilmore, Jr., qualify as justices, John Trimble
as coroner, Harry Innis as attorney, and William Stuart as constable. William Rowan
bound as implicated in the murder of Cornstalk, but with the same result as in the other
instances.

August 5—Samuel Lyle, John Lyle, and Alexander Stuart instructed to let a contract
for a courthouse, the specifications being as follows: twenty feet long, sixteen wide, and ten
in pitch; well-framed, and weatherboarded with feather-edged jlank; roof of lap shingles:
house well floored above and below with pine or oak plank one and one-half inches thick;
two plain wooden doors; two windows of twelve lights each, and shutters; iron hinges for
both doors and windows; house set two feet above the ground on good oak blocks; at one
end of the room a convenient bench for the magistrates to sit on; other benches for jury
and lawyers; a seat and a table for the clerk; the house to be finished in a workmanlike man-
ner by November 1st.

September 1.—John Houston qualifies as justice.

November 3.—John Gay qualifies as justice.

Ordinary license granted to William Alexander and Alexander Stuart.

Presented for selling liquor without license: William Alexander, William Montgomery,
John Lyle, Mary Greenlee, John McClung, John Paul, James Thompson, Jane Lakin, William
Paxton.

November 14.—Christopher Meath and Hannah, his wife, acquitted of stealing some
linen cloth, but thirty lashes on the bare back were ordered for each of the other parties
called up. :

February 13, 1779.—A charge against Catharine Coster of stealing goods worth $110 in
specie was not fully proved, but the circumstances appearing against her, she was ordered
to be given twenty-five lashes on the bare back at the public whipping post and then dis-
charged.

March 2—Michael Bowyer, Esq., qualifies as attorney.

March 3.—William McKee qualifies as justice.

April 6.—James Buchanan qualifies as justice.

April 7—Plan for the new courthouse ordered approved and contract let.

Bastardy charge by M. C against W- J made good.

June 2—John Lyle qualifies as justice.

July 6.—John Greenlee qualifies as justice.

August 3.—John Bowyer, gentleman, qualifies as escheator.

Smith Williamson, Richard Williamson, and Henry Black, having served in Colonel
William Byrd's regiment—in French and Indian war—were each given an order for fifty
acres of the public land.

Robert Edmondson and Abraham Gasden qualify as assessors.

October 5.—John Trimble, Esq., qualifies as assessor.

Isaac Campbell given ordinary license.

Josiah East, who served in Colonel Washington’s regiment, given an order for fifty
acres of public land; the same to Richard Walker, a private in Captain John McNeil's
Grenadiers. William Alexander, a non-commissioned officer of the Second Virginia under
Colonel Byrd, given an order for 200 acres.

James Grigsby and William Brown given ordinary license.

John Bowyer qualifies as sheriff and William McDowell as his deputy.

December 7.—Levy, 2376 pounds, 8 shillings, 6 pence ($7921.42).

Poll tax, $7.00.

March 9, 1780.—Tavern rates: hot dinner, $10; hot breakfast, $8; cold diet, $7; lodging,
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with feather bed, $2; lodging, with chaff bed, $1; corn or oats, per gallon, 44 cents; whiskey,
per gallon, $80. (These sums were in depreciated paper money).

Samuel Wallace allowed $40 for twenty-eight days spent in making roads.

May 2—Samuel Jack presented for saying, “God damn the army to hell.”

June 6—Isaac Campbell, jailor, ordered to be paid $1179. George Kelly allowed $70
for making a table for the clerk and sundry repairs on the courthouse.

June 6.—Lashes, “well laid on,” to the number of twenty-five, were ordered to be
administered to Elizabeth Berry.

John Templeton and Robert Ewing granted tavern license.

December 5—Samuel McDowell, sheriff, protests against the insufficiency of the jail.

Tavern rates: hot dinner, $15; hot breakfact, $12; cold diet, $10; lodging, with feather
bed, $6; lodging, with chaff bed, $2; pasturage for twenty-four hours, $4; corn or oats, per
gallon, $6.

Joseph Walker qualifies as justice.

Jonathan Whitley bound in his own recognisance on a charge of disloyalty.

George Campbell excused from further payment of county levy.

March 7, 1781.—Tavern rates: hot dinner, $20; hot breakfast, $15; cold diet, $12; rum,
per gallon, $200; whiskey, per gallon, $60; all good wines, per gallon, $160.

July 3.—Archibald Stuart qualifies as attorney, Samuel Wallace as lieutenant-colonel.
and William McKee as sheriff. Sheriff’s bond, $5000.

Samuel Lyle and John Caruthers appointed commissioners of the specific tax.

Qctober 2.—James Gilmore given tavern license. '

November 6.~—~Captain John Bowyer presented for preventing men from going on
militia tour when lawfully called.

Samuel Todd, gentleman, allowed $90.42 in specie and two per cent. of the tax for
collecting the specific tax, the rent of storehouses, and finding barrels and packing them
with flour.

December 4—Roger McCormick, servant to Robert Campbell, presented for speaking
disloyal words. No witnesses. Remanded to jail and soon discharged.

January 1, 1782 —View ordered from Samuel Carter’s near the county line to Mc-
Dowell’s.

April 3—Tavern rates: hot dinner, one and one-fourth shilling; hot breakfast, one
shilling; cold diet, one shilling; corn or oats, per gallon, six pence; lodging, with feather
bed, seven and one-half pence; lodging, with chaff bed, four pence; wine, per gallon, fifteen
shillings ; cider, per gallon, one and one-fourth shilling.

May 4.—Samuel Todd qualifies as justice.

October 1.—Robert Eastham ordered to pay John Ramsay, for one day as witness for
Andrew Ramsay and eighty miles travel, 185 pounds of tobacco.

November 5.—James Bailey presented for saying that “the sending of the eighteen
months men was the doing of the damn'd Congress.”

November 8 —Tithables, 1145. Poll tax, sixteen pounds of tobacco. Levy 18,320 pounds
of tobacco ($610.70).

Tavern rates: hot dinner, twenty-five cents; hot breakfast, twenty-two cents; cold diet,
seventeen cents,

January 7, 1783.—Adam, the mulatto bastard of Catharine E———, ordered to be bound
out.

May 6.—William Gray, living near Barclay’s mill, presented for “driving his wagon on
the Sabbath Day,” and Israel C—— presented for having two wives.

November 2—For stealing fodder, Henry Navils ordered to be given twenty lashes.
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THE CALFPASTURE

THE PAsTURES—EARLY SETTLEMENT—THE PATTON AND LEWis SURVEY—PIONEER
HisTory—EMIGRATION

Geographically distinct from the rest of Rockbridge, and not properly a part
of the Valley of Virginia, is the section of the county west of North Mountain
and above the lower Goshen Pass. In the very dawn of settlement it became
known as the Calfpasture, or simply as “the Pastures,” because it already com-
prised a large area of open ground. Its leading watercourses were first known
as “the Great River of the Calfpasture” and “the Little River of the Calfpas-
ture.” It will thus be seen that the valley named the streams and not the
streams the valley. In what manner the names Calfpasture, Cowpasture, and
Bullpasture came into existence is not clearly known. The Cowpasture was
first known as Clover Creek and the Bullpasture as Newfoundland Creek.

Great and Little rivers head in Augusta and Mill Creek in Bath. But the
larger and more important share of the Calfpasture basin lies in this county, and
with respect to the pioneer families it will be treated as a whole. In the timbered
and sparsely peopled valley of Bratton’s Run is the resort of Rockbridge Alum
Springs. At the mouth of Mill Creek is the town of Goshen. A little above
is Panther Gap, utilized by the first railroad to cross the Alleghanies in this
latitude. On Great and Little rivers is a considerable area of low-lying land,
somewhat thin, but otherwise well suited to agriculture.

Why this section of the Pastures should have been included in Rockbridge is
not at this day very obvious. It was doubtless the work of influential men.
We do know that some of the inhabitants did not like being placed in this
county. We also know that when the people of the Bath area began moving
for a new county in 1777, they wished the Calfpasture to be a part of it.
The people of the Pastures seem to have been about evenly divided on that
question.

The author of Annals of Augusta asserts that the Calfpasture was settled
about as early as the country around Staunton, yet offers no evidence in
support of this claim. The records of the parent county, especially the muster
rolls of 1742, do not indicate such early settlement. From another source we
learn that the first settler was Alexander Dunlap, who came in 1743. He was
accompanied by his wife, four children, and an indentured servant, Abraham
Mushaw. At this date there was no settler any farther west. Dunlap’s cabin
stood near the spot now occupied by the Alleghany Inn.
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Next year, James Patton and John Lewis, acting under an order of council,
surveyed a tract nearly fifteen miles long, but nowhere more than about one
and one-eighth miles broad. Their map shows it cross-sectioned into twenty-
three lots. The lower end of the grant included the site of the town of Goshen.
The upper end extended rather to the north of Deerfield. With a single ex-
ception every lot had been entered by some settler. From this circumstance we
may infer that these other people came almost as soon as Dunlap.

The following tabular statement shows consecutively the number of the lot,
the name of the settler, the acreage, the purchase-price—when stated in the
deed—and the early transfers of title. When the deed was issued to a successor
of the original settler, such other name is given in brackets.

Names of consorts are also thus shown:

1. Alexander Dunlap (John Dunlap)—625—$68.69—295 acres sold Robert Dunlap,
1761, for $333.33.

2. William Jameson—170—$20.87.

3. Thomas Gilham—168—$18.86—sold, 1752, by Thomas (Margaret) Gilham to James
Lockridge for same price—resold, 1767, by John Dickenson to William Thompson for $200.

4. Robert Crockett—370—$41.15—sold, 1760, by pioneer’s sons—James (Martha) and
Robert, Jr., (Janet), both of Mecklenburg county, North Carolina—to William Thompson
for $200—295 acres sold by Thompson, 1767, for $166.67.

5. David Davis—290—$29—sold, 1749, by Patton and Lewis to John Poague.

6. Thomas Weems—525—$31.10—sold, 1768, by Thomas (Eleanor) Weems to William
Given for $723.33.

7. Henry Gay—694—$33.39—100 acres sold, 1769, to James Frazier for $33.33.

8. Francis Donelly—266—$30.02.

9. Robert Gay—519—$57.89.

10. Samuel Hodge—449—$47.97.

11. John Miller—316—$70.08—sold by John (Ann) Miller to John Ramsay, 1757.

12. Loftus Pullin—252 (2407)—$26.92—sold to James Shaw, 1760, for $30—sold by
Shaw to John Ramsay, 1768, for $150.

13. Robert Bratton—834—$96.67—400 acres sold to James Bratton, 1771, for $133.33.

14, James Lockridge—280—?—sold by James (Isabella) Lockridge to Andrew Lock-
ridge (son), 1764, for $66.67.

15. John Graham—696—$79.58—150 acres sold to James Graham (son), 1768, for
$16.67.

16. Robert Gwin—544—?—sold by William (Agnes) Gwin to Robert Lockridge, 1766,
for $575.

17. John Preston—1054—$31.15—520 acres sold by William (Susanna) Preston to Mary
Preston, 1762, for $333.33. The same sold by Mary Preston to Robert Lockridge, 1763, for
$366.67. .

18. William Warwick—106—$118.67—sold, 1745, to John Kincaid.

19. James Carlile—600—$65.39—250 acres sold, 1753, to John Carlile, and sold by him,
1762, to Thomas Hughart for $166.67—200 acres sold by John (Mary) Carlisle to Thomas
Adams, 1796, for $391.67.

20. Jacob Clements—457—$51.67—202 acres sold, 1751, by Jacob (Mary) Clements to
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John Campbell for $66.67, and sold by John (Ann) Campbell, 1768, to James Carlisle for
$250.

21. John Campbell—308—$34.17—208 acres sold by Samuel Campbell to William Lock-
ridge, 1769, for $713.33.

22. James Carter—300—$33.38—sold to Robert Gay, 1768.

23. John Wilson—600—$66.

Other patents in the Calfpasture, prior to 1770, are these: acreage, date,

and description being given consecutively :

Adams, Thomas—(1) 190—1769—Bratton’s Run. (2) 235—1769—Calfpasture.

Beverly, William—700—1743—head of Great River.

Bratton, James—90—1769—Bratton’s Run.

Campbell, John and Samuel—100—1761—branch of Great River.

‘Crockett, Margaret and Andrew—(1) 48—1749—David Mill place on Calfpasture.
(2) 44—1749—adjoining James Poague.

Dunlap, John—125—1760—Dunlap Creek (Bratton’s Run).

Dunlap, Alexander—90—1769—Calfpasture above Jameson.

Jameson, William—80—1755—east side Great River.

Kincaid, Andrew—45—1769—Calfpasture above Tinker.

Lockridge, Andrew—22—1755—branch of Great River.

McKittrick, Robert—110—1759—branch of Great River.

Patton, James and John Lewis—600—1743—Elk Creek of Calfpasture.

Still other early settlers were the Armstrongs, Blacks, Blairs, Clarks, Craigs,
Elliotts, Fultons, Hamiltons, Hendersons, Johnstons, McConnells, McCutchens,
McKnights, Meeks, Mateers, Moores, Risks, Smiths, Stevensons, Walkups, and
Youells.

Alexander Dunlap, a man of some means, was appointed a captain of horse
in 1743, but died the following year. He was succeeded in this position by Wil-
liam Jameson. Thomas Gilham qualified as captain of foot in 1752, and James
Lockridge and Robert Bratton in 1755. James Lockridge and William Jameson
are named as members of the first county court of Augusta in 1745. The latter
acted as a justice in 1747, but it is not known whether Lockridge qualified.

According to a statement by a daughter of James Gay, the pioneer, there
was a stockade on the Calfpasture during the French and Indian war.

The first mill seems to have been that of James Carter. It was probably
built about 1745. Some ten years later, Andrew Lockridge had a gristmill.

Charles Knight is mentioned as a schoolmaster in 1755. He was to have
$60.00 a year, every half Saturday or every other Saturday to be free time. In
case of an Indian alarm he was to enjoy the privilege of being lodged in the
settlement. But it is not probable that he was the first teacher.

Rocky Spring Church was built on an acre deeded by Andrew Kincaid,
1773, to the “trustees of a congregation of dissenters.” These trustees were
James Bratton, Lancelot Graham, Andrew Hamilton, Thomas Hughart, William
Kincaid, and Andrew Lockridge. Lebanon Church was organized in 1784 at
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the home of William Hodge. The first elders were William Youell, Alexander
Craig, John Montgomery, John McCutchen, Joseph McCutchen, and Samuel
McCutchen. The first meeting house stood close to the Augusta line, the second
a half-mile to the south and in Rockbridge. As a consequence there are two
cemeteries. The will of John Dunlap, written in 1804, provides a sum to build a
gallery for the negro worshippers. John Montgomery, for a while a teacher in
Liberty Hall Academy, was the first minister. John S. McCutchen was a suc-
cessor. But the first congregation on the Calfpasture was that of Little River.
The “meeting house land” is mentioned in deeds about 1754. John Hindman
preached in the vicinity as early as 1745.

Partly as a result of its only moderate fertility, the Calfpasture has been a
great fountain-head of emigration to newer localities, especially Kentucky and
Tennessee. Some of the pioneer names have thus been nearly or quite ex-
tinguished. Not a few of the men who went from the Calfpasture, or their
descendants, have achieved some renown in Western history.

Major Samuel Stevenson, who had lately moved to the Greenbrier, headed in
1776 an expedition to the Bluegrass region of Kentucky. He was accompanied
by James Gay, William Elliott, and Benjamin Blackburn. William Campbell,
a wheelwright, was picked up as the party went through the wilderness. One of
the members said “Blackburn was so stiff with fear we could hardly get him
along.” In the spring of 1784, Stevenson settled in Woodford county, the
“Asparagus Bed” of the Bluegrass State. He was preceded a few weeks by
Alexander Dunlap, Jr., and James Gay, Jr. The wives of Stevenson and Dunlap
were sisters to Gay, who was a son of James Gay and his wife, Jean Warwick.
Pisgah Church, said to be the first Presbyterian organization in Kentucky, was
founded the same year. Its first minister was Adam Rankin, who came from
Rockbridge. Pisgah Academy, founded by Gay, Dunlap, and Stevenson, de-
veloped into Transylvania University, as Liberty Hall Academy developed into
Washington and Lee University. The region around was settled almost wholly
from Rockbridge and its neighboring counties. The following names, from the
membership of Pisgah Church in 1808-1826, will be recognized as occurring in
the pioneer annals of Rockbridge: Aiken, Alexander, Allen, Brown, Campbell,
Carr, Dunlap, Elliott, Gay, Hamilton, Holman, Kinkead, Kirkham, Logan, Long,
Martin, McClung, McClure, McCullough, McPheeters, Renick, Ritchie, Smith,
Steele, and Taylor. ‘

We close this chapter with special mention of several of the Calfpasture
families.

The Bears sprang from Blastus Baer, a Mennonite who came from Germany
in 1740 and settled in Page county in 1763. Jacob, a son, married a daughter
of a Mennonite minister and came to the Calfpasture in 1788. Their sect was
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but slightly represented here, and the Bears attached themselves to other
churches.

Robert Bratton, who married the widow of Alexander Dunlap, Sr., was
one of four brothers. Samuel remained in Mifflin county, Pennsylvania; James,
who married Dorothy Fleming, settled near Christiansburg. Three sons of
another brother, went to South Carolina. Captain Robert Bratton was a man
of wealth and distinction.

Archibald Clendennin lived in this valley before moving to the lower Cow-
pasture, where he died in 1749. Archibald, Jr., was the most conspicuous victim
in the Greenbrier massacre of 1763. Charles, another son, gave his name to
the capital of West Virginia.

Captain James Coursey came from Orange and married as his second wife
* the widow of Robert Dunlap. A great grandson is Major O. W. Coursey, -of
South Dakota, a soldier, educator, and historian.

Robert Crockett, son of the pioneer of that name, was one of the “Long
Hunters” spoken of in Chapter VIII. The eccentric Davy Crockett, of Tennessee
and Texas history, was of another family, although in his youth he worked for
a German farmer in this county.

Samuel Ebberd came from Maryland.

Captain Thomas Gilham had seven sons and two sons-in-law in the armies
of the Revolution. The family moved first to South Carolina, but afterwards to
the north of Illinois.

John Graham and his family experienced a great storm during their voyage
from Ulster. John appears to have been a brother-in-law to William Elliott
and John Armstrong of the Calfpasture. Elliott was born in 1699. William
and Graham was a brother to John. Christopher Graham, who died in 1748,
was probably the father of Robert Graham of the Bullpasture, and the wife of
Joseph Walkup.

John Hepler came from Pennsylvania.

Daniel Hite—otherwise Hight—was a son of Daniel Heydt, a German
who settled in the Luray valley.

William Jameson was commissioned coroner in 1753, and seems to have
died the same year. A grandson of the same name owned valuable property
on the border of the city of St. Louis. Timothy Flint, the historian, calls one of
his daughters a “rose of the prairie,” and says of the Jameson family, “a group
of more beautiful children I have never known.”

The pioneer Lockridges were the brothers, James, Robert, and William.
William lived first in the Borden grant. The descendants are most numerous
in the West. Colonel John Lockridge was a pioneer of Sangamon county, Illinois.
Another Colonel Lockridge figures in early Texas history. Andrew Y. Lock-
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ridge, a grandson of Major Andrew Lockridge, son of James, was a noted mis-
sionary to the Cherokee Indians.

Five brothers of the name of McCutchen came to this part of Virginia.
Robert settled on Little River, Samuel in the Borden grant, and William, James,
and John in Beverly Manor. James died in 1759, and his sons, James, John, and
Patrick went to Washington county. The descendants of the five pioneers are
numerous, widely scattered, and include persons of mark. One of these is Robert
Barr McCutchen, a distinguished writer.

The McConnells, who founded McConnell’s Station, now Lexington, Ken-
tucky, previously lived on Kerr’s Creek, as well as the Calfpasture.

Moses Mcllvain located in this valley in 1763. While prospecting in the
Bluegrass region of Kentucky, in 1779, he was captured by Indians, but was
released at the intercession of a trader by the name of McCormick, who had
known Mcllvain in Ireland. Mcllvain married Margaret, a daughter of Samuel
Hodge, of the Calfpasture, and settled anew in Woodford county, Kentucky.

Timothy McKnight came from Ulster. His son John, merchant of St. Louis
and trader to Santa Fe, was a heavy owner of realty in and near the Missouri
metropolis. Robert, another son, settled in Chihuahua, Mexico, as a merchant
and mine owner, and married a Spanish lady. Thomas settled in Iowa and
was the first candidate for governor of that state on the Whig ticket. James
remained on the Calfpasture, but his son John joined his uncle at Chihuahua and
became a wealthy merchant. Rebecca, a daughter, married William McCutchen,
and the wife of William W. Rucker, Congressman from Missouri, is a great-
granddaughter.

Five Walkups, James, Joseph, John, Margaret, and the wife of John
Graham, Jr., were brothers and sisters and came to Little River about 1748.
Captain James moved to the Waxhaw settlement, North Carolina, 1755, where he
was a large planter and slaveholder. Samuel M., a grandson, was an antiquarian
of that state. Joseph, son of John, was a lieutenant-governor of California,
and is said to have refused an election to the senate of the United States.
For several decades there was much confusion in the spelling of the family sur-
name. Professor Wauchope, a distinguished literary critic of the South, has
returned to the orthodox Scotch orthography. The appropriateness of doing
so is very much open to question. The form Walkup is free from strange-
ness, and to the American ear is the closest possible approximation to the
Scottish pronunciation. The phonographic value of the word Wauchope is
unmistakable in Scotland, but not in America. In this connection it may be
remarked that those German families who in years past modified the spelling
of their surnames pursued a wise course. It was a practical step in American-

ization.
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William Warwick had four children. Jean and Martha were killed by the
Indians about 1759. John settled in Kentucky in 1784. Jacob was an extensive
owner of realty and livestock in Pocahontas. The widow of William Warwick
married Andrew Sitlington of Bath.

J. Fulton Whitlock, otherwise Tarleton Whitlock, came from the east of
Virginia.

William Youell settled on the Calfpasture about 1771.
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THE WAR FOR INDEPENDENCE

Causkes oF THE WAR—THE FINCASTLE AND AUGUSTA RESOLUTIONS—VIRGINIA IN THE REvoLU-
TION—CAMPAIGN OF 1781—SuNDRY PHASES OF THE CONTEST—PENSIONERS

The underlying cause of the Anierican Revolution was similar to that which
forced our country into her present struggle with Germany. It was a protest
against autocracy. The American colonies were founded when the relations
between the king and his people had not reached a settled basis. It had always
been the English practice for the people of each community to manage their local
affairs. This principle was followed by the immigrants who peopled the colonies.
Trouble began during the conflict between king and Parliament in the time of
Cromwell. It assumed serious dimensions during the reign of James IT (1685-8),
but did not become acute until the accession of George III in 1760. For several
decades before the beginning of the outflow from Ulster, few people had been
coming to the colonies. The Americans of 1725 had begun to feel that they
were already a people distinct from the English. During the quarrel that began
with the ending of the Old French war, the colonies held that they were a part of
the British Empire. But the British government viewed them as belonging to it,
and consequently as possessing rights of a lower grade.

To the colonials the person of the monarch was the visible tie that joined
them to the British Empire. By a legal fiction the king was an impersonation of
the state, and only in this sense did they consider that they owed any allegiance
to him. The Americans understood Britain to be made up of king, Parliament,
and commons ; each American colony to be made up of governor—a representa-
tive of the crown—Ilegislature, and people. Under Anne and the first and second
Georges, the monarch was a mere figure-head. The actual government was in
the hands of a corrupt oligarchy. George I was a German, and could speak no
English, except when he swore at his troopers. George III began his reign
with German ideas of divine right and absolutism, and these he determined to
carry into practice. Local self-government had declined markedly in England.
It was only a few persons who enjoyed the elective franchise. Parliament
was not representative of the people, and by open bribery the king was able to
control legislation. The general mass of the English people were at this time
ignorant, brutal, and besotted, and they were apathetic toward their political
rights. There was a higher level of intelligence in America than in England.

Under kingcraft, as interpreted by George III, the people were to obey the
crown and pay taxes. Functions of a public nature were held to inhere in the
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sovereign. Activities were to start from above, not from below. The Americans
contended that the central government could properly act only in matters con-
cerning the empire as a whole. They did not concede that Parliament had any
right to tax any English-speaking commonwealth that had its own law-making
body. On the one side of the ocean there was a rising spirit of democracy. On
the other, there was an ebbing tide, and a “divine-right” monarch was in the
saddle. A clash was inevitable.

To the Americans there were several particular sources of annoyance. It
was an anomaly for any other person than an American to be the governor of
an American colony. But in the crown colonies, of which Virginia was one,
the governor was an imported functionary, and on retiring from office he usually
went back to Britain. As a rule he was a needy politician, did not mingle socially
with the Americans, and in his official letters he was nearly always abusing
them. Another annoyance was the Board of Trade, a bureau which under-
took to exercise a general oversight in America. It cared little for good local
government. It sought to discourage any industry which might cause a leak in
the purse of the British tradesman. Its one dominant aim was to see that the
colonies were meek and to render them a source of profit to the British people
and the British treasury.

Even after the controversy had become one of bullets instead of words, the
prevailing sentiment in America was not in favor of political separation. The
colonials felt a pride in their British origin. They recognized that a union
founded on justice was to the advantage of every member of the British Empire.
At the outset, the Americans fought for the rights which they held to be com-
mon to all Englishmen. In this particular they had the good will of a large
section of the people of England. It was the autocratic attitude of the king
that made separation unavoidable.

American independence was proposed and accomplished by a political party
known in Revolutionary history as the Whig. It was opposed by a reactionary
party known as the Tory. But in the Whig party itself was a conservative as
well as a progressive wing. The former consented to a separation, but other-
wise it wanted things to remain as they were. The progressives had a further
aim. They were bent on establishing a form of government that was truly demo-
cratic* The progressives prevailed, and yet the work they cut out was only
well under way when independence was acknowledged. ‘“The Revolution began
in Virginia with the rights of America and ended with the rights of man.”}

The basic origin of the Revolution was political. In the Southern colonies

*This term is not to be construed in a partisan sense. When the present political party
of that name is mentoined in this book it is with a capital letter.
{Eckenrode.
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there was not an economic cause also, as was the case in New England. The ex-
ports from Virginia touched high water mark in 1775, in spite of the long
quarrel between the governor and the people.

We have entered into a rather extended discussion of a topic that belongs
more to national than to county history. Yet the interest in the issue was so
keen in the Scotch-Irish settlers that our explanation of it may not seem out
of place. The Ulster people were naturally more democratic than the English,
and nowhere in America was the democratic feeling more pronounced than along
the inland frontier. The Scotch-Irish element generally rallied to the support
of the Whig party, and was a most powerful factor in its ultimate success. The
Tory influence was strong in the well-to-do classes along the seaboard, particularly
among men in official and commercial life. Virginia was somewhat exceptional
in this regard. It was practically without any urban population. The planter
aristocracy upheld the Whig cause, and as it was the ruling class, it carried the
colony with it. It must be added, however, that the planters of Tidewater cast
their lot with the conservative wing of the party. It was under the lead of such
men as Jefferson and Madison, residents of Middle Virginia, that the state
capital was taken away from the tidewater district in 1779. The progressive
Whigs east of the Blue Ridge found a strong ally in the populatlon west of
that mountain.

The resolutions adopted at Fort Chiswell, the county seat of Fincastle, were
so closely in harmony with the views of the people in the Rockbridge area that we
present them in this chapter. The address by the Committee of freeholders
is signed January 20, 1775, and is directed to the Continental Congress. The
chairman was William Christian. Other prominent members of the committee
were William Preston and Arthur Campbell. Of the fifteen men, all were officers
except the Reverend Charles Cumings.

We assure you and all our countrymen that we are a people whose hearts overflow with
love and duty to our lawful sovereign, George III, whose illustrious House, for several
successive reigns, have been the guardian of the civil and religious rights and liberties
of British subjects as settled at the glorious revolution (of 1688); that we are willing
to risk our lives in the service of His Majesty for the support of the Protestant religion,
and the rights and liberties of his subjects, as they have been established by compact, law,
and ancient charters. We are heartily grieved at the differences which now subsist be-
tween the parent state and the colonies, and most heartily wish to see harmony restored on
an equitable basis, and by the most lenient measures that can be devised by the heart of
man. Many of us and our forefathers left our native land, considering it as a kingdom
subjected to inordinate power and greatly abridged of its liberties; we crossed the Atlantic
and explored this then uncultivated wilderness, bordering on many nations of savages,
and surrounded by mountains almost inaccessible to any but those very savages, who have
incessantly been committing barbarities and depredations on us since our first seating the
country. Those fatigues and ravages we patiently encounter, supported by the pleasing
hope of enjoying those rights and liberties which had been granted to Virginians, and were
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denied us in our native country, and of transmitting them inviolate to our posterity; but
even to these remote regions the hand of unlimited and unconstitutional power hath pur-
sued us to strip us of that liberty and property, with which God, nature, and the rights
of humanity have vested us. We are ready and willing to contribute all in our power for
the support of his Majesty’s government, if applied to constitutionally, and when the grants
are made to our representatives, but cannot think of submitting our liberty or property
to the power of a venal British parliament, or to the will of a corrupt British ministry.
We by no means desire to shake off our duty or allegiance to our lawful sovereign, but
on the contrary, shall ever glory in being the lawful subjects of a Protestant prince, de-
scended from such illustrious progenitors, so long as we can enjoy the free exercise of our
religion as Protestant subjects, and our liberties and properties as British subjects.

But if no pacific measures shall be proposed or adopted by Great Britain, and our
enemies will attempt to dragoon us out of those inestimable privileges, which we are
entitled to as subjects, and reduce us to slavery, we declare that we are deliberately and
resolutely determined never to surrender them to any power upon earth but at the expense
of our lives.

These are our real though unpolished sentiments, of liberty and loyalty, and in them
we are resolved to live and die.

The opening lines of the address do not make the impression now that they
were intended to make in 1775. The portraiture of George III is the direct oppo-
site of that given in the Declaration of Independence. The latter document cen-
sures only the king, while the address vents its indignation on the king’s ministry
and on Parliament. But the committee appear to draw a distinction between the
king as a man and the king as a sovereign. In the former respect, George III
was a very mediocre person, obstinate and narrow-minded. In the latter respect
he was an impersonation of the state, and to the state every patriotic citizen
owes allegiance.

Thomas Lewis and Samuel McDowell were delegates to the Virginia Con-
vention of March, 1775. The instructions given to them by Augusta county,
February 22, contain the following sentences:

We have a respect for the parent state, which respect is founded on religion, on law,
and the genuine principles of the constitution. * * * These rights we are fully resolved,
with our lives and fortunes, inviolably to preserve; nor will we surrender such inestimable
blessings, the purchase of toil and danger, to any ministry, to any parliament, or any body of
men upon earth, by whom we are not represented, and in whose decisions, therefore, we have
no voice. * * * And as we are determined to maintain unimpaired that liberty which is
the gift of Heaven to the subject of Britain’s empire, we will most cordially join our coun-
trymen in such measures as may be deemed wise and necessary to secure and perpetuate
the ancient, just, and legal rights of this colony and all British America.

A memorial from the committee of Augusta, presented to the state conven-
tion May 16, 1775, is mentioned in the journal of that body as “representing the
necessity of making a confederacy of the United States, the most perfect, inde-
pendent, and lasting, and of framing an equal, free, and liberal government, that
may bear the trial of all future ages.” This memorial is pronounced by Hugh
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Blair Grigsby the first expression of the policy of establishing an independent state
government and permanent confederation of states which the parliamentary
journals of America contain. The men who could draw up papers like these were
not the ones to stand back from sending, as they did, 137 barrels of flour to
Boston for the relief of the people of that city in 1774. A savage act of Parlia-
ment had closed their port to commerce.

Even during the Indian war of 1774 there were very strained relations be-
tween the House of Burgesses and the Tory governor. In the spring of 1775,
the administration of Dunmore was virtually at an end, and the Committee of
Safety was managing the government of the state.

With respect to Virginia soil there were three stages in the war for American
Independence. The first was confined to the counties on the Chesapeake, con-
tinued but a few months, and closed with the expulsion of Dunmore soon after
his burning of Norfolk on New Years day, 1776. The invasion by Arnold began
at the very close of 1780, and ended with the surrender of Cornwallis in October,
1781. The warfare with the Indians continued intermittently from the summer
of 1776 until after the treaty with England in 1783. Except in the southwest of
the state, the red men rarely came east of the Alleghany Divide. The British did
not come across the Blue Ridge, and only once did they threaten to do so. Con-
sequently the Rockbridge area did not itself become a theatre of war.

Nevertheless, Rockbridge took an active part in the Revolution. At the out-
set of hostilities Augusta agreed to raise four companies of minute men, a
total of 200 soldiers. William Lyle, Jr., was the lieutenant of the Rockbridge
company, and William Moore was its ensign. We do not know the name of the
captain, but the colonel was George Mathews, a native of Rockbridge. As the
commander of the Ninth Virginia Regiment in the Continental service, Mathews
distinguished himself in Washington’s army until he and his 400 “tall Virginians”
were outflanked during the fog that settled on the field of Germantown and
compelled to surrender. Probably a number of Rockbridge men were in this
regiment, but we have no positive information. [We do not know of the men
then living in the county, or who subsequently settled therein, there were some
who enlisted in other Continental regiments.] It was in the militia organizations,
and then only for two or three months at a time that most of the Rockbridge sol-
diers saw military duty.

Probably the first active service on the part of men of this county was in
the summer of 1776, when the militia under Captain John Lyle and Captain
Gilmore marched under Colonel William Christian in his expedition against the
Cherokees. He was gone five months, and accomplished his purpose without
actual fighting, although five towns were destroyed. The companies of John
Paxton and Charles Campbell were in the column of 700 men that reached Point
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Pleasant in November, 1777. Major Samuel McDowell was a line officer in this
force, and his men began their march from the mouth of Kerr’s Creek. General
Hand was to march against the towns on the Scioto. But deciding that it was too
late in the season and that provisions were too low, that leader contented himself
with announcing the surrender of Burgoyne and then dismissing the militia, who
reached home late in the next month. Next spring, Captain William McKee was
in command at Point Pleasant. It was another Rockbridge company, under the
command of Captain David Gray, that marched to the relief of Donally’s fort
when the news came that it was attacked by the Shawnees. Captain William
Lyle also campaigned on the frontier.

The British invasion of 1781 was a more serious menace. But it is necessary
to preface our account of it with a glance at the fighting south of Virginia.
After the battle of Monmouth in the summer of 1778, the British leaders made
no serious demonstration against Washington’s army, and their fleet made them
quite safe at New York, which was almost the only ground they held in the
North. The war in this quarter was a stalemate, and the British turned their
attention to Georgia and the Carolinas. In these colonies the Tories were as
numerous as the Whigs. Savannah was taken and then Charleston. After the
second disaster there was no field army to contend with the enemy, and South
Carolina and Georgia were overrun. While General Lincoln was besieged in
Charleston, the Seventh Regiment of Virginia Continentals under Colonel Buford
were on their way to reénforce him. But they were surprised at Waxhaw, no
quarter was given, and they were cut down by the dragoons of Colonel Tarleton.
After dusk some of the troopers, who were generally Tories, returned to the
scene of the massacre, and where they found signs of life, they bayonetted the
hacked and maimed. Captain Adam Wallace was among the slain. Several
other Rockbridge men were either killed or wounded. The inhuman cruelty
shown on this and other occasions by Tarleton made him an object of bitter
hatred. He thought German methods of warfare the proper ones to use against
the Americans, and the resentment he did so much to arouse was not entirely
extinguished at the outbreak of the war of 1917,

A few months later a new American army, advancing from the north, was
overthrown at Camden. At the close of 1780, when the fortunes of the Americans
in the South were at a low ebb, General Greene, a leader of signal ability, was
given command in all the colonies south of Pennsylvania and New Jersey. But
the wreck of the army defeated at Camden was small, half-naked, and poorly
equipped. The British and Tories were in much superior numbers and did not
lack for clothing and munitions. Nevertheless, there was a turn in the tide.
At the Cowpens, the right wing of the American army nearly destroyed a force
under Tarleton, and 600 prisoners were sent to Virginia. Greene made a mas-
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terly retreat across North Carolina, closely pursued by Cornwallis, the British
commander-in-chief in the South. After Greene crossed the Dan, Cornwallis
gave up a chase that was bringing him no result, and fell back to Hillsboro, then
the capital of North Carolina. Greene was joined by large numbers of militia,
until his army was 4400 strong, but only one of his little regiments was of seas-
oned troops, and the militia organizations were an uncertain reliance. The force
under Cornwallis was only half as numerous, yet his men were veterans, well-
equipped and well officered. Greene recrossed the Dan and took position at
Guilford, where he was attacked by the British, March 15th. Cornwallis held
the battleground, but one-third of his army was put out of action by the American
rifles. He could neither follow up his nominal advantage nor remain in North
Carolina. He made a rapid retreat to Wilmington, pursued a part of the way
by Greene, who then advanced into South Carolina. Cornwallis dared not follow
his antagonist, and led his shattered army to Virginia. In four months Greene
nearly freed South Carolina and Georgia from the enemy, except as to the sea-
ports of Charleston and Savannah.

Rockbridge men under Captain James Gilmore helped to win the brilliant
victory at the Cowpens. Their time had nearly expired, and they were used to
escort the captured redcoats to their prison camp. In this fight Ensign John
McCorkle was wounded in the wrist and died of lockjaw. But Gilmore seems
also to have been present at Guilford, where soldiers from Rockbridge were much
more numerously represented. In this battle, Major Alexander Stuart was
wounded and captured, and Captains John Tate and Andrew Wallace were killed.
Among the other officers were Major Samuel McDowell, Captain James Bratton,
and Captain James Buchanan. Tate’s company was composed almost wholly of
students from Liberty Hall. They acquitted themselves so well as to extort a
compliment from Cornwallis. After the action he asked particularly about “the
rebels who took position in an orchard and fought so furiously.” Samuel
Houston, then a youth of nineteen, kept a diary while his company was on its
tour. James Waddell, the preacher who was so noted for his eloquence, ad-
dressed the command at Steele’s Tavern, the place of rendezvous. The company
left Lexington January 26th, joined Greene’s army five days before the battle
of Guilford, and got home March 23rd. Houston fired nineteen rounds during
the engagement. The men had orders to take trees and several would get behind
the same tree. The redcoats were repulsed again and again. At Guilford, as at
the Cowpens, the conduct of the Virginia militia was exceptionally good. Greene
said if he could have known how well they would act, he could have won a com-
plete victory. In that case the battle of Guilford might have decided the cam-
paign.

Meanwhile the traitor Arnold had landed 1600 men at Westover on the
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James. Two days later—January 5th—he burned Richmond. Finding his flank
threatened from the direction of Petersburg, he retreated to Portsmouth, where
he was closely watched by a small army under Steuben and Muhlenburg.
Colonel Bowyer had a regiment under Muhlenburg, the clergyman-general. The
company of Captain Andrew Moore marched from its rendezvous at Red House,
January 10, 1781.

Virginia had been stripped of her trained soldiers, and Washington sent
Lafayette to take command. The young Frenchman arrived in March with 1200
light infantry. To offset this help, General Phillips left New York with two regi-
ments and occupied Manchester, April 30th. The British much outnumbered
the Americans, but were not aggressive. Phillips died of fever at Petersburg,
and Arnold was again in chief command. When Cornwallis arrived he brought
the British army to a strength of 7000 men. Having no use for Arnold, he sent
him away. The odds against the Americans were now serious. Late in May,
Cornwallis moved from Richmond to gain the rear of Lafayette’s army. He
wrote that the boy could not escape him. Yet the boy did escape him, although
he was pursued nearly to the Rapidan. Cornwallis then sent out marauding ex-
peditions under Tarleton and Simcoe, while his main army moved upon Orange.
Lafayette, reénforced by 800 veterans under General Wayne, recrossed the
Rapidan. Cornwallis thought he would cut him off, but Lafayette opened an
old road and marched by night to Mechum’s River, where, with his back to the
Blue Ridge, he made a stand to protect his stores. The British leader did not
try to force a decision, and fell back to the Peninsula below Richmond. Tarleton
had burned Charlottesville, then a very small place, and the Assembly fled from
it to Staunton, where it sat from June 7th to the 24th. Tarleton made a threat
of coming over the Blue Ridge. The legislators fled from Staunton so precipi-
tately as to take no measures to defend the place. But the militia assembled
in force, their ranks swelled by old men as well as boys, and meant to give Tarle-
ton a hot reception, in case he should attempt to force Rockfish Gap. But as
Tarleton had only 250 men, his threat could have been no more than a bluff.

Lafayette, gradually reénforced by the Virginia militia to the number of
3,000, followed the British. Washington came down from the Hudson with
2,000 of his American troops and 5,000 Frenchmen. The sequel is familiar
to every reader of American history. Previous to the siege of Yorktown, the
two small battles of Hot Water and Green Spring, fought near Williamsburg,
were the only engagements in the Virginia campaign that rose above the dignity
of mere skirmishes. But during his almost unobstructed march, Cornwallis in-
flicted a loss of $10,000,000 in looting and burning, and the kidnapping of slaves.

Not only did the Valley men have to contend with the British east of the
Blue Ridge and the Indians west of the Alleghany, but in the spring of 1781 they
had also to watch the Tories in Montgomery. The latter were threatening to
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seize the lead mines near Fort Chiswell, and then join Cornwallis, when, as was
expected, he would follow Greene into Virginia.

Among the men from this county who turned out to fight the invader in
1781 were companies under Colonel John Bowyer and captains Andrew Moore,
Samuel Wallace, John Cunningham, William Moore, David Gray, James Buch-
anan, and Charles Campbell. Captain William Moore helped to guard the pris-
oners during their march from Yorktown to the detention camp at Winchester.

There was little active disloyalty in Rockbridge. Archibald Alexander says
there were few Tories, and he intimates that these found it advisable to seek a
change of climate. One was John Lyon, who had been a servant to Alexander’s
father. He deserted to the British, and was one of the miscreants who bayoneted
the hacked and helpless men on the field of Waxhaw, although he still had enough
humanity to spare the life of John Reardon. Lyon was killed at Guilford. Tory
Hollow, near the head of Purgatory Creek, derives its name from the Tories
who fled into it and were not molested. Doubtless they were wise enough not to
make their plight needlessly severe. There is another Tory Hollow between Col-
lier’s and Kerr’s creeks, and it may take its name from the Tory branch of the
Cunningham family. Robert Cunningham, a son of John of Kerr’s Creek, became
a brigadier-general in the British army in South Carolina. His conduct made him
so odious that his estate was confiscated, and although he petitioned to be granted
to return, he had to spend the rest of his life under the Union Jack. He was
granted an annuity by the British government. His brother Patrick, although a
colonel in the British army, was not exiled from South Carolina.

But there was discontent, and there was sometimes a disinclination to per-
form military service. It is related of Edward Graham that he found the militia
assembled near Mount Pleasant about 1778, quite unwilling to volunteer instead
of being drafted. Special inducements were offered, but without visible result.
Graham addressed the men to induce them to supply the quota with volunteers.
Captain John Lyle and a few others stepped forward, and marched and counter-
marched before the militia, but without effect. Graham then joined the volunteer
squad himself, and was followed by enough of the unwilling crowd to make out
the number desired. Like some other persons, this minister did not think well
of the headlong flight of the legislators from Staunton. He was on his way
home from attending a presbytery, and at once set about raising a force of respect-
able size, acting as its leader.

The most serious disaffection seems to have taken place in May, 1781. It
grew out of an Act of Assembly of October, 1780, whereby the counties were to
be laid off into districts for the purpose of procuring a quota from each to serve
in the Continental line for eighteen months. A petition was sent to the capital
from Rockbridge, representing that an absence from home for that length of
time meant ruin to the family of the soldier. Districts had been laid off in this
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county, and in two or three instances the quota had been procured. Jefferson,
then governor of the state, pursued a vacillating course and hesitated to enforce
the conscription law. Then he wrote a letter taking off the suspension, but by
that time the day appointed for the draft had gone by. A date was set for another
laying off of the districts. A hundred people gathered at the county seat, May
9th. Hearing that the Augusta people had prevented such action in their county,
and seeing Colonel Bowyer getting lists from the captains, a crowd went into
the courtroom and carried out the tables. The men said they would serve
three months at a time in the militia and make up the eighteen months in that
manner, but would not be drafted as regulars for the term mentioned in the
law. After tearing up the papers the crowd dispersed.

Virginia was prosperous when the Revolution broke out, but there was much
distress during the war. Trade with England came necessarily to an end, and
was carried on with France at great risk. Specie was scarce, and there was a
tendency to keep it hidden. The currency issued by the Continental Congress to
pay its war claims rested on a very insecure basis, and Henry Ruffner relates
that it operated as a tax because of its rapid depreciation. In March, 1780, the
ratio of paper to specie was forty to one, and in May, 1781, it was 500 to one.
Taxes were high and hard to meet, and the collecting of them was an unpleasant
official duty. Almost everything was taxed, even the windows in a house. A
petition of 1779 complains not only of the high assessment, but says that a still
greater grievance is the separate taxing of houses, orchards, and fencing, these
items aggregating more than the land itself. It was made legal for taxes to be
paid in certain kinds of farm produce. This form was called the specific tax, and
it required storehouses for the produce levied upon.

The return of the specific tax for April, 1782, mentions 34214 bushels of
wheat, 1,282 pounds of bacon, and $12.58 in specie, turned in by 702 tithables.
There were 338 tithables in arrears for 165 bushels of wheat and 676 pounds of
bacon. Samuel Lyle and John Wilson, the commissioners, were allowed ten per
cent. for their services. A petition of 1784 says there is little or no hard money,
and that the number of horses and cattle had been much reduced during the war.
The only merchantable staple was hemp, and this had fallen in price very much.

Under the Federal pension law of 1832, the applicant was required to make
his declaration before the county court, and his reminiscences are often of interest
and value. The declarations below are by men who were living in Rockbridge
in the year indicated. Only a synopsis is given here. A less abbreviated account
—of more service to genealogists—may be found in McAllister’s Data on the
Virginia Militia in the Revolutionary War.

Ailstock, Absalom: born a free mulatto about 1795. Marched from Louisa about
December 1, 1780, it being rumored that the British were going to land on the Virginia coast,
and was out four weeks. About April 1, 1781, joined the Second Regiment under Colonel
Richardson. The ruins of the tobacco warehouses in Manchester could be seen from the
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Richmond side. The brigade was stationed a while at Malvern Hills. The enemy were in
the habit of coming this far up the James in boats, each with a gun at either end, the pur-
pose being plunder. Two such boats and seventeen men were taken by the regiment. During
the siege of Yorktown the applicant dug intrenchments for batteries and made sand baskets.

Cunningham, John: Born in Pennsylvania in 1756. Served in that state in 1776, 1777,
and 1781.

Davidson, John: Born in Rockbridge, 1757. He was willing to go out in the spring of
1778, being then unmarried, but was induced by his mother to hire a substitute. In the
summer of that year, as a drafted man, he served in Greenbrier. Under Captain William
Lyle he drove packhorses loaded with flour and bacon to the troops on the frontier. In
January, 1781, he marched from Red House, his company commanders being Captain
Andrew Moore, Lieutenant John McClung, and Ensign James McDowell. At Great Bridge,
near Norfolk, two twelve pounder howitzers and about twelve prisoners were captured.
There was another skirmish near Gum Bridge, near the Dismal Swamp. He went out
again, August 7, 1781, under Captain David Gray, who tried to induce him to be orderly
sergeant. At Jamestown the militia were ferried across the James by the French, who
were 5,500 strong on the north side.

East, James: Born in Goochland, 1753. In 1779 he was guarding Hessian prisoners at
Charlottesville. Left Fluvanna county, 1792,

Fix, Philip: Born near Reading, Pennsylvania, about 1754. Was living in Loudoun
county, 1777, and served that year in his native state.

Harrison, James: Born in Culpeper, 1755. In the fall of 1777 he served under Captain
John Paxton, marching to Point Pleasant by way of Fort Donally. He witnessed the death
of Cornstalk, Red Hawk, Petalla, and Ellinipsico. He reached home shortly before Christ-
mas. In 1781 he was engaged six months in Amherst, his duty being to patrol the county
twice a week to thwart any effort by the Tories to stir up disaffection among the negroes.

Hickman, Adam: Born in Germany, 1762, and came to America five years later. Served
under Captain James Hall in 1780. That company and Captain Gray’s marched about
October 1, and was absent three months around Richmond and Petersburg. He went out
again in May, 1781, and the Appomattox at Petersburg was crossed on a flatboat, the bridge
having been burned by the enemy. He was in the battle of Hot Water, June 28th.

Hight, George: Born in King and Queen, 1755. Was in Christian’s expedition against
the Cherokees. In August, 1777 he enlisted in Rockbridge for the war, serving in Colonel
George Baylor’s Light Dragoons. In October, he joined the regiment at Fredericksburg,
and the following winter was at Valley Forge. The troop to which he belonged was em-
ployed in preventing the people of that region from furnishing supplies to the enemy, and in
watching the movements of the latter. He was in the battle of Monmouth. Next Septem-
ber, at a time when the regiment was asleep in barns on the Hudson, it was surprised by
General Grey, and no quarter was given except to the members of his own troop. He and
another man escaped by getting in among the enemy. In the spring of 1779 the regiment
was recruited, and Colonel William Washington took command. It was again employed,
this time in New Jersey, in watching the enemy and preventing trading with him. Near the
close of 1780 the regiment marched to Charleston, South Carolina. Shortly after his ar-
rival in March, Washington defeated Tarleton, taking sixteen prisoners, but a while later
was himself defeated at Monk’s Corner. The horses were saddled and bridled, but there was
no time to mount them. Applicant was taken prisoner and was exchanged at Jamestown, in
August, 1781,

Hinkle, Henry: Born in Pennsylvania, 1750. Served three tours in the militia of Fred-
erick county, 1779-1781.

Kelso, James: Born on Walker’s Creek, 1761. Drafted, January, 1781, into Captain
James Buchanan’s company of Colonel Bowyer's regiment, and was in skirmishes near
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Portsmouth. When Tarleton made his raid on Charlottesville, he volunteered and served
one month. In September he was at the siege of Yorktown, under Captain Charles Camp-
bell, and after that event he was detailed to guard the prisoners to Winchester.

Mason, John: Born in Pennsylvania, 1740. Was in the battle of Brandywine, serving in
a company from Berkeley. In 1781 he was in the battle of Guilford as a member of John
Tate’s company.

McLane, John: Born in Ulster, 1757. In 1778 served in Greenbrier under Captain David
Gray. In January, 1781, he went out on a tour of three months under Captain Andrew
Moore. It took about fifteen days to get home from Norfolk.

McKee, James: Born in Pennsylvania, 1752, died in Rockbridge, 1832. Declaration by
Nancy, the widow. John T., a son. Total service, seventeen months, twenty-nine days. His
first service was three months with Christian in the Cherokee expedition. The second was
when he marched under Captain Charles Campbell and Lieutenant Samuel Davidson to
Point Pleasant in the fall of 1777. The third was a tour of three months in Greenbrier, just
after the Shawnees attacked Donally’s fort. The fourth was as an ensign in the spring of
1781, at which time he marched to Portsmouth. In the summer of the same year he served
on the Peninsula. In the fall he served his last tour, and was at the siege of Yorktown.

Miller, William: Born in Pennsylvania, 1757, and came to Rockbridge about 1770.
October 9, 1780, he went out under Captain James Gilmore, Lieutenant John Caruthers, and
Ensign John McCorkle, and was in the battle of the Cowpens. For four weeks he was
guarding Garrison’s Ferry on the Catawba.

Moore, William: Early in 1781 he served under Captain Samuel Wallace and Lieutenant
Edmondson of Bowyer’s regiment. Later in the year he marched to Richmond as captain of
a volunteer company. In September he went again as a captain. From Yorktown he
marched with the prisoners to Winchester, and was discharged there in December, going
home with not over twenty of the men he had taken out.

Shepherdson, David: Born in Louisa, 1763, came to Rockbridge, 1815. In June, 1780, he
marched to join the army of Gates, and at Deep River himself and comrades nearly perished,
having nothing but green crabapples to eat. A detail of 200 men was sent out to thresh
some grain. Was in the battle near Camden, August 16th. After the retreat to Hillsboro,
provisions became so scarce that the captain advised the men to go home and get provisions
and clothing, their clothing having been lost at Camden. They did so and returned, were
advised to go home again, and on their second return were honorably acquitted by a court-
martial. Next year he served six months on the Peninsula, and was present at the surrender
of Cornwallis.

Vines, Thomas: Born in Amherst, 1756. Served at Charlottesville and Winchester,
guarding prisoners. Was in the battles of Hot Water and Green Spring and at the siege of
Yorktown.

Wiley, Andrew : Born in Rockbridge, 1756. Absent forty-two days in 1777, driving cat-
tle to the mouth of Elk on the Kanawha. In 1778-79, he served twelve months in the
Continental line under General Morgan. In the fall of 1780, he was a substitute in Captain
James Hall’'s company. This company and those of Campbell and Gray joined General
Muhlenburg at Deep Run Church near Richmond. In the spring of 1781, he joined Greene's
army at Guilford as a member of a Botetourt company. The Carolina men, who formed
the first line, ran at the outset. The riflemen to which applicant belonged formed the cov-
ering party at the left, and when the Carolina men fled, the British came down on a ridge
between this party and the command of Colonel Campbell. The enemy were swept off by
the Virginia riflemen, but formed again and again, and compelled the party to ground their
arms. Captain Tilford was killed.

Andrew Wiley was one of the Virginians who marched against the “Whiskey Boys,” in
1794,
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MIDDLE PERIOD

A COMPARISON—AFTER THE REVOLUTION—DISESTABLISHMENT—LIFE AND TIMES IN 1850—
PETTIGREW TRAGEDY

The Middle Period in Rockbridge history begins with the peace of 1783
and continues until the outbreak of another American war in 1861. The Recent
Period begins with the cessation of hostilities in 1865 and comes down to the
present year. The first covers the lifetime of an old man. The second covers
the lifetime of a man of middle age. A feature common to the two periods is
that each lies between two great wars.

But while, as we shall presently see, the Recent Period is that of an almost
revolutionary change in industrial methods, and even in everyday life, the
Middle Period is that of a slow and partial unfolding. Labor-saving machinery
was virtually unknown when the earlier period opened and was little more than a
novelty when it closed. Men wore homespun in 1780, and were still wearing it
in 1860. Men were still shooting with flintlocks in 1860. There was no change in
agriculture, aside from the discontinuance of hemp about 1825. The Middle
Period was well under way when canal navigation entered Rockbridge, and was
almost at its close when a railroad crossed the northwest corner. It was almost
at its close before people began to use envelopes and stamps in mailing their let-
ters. Brick manor-houses, very rare at the close of the War for Independence,
multiplied in the more fertile neighborhoods. But throughout the eight decades
the log house was the typical home in Rockbridge. All in all, the impress of the
pioneer days was much in evidence, even so late as 1860.

In 1775-1781, few of the men of this county went to war except for two or
three months at a time, and as no invading host came to burn academies and
plunder smokehouses, the work of the farm could not have suffered in anything
like the same degree as in 1861-1865. But in each instance there was a depreciated
paper money, a chaos of values, and commerce was almost on a vacation.

When John Greenlee became sheriff in 1785 he found the taxes for the two
preceding years uncollected, although the people were permitted to pay them in
hemp at the rate of $5.00 per hundredweight, delivery to be made at designated
places at any time before December 20, 1785. In collecting the tax Greenlee
used a number of hemp receipts which the treasurer of the State was unwilling to
receive. Six years later a petition to the Assembly mentions tobacco, hemp, and
flour as the chief things available for paying taxes and buying necessaries. It
goes on to say that the roads were rough and bad, and the price of tobacco so
low that the farmers would have to abandon the crop unless it could be inspected



MIDDLE PERIOD 105

nearer than Tidewater. The petition asked that inspection might be made at
Nicholas Davis’s below Balcony Falls.

The closing decades of the eighteenth century were a time of fermentation
in America. Religion and mental improvement were much neglected, and there
seems to have been more coarseness in word and action than in the pioneer
epoch. Matters political kept in the lime-light and promoted the noisy assertive-
ness that sprang from American independence.

The disestablishment of the Church of England was one of the first reforms
of the Revolution. One-half of the Virginians of 1775 were dissenters or in
sympathy with the dissenters, and they could no longer be made to support a
state church in addition to the church of their choice. Accordingly, no taxes
were paid to the Establishment after New Year’s Day, 1777. In 1802 the parish
farms were ordered to be sold. Yet the clerical party fought to the last ditch,
and full religious liberty was not secured until 1785. The conservatives argued
that conduct is governed largely by opinion, and that it was proper for the legis-
lature to enact measures calculated to promote opinion of a desirable sort. In
1783 they urged that in place of the old Establishment each citizen should be
assessed for the support of some church, in order that public morality might be
maintained. The counties west of the Blue Ridge were a unit against any such
half-loaf. As compared with Tuckahoe Virginia they were new, poor, and
radical.

To the people of Rockbridge, the war of 1812 and the war with Mexico were
much less serious than the Revolution, and the casualties in battle were exceed-
ingly few. Yet in 1814 there was much illness and a number of deaths among
the soldiers from the mountain counties. They were stationed on the coast, es-
pecially around Norfolk. To them the climate seemed hot and sultry, and the
drinking water inferior to that of the mountain springs.

About 1822 there was a strong agitation for the removal of the capital to
Staunton. The Assembly was bombarded with many petitions to this effect from
the counties of the Western District. This movement was one of the symptoms
of the discord between the two sections of the state. The feud led to the Staun-
ton Convention of 1816 and its demand for reform in the state government.
But the Constitutional Convention of 1829 was dominated by the reactionary ele-
ment, and there was little relief until the Constitution of 1851 became law.

Until 1789 there was no mail-schedule south of Alexandria. No envelopes
were used with letters. The rate of postage was governed by the distance, and
for a long while payment was made by the person to whom the letter was ad-
dressed. Three-cent postage did not come until 1855.

Until 1792 values were often computed in terms of tobacco, 100 pounds of
the weed being equivalent to one pound—$3.33—in Virginia currency.

In the 30’s, and onward until the war of 1861, the country was flooded
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with banknote currency, much of it of the “wildcat” variety. The national bank-
ing system was still a thing of the future, and the man traveling from his own
state into another had to exchange his home paper money for that of the other
state, and undergo a “shave” in doing so. He had also to be on his guard against
counterfeit bills. A copy of the Counterfeit Detector and Banknote List was
indispensable to any merchant who was doing much business.

The goods for the merchants of Lexington came by the Tennessee road
wagon, a huge vehicle drawn by six horses in gay trappings. The cover was
sometimes of bearskin instead of canvas. The wagoner was somewhat like the
boatman of the Western rivers. He was a hardy, swaggering personage, but the
state driver would not tolerate the idea of lodging in the same tavern with him.

The polling places in 1830 were four: Joseph Bell’s at Goshen, H. B. Jones’
at Brownsburg, the tavern at Natural Bridge, and the house of one of the
numerous Moores. Four years later, the tavern of John McCorkle became a
voting place, and in 1845 the tavern of John Albright at Fairfield.

Outside of the county seat and the few villages, Rockbridge had in 1835
three furnaces, six forges, ten stores, and twenty-four gristmills. Of the
thirteen country churches, nine were Presbyterian.

Before the Revolution, the gentleman appeared on state occasions in a
dress suit of broadcloth, often dark-blue, but sometimes plum or pea-green.
His long waistcoat was black and his trowsers of some light color. His tall black
hat was similar to the “stove-pipe” of a later day. At the top of his ruffled
short-bosom appeared a tall, stiff collar of the type known as a stock, and around
this was fastened a black silk handkerchief. His hair was cropped short to
make room for a powdered wig. Women wore towering bonnets. The low-
necked dress had a. cape or collar and enormous mutton-leg sleeves. By the
close of the war of 1812, tight breeches had just gone out of fashion. The coat
was “high in the collar, tight in the sleeve, short in the back, and swallow-tailed.
The hat was narrow-brimmed and bell-crowned.” The cravat was a white hand-
kerchief, stiff-starched and voluminous, the flowing ends resting on a ruffled
shirt-bosom. The pocket handkerchief was a bandanna. Gloves were not much
worn. Woman’s dress was “plain in color, short in waist, narrow in skirt. As
soon as a woman was married she put on a cap.” Imported goods were not in
general use, but were worn year after year. “In the country, grandchildren could
see the wedding coat still on granddaddy’s back on state occasions.” In the 50’s
a certain citizen of this county was wearing linen trowsers forty years old, yet
seemingly as good as new. A few moccasins were still worn. Work-shoes were
of cowhide, dress shoes of calf-skin. The farmer’s boy had to make one pair last
a year. ,

In 1810 not less than 5,000,000 yards of homespun linen were manufactured
in Virginia, and much the greater share of this output originated west of the
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Blue Ridge. Until about the middle of the century it was only the people of
aristocratic tastes who wore clothing made of imported cloth.

The hemp that was not sent to market was made into sacking, or into a hard,
strong cloth of a greenish hue that slowly turned to a white.

The flax patch was seldom of more than one acre. The stalks were pulled
when the seeds were fully ripe, and were laid out in gavels, the stem-ends forming
a line. After a while the bundles were set up, and when dry were put into the
barn. In the winter season the stalks were broken to loosen the fiber. This
was done by laying them against slats and giving a few blows with a wooden
knife. Scutching was the next step, and was performed by holding the broken
stems against an upright board and striking them obliquely with the same knife.
Then came in succession the spinning, the weaving, and the bleaching. The
unbleached cloth was of the color of flaxen hair. The homemade linen was of
two grades, one for fine and one for coarse cloth. Six yards a day was about
the utmost the weaver could accomplish, if the weaving were to be tight enough.

The imported dyestuffs were indigo, logwood, and madder, used respectively
for blue, black, and red shades. The root and hulls of the hickory made a
dark-brown; the bark, a yellow. Walnut bark made a brown color, sumach a
black, and dogwood a dogwood berry tint.

The log house of “ye olden time” had a floor of pine or poplar puncheons,
made smooth and level with the adze. As spaces appeared in the process of dry-
ing, the puncheons were moved closer together. The building of the roof has
taken its place among the lost arts. The first gable-log projected one foot at each
end, and was held in place by strong locust pins. The upper gable-logs, or eave-
bearers, were held by the rest-poles on which the clapboards were laid. Stretch-
ing between the first gable-logs was the eave-pole, which held the first course of
clapboards. Rest-poles were laid between the upper gable-logs. The clapboards
were three feet long and eight inches wide, and were laid with twelve inches of lag.
Each course was held down by what was sometimes called a weight-pole and
sometimes a press-pole. This fitted at each end into a notch in the gable-log and
was further secured by a peg. Between each weight-pole and the one above it was
a support called a knee. The uppermost weight-pole was heavier than the others
and was pinned to its position. A rustic way of securing the top courses was
with a pair of split poles, one of the halves lying against one side of the crown
and one against the other. The ends were tied together with grapevine or
hickory withes. When the pins in a press-pole rotted, the pole with its course
of clapboards would slide to the ground. The chimney was of short logs well
daubed inside with clay. Near the fireplace was the opening called the light-hole.
When not in use it was covered with a sliding board. One lazy man broke a
hole in the back of his chimney, so that he could poke his firewood through it
instead of bringing it in by the door.
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The loghouses of the larger and better class had chimneys of stone, some-
times containing an enormous amount of masonry. In this county the stone
house generally appeared earlier than the one of brick, and was sometimes in-
tended to answer the purpose of a defense against the Indians. Limestone is
abundant in Rockbridge, but has been little used in house-walls. Colonel John
Jordan, a native of Hanover county and a builder of many brick mansions and
other structures, is said to have introduced the colonial style of architecture into
Rockbridge. )

The bill of fare was more simple than it is now. Corn pone was much in
use. The other ordinary forms of the staff of life were spoon bread, batter
bread, and sponge bread. Stoves began to come into use about 1850, and at
first were not well thought of. The loom-house was an adjunct of the prosper-
ing farm. Elsewhere, the loom was a feature of the living-room or the kitchen.
Girls who learned to weave were able to make some money by going from house
to house.

The country store was a very plain affair and was destitute of show-
cases. Only the most common goods and necessaries were on exhibit. The
business of the store seemed to move at a slow pace, yet the merchant was pros-
perous. After the war of 1816 there was a more rapid gait.

There were two types of garden; one with beds and herbs and one without.
The climate of Scotland is not quite favorable to the kitchen garden, which was
not generally adopted by the Scotch-Irish settlers of the Valley of Virginia until
they took a hint by seeing the gardens put out by the Hession prisoners of war
at Staunton. The herbs were sage, ditny, boneset, catnip, horsemint, hore-
hound, “old man,” and “old woman.” These were used as home remedies, es-
pecially by the “granny woman,” who in no small degree stood in the place of
the doctor. She used lobelia as an emetic, white walnut bark as a purgative,
snakeroot for coughs, and elder blossom to produce perspiration. The bark of
dogwood, cherry, and poplar, steeped in whiskey, was used for fever and ague.
For the much dreaded dysentery, she employed Mayapple root, walnut bark, and
slippery elm bark. A favorite way of treating a cold was for the patient to
warm his feet thoroughly before a fire and then cover up in bed.

Trials of strength entered more largely into the sports of the period than
they do now. Wrestling, jumping, and boxing were popular. A very common
game was bandy played with turned balls of lignum vitz.

The “frolic” was a vital feature of the “good old times.” One form of
it was the corn husking. The corn was shucked in the field, hauled into the
farmyard, and thrown into a single pile. At the frolic, two captains were
agreed upon, and these worthies, by choosing alternately, divided the crowd into
two rival companies. The pile of corn was divided, and there was a race be-
tween the companies to see which side would come out first. The defeated com-
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pany then had to pick up the victor-captain, and “tote” him around the pile of
ears. A red ear entitled the finder to a kiss from his companion of the other
sex. A big supper followed the husking, after which the floor was cleared by
taking the furniture and other impediments out of the room, and then came
dancing, sometimes kept up until daybreak. Charges of unfairness were occa-
sionally hurled by one company at the other, and the small boys did well to
get out of harm’s way. ‘“Black Betty” was passed around. The whiskey inflamed
the jealousy aroused by rival admirers and rosy-cheeked girls, and serious affrays
were liable to be the outcome. Besides the husking frolic, there were log-
rollings, singing schools, shooting matches, and hunting with hounds. Christ-
mas was made much of. “Bring your knitting and spend the day,” was the invi-
tation often extended by one woman to another.

A century ago women sometimes wielded the two-pronged wooden fork in
the hayfield. Corn was rarely shocked, and yet more rarely topped and bladed.
The cradle had just come into general use, but some of the older men still
looked with more favor on the sickle. Threshing was sometimes done with
horses. The first threshing machines often got out of order. On one occasion
a flying tooth tore a hole in the roof of a barn. There was no market for hay.
Peavine and “rich-weed” made good pasture. Fertility was maintained by
rotation and by the use of lime and clover. There was an independence in the
simple life of the Rockbridge farmer of the antebellum period, which has
largely passed with the altered conditions of the twentieth century.

Writing in 1844, Henry Ruffner strikes a pessimistic note. He says that “our
free mountain air has become tainted; the labor of our fields is done in great
part by fettered hands; our manners have become more refined than our morals,
and instead of the sturdy but intelligent simplicity that once reigned through all
the land, a half-savage ignorance has grown up in its nooks and dells, while in
the open country a mixed population shows much that is excellent, but upon the
whole a failing spirit of energetic industry and enterprise.” It was Ruffner’s
belief that between 1790 and 1840 Virginia lost more by emigration than all the
free states. “She has driven from her soil at least one-third of all the emigrants
who have gone to the new states.” After Ohio and Kentucky had begun to at-
tract settlers, the more thrifty and enterprising of the Rockbridge farmers ac-
quired lands in that quarter, and the disposal of such tracts is often mentioned
in wills.

A brief pen-picture of Rockbridge is given by the Duke of Saxe-Weimer
Eisenach, who crossed this county in the fall of 1825. He observes that he
traveled from Staunton to Natural Bridge in a miserable stage and over a very
bad road. The wooden bridge over the Buffalo was used only in time of very
high water. The only “decent places” he passed were Fairfield and Lexington.

Yet the foreigner mentions “many very handsome country houses,” at one
of which he noticed eight eagles sitting on a fence. These were cared for by the
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proprietor. By seeing snipe fly into the tavern yard at Fairfield, the stranger
thought the people were not fond of shooting. He found that game was plenty,
and that a whole deer could be purchased for $1.50. He had little to say of
Lexington, then a town of 1,100 people. He wondered that all the coachmen
were white. There was much travel on horseback. The road from Lexington
to Staunton by way of Fairfield was generally through a forest. The traveler
was a German and was an object of some interest to the few German people he
met in this county.

The most distressing tragedy in the history of Rockbridge took place in
the earlier half of the night of December 16-17, 1846. John Petticrew, a
native of Campbell county, fell into straitened circumstances, and in 1843
moved into a log house in the southward-facing cove between the two House
mountains. The wife of Petticrew had been Mary A. Moore, of Kerr’s Creek.
The oldest of the six children was sixteen, the youngest was six, and all were
healthy and strong. The evening of December 16th was snowy, and by midnight
there was a high wind. Next morning the snow was much drifted, and for several
days the weather was very cold. The fourth day was Sunday, and in the morning
Mr. Petticrew came home according to his custom from his work at the dis-
tillery of William Alphin. To his horror he found his house burned to the
ground. Lying near by were the frozen and partially clad bodies of the wife
and all the children except the oldest, a daughter who was with her sick
grandmother on Kerr’s Creek. Strong men wept when they saw the corpses
laid out for burial. Foul play was suspected on the part of James Anderson
and his wife Mary, who lived a half-mile away. The Andersons did not beat
a good name. The husband was not one of the crowd that gathered on the
Sunday that Petticrew made his grewsome discovery, nor was he present at
the burial. Pettigrew had had some trouble with the neighbor because of
Anderson’s cows breaking into his field. He was knocked down by Anderson,
who tried to choke him. Armed with a search-warrant, a brother to Mrs.
Petticrew visited the Anderson home and found therein a coverlet and some
other articles that had belonged to her. The silverware of the Pettigrews was
not found. Anderson was tried in Bath, but was acquitted on the ground of
insufficient evidence. He went to Craig and never again lived in Rockbridge.
It remained the common opinion that Anderson was really guilty, and there is
a story that in a fit of remorse he made a deathbed confession. And yet an
examination of the corpses was inconclusive as to whether death came from
violence or from the intense cold following a fire either accidental or intentional.
Within two years Pettigrew died of a broken heart. The daughter who was
away from home subsequently married James G. Reynolds and had two children.
The victims of the tragedy were buried at Oxford. The stone over the grave
was shattered by lightning and was replaced with a monument paid for by
friends of the family.
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A YEAR OF SUSPENSE

CAusks oF THE WAR oF 1861 —PresmENTIAL CAMPAIGN OF 1860—MEETINGS IN ROCKBRIDGE—
DiscussioNs IN THE LocAL NEWSPAPERS—STATE CONVENTION AT
RicaMoND—A FLAG RAISING AT LEXINGTON

A county history is not the place to dwell at length on the causes of the great
American war of 1861. It cannot spare much room for topics essentially national
in character. :

But in the case of Rockbridge, this theme is of more than ordinary interest.
Because of its prominent public men, its educational institutions, and its rank as a
Valley county, the people of Rockbrdge took a keen interest in the political
events of the year ending in mid-April, 1861. A resident of the county was gov-
ernor of Virginia; an instructor in its military school was to win great renown
as a Confederate general ; the beloved leader of the Army of Northern Virginia
was to become the president of its college. And during the months in which
the storm-cloud was coming to its full dimensions, the issues of the day were
discussed at much length, and very ably, in the newspapers and literary societies
of Lexington.

In this chapter, therefore, we first take a comprehensive glance at the gen-
eral causes of the war, and follow it with an account of what was taking place
in Rockbridge during the presidential campaign of 1860 and the opening months
of 1861.

The thirteen American colonies that shook off their allegiance to Britain in
1776 were politically independent of one another. Not one of the group had
the power to absorb the others, and the United States of America is the only
country on earth without a distinctive name. The term by which our country
is known is a definition, and is not properly a name. Since the colonies used
the English language, and derived their laws and institutions from England,
they could not do otherwise than act together in effecting the separation that was
generally desired. But the Continental Congress was not the same thing as the
Federal Congress that succeeded it. The former body was merely a central
committee representing the state governments. One state had as much voice
in this committee as another. The Congress could advise, but it might not com-
mand. '

When the states set about forming a “more perfect union,” it was much as
if the eleven countries of South America should declare a United States of
South America. Each country would bring into this union a pride in its four
centuries of Caucasian history. It would be jealous of its own rights and sus-
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picious of what the future might develop. The new name would carry no
suggestion of nationality. The only nationality the South Americans could
feel would be the nationality of Brazil, or Peru, or Argentina. Any member
would resent at attempt at military coercion in the name of the union.

What could thus happen in South America is precisely what did happen
in North America. The popular opinion among the Americans of 1788 was that
they were entering a confederation. For many years they commonly spoke
of their union as such. But they were really entering a federation. Now in
a confederation, the central government acts on the people through the medium
of the various state governments, while in a federation it acts on them inde-
pendently of the state governments. The framers of the Constitution did not
attempt to be entirely explicit. They were practical men, and if they had
expressed themselves dogmatically, their labors would have been in vain. The
constitution was adopted only after strenuous opposition in a majority of the
states. That the Americans of the Revolutionary period generally regarded the
new government as a confederation, is because they did not then, nor for some
years afterward, have the mental attitude for viewing it in a different light.

The two groups of colonies separated by Delaware Bay were either founded
by Englishmen, or soon came under English control. But the motives leading
to the colonization of the two regions were not quite the same. The differences
were accentuated by economic distinctions. The Southern colonies were almost
wholly agricultural, and their population was so dispersive that it took the
lead in settling the West and Southwest. The New Englanders were a village
people and slow to scatter. Their soil was poor, and because they turned to
manufactures and commerce, most of the American cities arose in the North.
The Middle Colonies had the economic features of both sections, but their
deciding interests were those of the New England corner. ’

Had the Union never outgrown the area of the thirteen original states, the
confederate interpretation of it might have prevailed in the North much longer
than it did. The scale was turned by the vast plain of the Mississippi, which is a
geographic whole. The West has always been more homogeneous than the
seaboard, and its political point of view has always been nationalistic. From the
very first, state lines have been of minor importance to the Western man.
The coming of rapid travel and labor-saving machinery operated powerfully
to link the commercial North to the agricultural West. There was an increased
pride of country in these sections. Their people came to look upon the Union as
no longer a nation in promise, but a nation in fact. But the South was still
almost wholly agricultural, and its mode of life was much the same as in the
period of the Revolutoin. It was a perfectly natural outcome that the political
point of view of the South had undergone no material change.

The principle of secession, as found in American history, rests primarily
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upon the idea of a Union based on the free consent of its members. It was
first put forward in the North and not in the South. But it is significant
that a serious discussion of it in one state would be viewed with immediate
disapproval in all the others.

In 1790 there was a balance in population between North and South. For
several decades later, people did not feel that this balance was being disturbed.
As for slavery, it was not liked in the upper South and was not actively opposed
in the North. But by 1850, the North was far in the lead. A rising spirit of
the age was antagonistic to slavery. To protect its vast slave property, the
South put itself in a defensive attitude.

Until 1861, the control of the Federal government had been almost all the
while with the South. This power was voiced by a relatively small class of
people. In the North there was a subconscious feeling that its much superior
population and its industrial development gave it a better title to lead the nation.
For this purpose it organized a new political party and won the election of
1860. The South instinctively recognized this result as a challenge to a trial of
strength and acted accordingly. The one great issue, reduced to its lowest
terms, was whether the Federal Union had grown into a nation of indivisible
sovereignty, with a conceded power to coerce a reluctant member. To the
North this time had arrived. To the South it had not arrived. Within a few
more decades the South would have thrown out slavery and adjusted itself to the
economic civilization of the North. The war of 1861 was a short cut in this di-
rection, and because the measure was drastic it wrought great destruction and
great hardship. But when the storm-cloud was about to break, it was only a few
far-sighted men who could grasp the issue in its larger aspects. The majority
of people feel rather than think, and such persons in 1860 could perceive little
more than the outward symptoms. And because thinking was subordinated
to feeling, waves of excitement seized the multitudes, both North and South,
and hurried the country into domestic war.

The one section could see little else than a wicked attempt by an arrogant
oligarchy to pull down the best government on earth, and thus cause either half
to occupy a lower rank in the family of nations. The North flew to arms to
preserve national unity at any cost, and to see to it that rivalries of a European
nature, sidetracked by the Constitution of 1787, could not again spring into life.
The other section could see little else than an unholy attempt to overturn its
local governments, to destroy the value of a large class of its property, and to
adopt without time for adjustment a mode of life prescribed by the victor. Hence
the South flew to arms to maintain its local self-government at any cost, and to
prevent an abrupt transition from entering into its ecoonmic life. The men on
each side of the controversy were honest, sincere, and determined. In the light
of the conditions confronting him, neither the typical Northerner nor the typical
Southerner could have acted otherwise than he did.
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The “year of suspense,” as we style the present chapter, began with the
nominating conventions of 1860. There were four candidates for the presidency,
Lincoln, Douglas, Breckenridge, and Bell. Lincoln stood for the extreme North-
ern position, and Breckenridge for the extreme Southern. The conservative
elements supported Douglass and Bell. Southern votes for Lincoln were very
few and were wholly in the border states. That Breckenridge had a considerable
support in several Northern states was because of considerations of party regular-
ity. Douglas and Breckenridge were both Democrats, but the former was re-
garded as a bolter by the supporters of the other candidate. Douglas had a rather
large following in the border slave states, and quite a number of the old line
Whigs in the coast states of the North cast their votes for Bell. But in general
terms, the voting was sectional. The North supported the northern candidates,
Lincoln and Douglas. The South supported the southern candidates, Brecken-
ridge and Bell.

In the days before the war, Rockbridge was counted as a Whig community,
whereas the state almost invariably gave a majority for the Democratic nominee
for the presidency. In 1856, Buchanan’s majority over Fillmore was only eighty-
eight votes, but seemingly for the reason that 286 votes went to Fremont.
When viewed in the light of the next campaign, it seems rather strange that
a ninth of the total number of votes should have been given to the first Republi-
can candidate. But Fremont was son-in-law to Senator Benton, of Missouri,
and Benton was reared and married in Rockbridge.

The following table shows the vote by precincts in Rockbridge, November
6, 1860:

Bell Douglas Breckenridge

LexXington ........coceenveeeenneneniaracaacsecnannes 290 148 49
Kerr's Creek ....coevniiietieinierincnrneenencnennns 96 79 9
001 TS 1000 2 ¢ T 76 20 66
Dryden’s ...ccoviecniiitieiiiitiiiecntisitintiiianans 37 22 32
Wilson’s ShOp ..vvvveeerieneenraenanns eeeeerereaeae 62 45 18
Paxton’s Schoolhouse .......c.covvvieeinreenneinnnns 77 15 29
TrOVY'S vevevnencscensasosessnescsssacsnasnssscacans 68 63 9
Natural Bridge .........oooiiiiiiiii i, 1 47 84
Hamilton’s .......ccoeviiviinenns tetececentenncanane 70 50 18
Fairfield ...oovviiiiiriiiieeinreeeantonessnsneronsns 102 85 27
Brownsburg ......ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaeas 183 36 8
(070 1T+ 59 31 16

10 1 1231 641 365

An analysis of the table shows that Bell carried every precinct, and had
almost twice as many votes as Douglas. It also shows that Douglas had almost
twice as many votes as Breckenridge. Natural Bridge, where several leaders of
public opinion were in favor of secession, was the Breckenridge stronghold.
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It is one of the curiosities of that exceptional campaign that the next highest
vote for Breckenridge was in the present Republican stronghold of Collierstown.
No votes for Lincoln are on record. Bell, the choice of the Rockbridge voters,
was the standard bearer of the Constitutional Union party, which was the suc-
cessor of the Whig party in the South. The only plank in its platform was
“the constitution, the union, and the enforcement of the laws.”

It is an interesting fact that Bell’s leading competitor for the nomination
was Samuel Houston, a native of Rockbridge. Bell was nominated on the second
ballot, receiving 138 votes. Houston had sixty-nine, and all others, forty-six.

In its issue of November 29th, the Lexington Gasgette makes this comment
on the election, referring to the Democratic party when it speaks of Conserva-
tives:

Now that he (Lincoln) has been elected, what can he do? The Conservative party have
a majority in both houses of Congress. The Supreme Court is Conservative. The Executive
can enforce no law prejudicial to the institution of slavery, if Congress enacts none.
Every act he does is done under the solemn oath which he takes at his inauguration. Had
we not then better try him? It may be that he will prove to be a conscientious and a law-
abiding man. Mr. Jefferson went the full length Lincoln goes against slavery. We have
not had an ultra pro-slavery president, unless Mr. Tyler may be called so, and yet all
the time the institution of slavery has been safe from executive interference.

One day later, the Staunton Vindicator published the following editorial
comment on secession :

To our mind the secession of the cotton states is a fixed fact. It is this for which the
politicians of those states have been planning and scheming for years. It is no oppression
that they feel, but a willful, deliberate, and criminal purpose to dissolve the Union and
reopen the African slave trade. The clear and unequivocal policy of the Middle (border)
States is to keep aloof from them. In the course of time the seceders may seek a reunion
upon such terms as will be granted. If they do not, we venture the prediction that they will
become conquered provinces before ten years. The devilish spirit which will have brought
this destruction upon the Union can never rest contented after the Southern Confederacy
is established, and will be certain to plunge it into war.

Nevertheless, a meeting held at the courthouse in Lexington November 26th
shows the intense excitement in Rockbridge. The chairman was directed to ap-
point a committee of twelve to prepare a circular letter to the people of the
county. This committee was made up of Hugh Barclay, J. B. Dorman, Samuel
Gilbert, E. L. Graham, T. J. Jackson, J. R. Jordan, David E. Moore, J. W.
Paine, E. F. Paxton, J. T. L. Preston, J. McD. Taylor, and William White.
The courtroom was filled to its utmost capacity. A discussion on the state
of the country lasted from noon until four o’clock. The Gaszette speaks of a
disposition to ignore party differences and to act unitedly. It adds that “the
interest felt by the people was such as we have never witnessed before.” The
call formulated by the committee was couched in the most earnest language. It
asked the people of the county to convene at the courthouse on Monday, Decem-
ber 3rd.
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Of this second meeting, Hugh Barclay was chairman. There were speeches
by the ministers, John Miller and W. N. Pendleton, and by Colonel F. H.
Smith, Major J. T. L. Preston, J. W. Brockenbrough, and J. B. Dorman. At
an adjourned meeting, December 15th, the leading grievances against the South
were enumerated as the aggressive anti-slavery agitation in the North, the per-
sonal liberty bills, and the appeals to the spirit of insurrection and murder. The
personal liberty laws mentioned were those interfering with the capture of run-
away slaves on free state soil. The clause alluding to insurrection and murder
relates to the fanatical raid of John Brown at Harper’s Ferry, which took place
fourteen months earlier. Ten resolutions were adopted, one of which states
that “we cannot deem it the part of wise and brave Christian patriots even yet
to despair of the republic. We feel it to be a high duty as well as the dictate of
true policy on the part of Virginia to struggle for the redress of her grievances
within the Union.” Another declares it “highly inexpedient in the present crisis
to resort to coercion against any seceding state.”

South Carolina, the first of the cotton states to act, passed her ordinance of
secession December 20th. The movement in that quarter was watched in Rock-
bridge with much interest, which for the most part was unsympathetic.

A contributor to the Gasette makes this comment:

A great deal of rash talk and inconsiderate action certainly characterizes the conduct
of the South at this time. There is no deliberation, save the deliberate treason that has
long been cherished in the breasts of the leaders of the movement. A disruption of the
union of these states reads the doom of African slavery in the South. While the Union
exists, there is an influence in the North itself that nearly if not altogether cancels the
mad efforts of the abolitionists. While the Union exists, there is a United South, to a
man ready to protect the South against aggression. But let the South consummate a
severance, then the South stands isolated. Disunion will unsettle the line that divides
slave from free territory. Its first immediate effect is to de-Africanize a broad belt
of the border slave states, equal in extent to one-fourth of the slave territory. The mere
anticipation of disunion has already turned thousands of operatives out of employment
in the North. The real event will increase this number by tens of thousands. Desperation
will drive these hordes down upon us, either in a hostile raid or to seek a living in a friendly
manner. Secession secures non-intercourse, and non-intercourse compels the South to
manufacture. She must either do it by these discarded employees or by men from abroad.
"The result is the same; it brings in contact with slavery a population poisoned to it in all
its aspects. The idea of manufacturing by the aid of slave labor is simply absurd, not
only from the fact of the incapacity of the negro, but from the fact that there are no
slaves to be spared from the planting interests. The African slave trade has been pro-
nounced piracy, and an attempt to reopen it would bring down upon the Southern Con-
federacy the vengeance of all the great powers of Europe. Moreover, a manufacturing
and a slave community are antagonistic and dangerous to each other. It cannot be denied
that slavery creates distinctions in society; a laboring and a leisure class. The mechanic
and the negro would constitute the former, and the nabobs the latter.

An editorial of the same date as the South Carolina ordinance, and written
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before the news of that event could have reached Lexington, speaks in this man-
ner of the secession movement :

We do not desire to see this government broken up upon a point of honor more
shadowy, more imaginary, more unreal, than any ever alleged by the professional duelist
as a ground for demanding satisfaction. There is no dishonor in submitting to Lincoln’s
administration, because he is legally and constitutionally our president. Secession is a
voluntary and complete relinquishment of the rights we hold in virtue of the Union. * * *
Peaceable secession is nothing less than a surrender of these rights (to slave property
in the territories). * * * To break up the Union upon a mere presumption that the
president-elect intends to trample upon the constitution is to drive our Northern friends
into union with our enemies. There were more votes against Lincoln in the North than in
the entire South. Peaceable secession is really cowardly submission. * * * There is a
well-considered policy of a few plotting Catalines to precipitate the cotton states, and
ultimately all the slave states, into revolution.

It is interesting to note the parallelism between the above paragraph and the
following extract from a letter written from Lexington, January 1, 1833, con-
cerning the proclamation on nullification by President Jackson. The letter was
written by Doctor Archibald Graham:

In this region it has been received with loud and almost universal applause. A meet-
ing was held yesterday in the courthouse, Reuben Grigsby in the chair. I am told they
adopted resolutions approving the proclamation. There is a strong feeling in this county
against nullification, and a very general disposition to put it down v et armis (by force of
arms). I believe a strong volunteer company could be raised here, at a moment’s warning,
to march against them.

The editorial further pointed out that secession would work a forfeiture of
the interest of the South in the District of Columbia and the public lands, and
that the South could not reéstablish this interest without going to war.

The influence on business of the secession talk is thus sketched in a letter
in the Gazette:

Money has become so scarce that debts can no longer be collected. Slave property has
fallen in value from a third to a half. The indebtedness of the citizens of Rockbridge
to the banks is not short of $100,000. The costs of goods brought in for sale is about
$200,000. How are they to be paid? The flour sold out of the county this year does not
exceed 1,000 barrels, worth about $5,000. The proceeds of other commodities except
slaves are about $50,000. The slaves sold out of the county the last three years have
brought about $400,000. That source of revenue seems at an end. The people must give
up their habits of extravagance. Every lady must have a new bonnet every six months
costing $20 to $50 apiece. There is doubt if the flour sold in the last twelve months would
pay for the bonnets and silk dresses sold here in the same time.

A proposed local organization was the “Rockbridge Economical Society.” If
possible, the members were to attend the Rockbridge fair of 1861 in clothes made
in Virginia, to buy in that year no cloth not made in Virginia, to discourage bring-
ing in any goods except those of prime necessity, and to promote domestic manu-
facturing. ;
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It is also significant that the advertising columns of the county papers con-
tain somewhat frequent requests for debtors to “fork over.”

An extra session of the legislature was called for the purpose of determin-
ing “calmly and wisely what ought to be done.” This body met January 7,
1861, and decided to call a state convention, for which delegates were to be
elected February 4th. There had never yet been a convention in Virginia not
authorized by a popular vote. An editorial of January 3 would appear to reflect
the prevailing sentiment of Rockbridge. It makes these declarations:

We hope the people to a man will vote against a state convention. A convention will
be a piece of machinery that will be operated by secessionists to carry Virginia out of the
Union. No government such as ours was ever before devised. If we allow it to go down,
we believe that with it will go down the last hope of civil and religious liberty. Let us not
follow the example of South Carolina, who seeks to put an unanswerable argument into the
mouths of despots. South Carolina has said by her action that a republican government

can be dissolved at any time, that it is a government without power, that it is no government
at all.

Meetings of workingmen at Lexington and Brownsburg were largely at-
tended, and passed resolutions that were “moderate and patriotic.” A meeting
at the courthouse, January 7th, failed to vote any resolutions, and broke up in
disorder, some sixty persons cheering for South Carolina. This element was
principally made up of cadets. Many of the citizens were indignant at the
rowdyism, and it was denounced in a meeting at Old Monmouth presided over
by John Anderson, Sr. The last named meeting resolved that “we refuse to
sanction the attempt of any state to secede from the Union, believing that
such an act would be no remedy for the grievances of which we complain.”

Another meeting at the courthouse, January 2lst, adjourned with three
cheers for the Union, after resolving, “that in the opinion of this meeting
the plan of adjustment proposed by Hon. J. J. Crittenden, and now pending
before the Senate of the United States, is a just and honorable basis for set-
tlement of our national difficulties.” The same meeting nominated Samuel McD.
Moore and James B. Dorman to represent the county in the convention. Three
days later, Mr. Moore and Mr. J. W. Brockenbrough, another candidate, pub-
lished their appeals to the voters. In the event of a dissolution of the Union,
Mr. Moore was in favor of Virginia being independent of all the other states.
He expressed the opinion that “Virginia never can become very prosperous
except as a manufacturing state.” He declared in favor of excluding New
England from a new confederacy, and was “strongly in favor of the proposed
convention being submitted to the people.” He added that “the example of the
Alabama convention, which has passed a secession ordinance, should be a warn-
ing to the people of Virginia.” He saw reason to apprehend that a majority
of the convention may be elected as disunionists, although a large majority of the
voters might be friendly to the Union. Mr. Brockenbrough thought secession
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would come, and asserted that “the Union that the constitution gave us no
longer exists.” C. C. Baldwin, a fourth candidate, favored immediate secession
if the difficulties with the North were not settled when the convention met.

The short campaign was very animated. An editorial of January 31st urges
that the voters insist on a ratification at the polls of the decision of the conven-
tion. It remarks that “there is no limit in the law to the powers of the con-
vention,” which “may bind you against your will to a monarchy or aristocracy
instead of a republic.” It points out disapprovingly that “an able writer in the
Southern press has proposed the adoption of a monarchy,” while another, in
letters to the English papers, suggests asking for one of Victoria’s sons as a king.
It further observes that Mr. Spratt, of South Carolina, had come out boldly for
an aristocracy, alleging that there is an irrepressible conflict between democracy
and aristocracy ; that equality is not a right of mankind in the mass but of equals
only.

In the election there were 1,869 votes for Dorman, 1,839 for Moore, 293
for Brockenbrough, and seventy-two for Baldwin. There were no votes for
Baldwin in six precincts out of the twelve. The result rather upheld the con-
tention of the Gazette that there were not more than 250 secessionists in the
county.

The state convention met February 13th, little more than a fifth of the
delegates going to Richmond as avowed secessionists. By a vote of more than
two to one the people of the state reserved the right to pass upon the action of
that body. By the decisive majority of more than 1,500, Rockbridge declared in
favor of submitting such action to the people.

The following letter by Alexander H. H. Stuart, of Staunton, throws an
interesting light on the atmosphere in which the convention worked.

Since the first day of the session, Richmond has been the scene of unexampled excite-
ment. The disunionists from all parts of the state have been here in force, and have sought
to bring every influence to bear to precipitate Virginia into secession and civil war. * * *
Secession is a doctrine of New England origin. It is at war with the whole theory of our
institutions, and is subversive of every principle of popular government. * * * In my
opinion, there is no natural antagonism between the Northern and the Southern states.
They (the sections) are the complements of each other. The present alienation is the work
of designing men. I believe that all our wrongs can be most effectually redressed in the
Union. Secession, instead of being a remedy. would be an aggravation. It would lead to
emancipation, and probably to emancipation in blood. Should the Union be dissolved peace-
ably, the policy of the new government will be shaped by the cotton states. Free trade, and
direct taxation for the support of the Federal government, will be the cardinal features of
that policy. The expense of maintaining the present government of the United States,
ranging from $60,000,000 to $100,000,000 a year, is raised by duties and is voluntarily paid
in the form of increased prices by those who buy foreign goods. Under the other system,
the tax would be involuntary, and Virginia’s part would be about $5,000,000. * * * This
would be a very heavy burden. South Carolina’s causes of dissatisfaction are financial and
not the same as ours. i
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Samuel McD. Moore, a gentleman now sixty-four years of age, of com-
manding presence and mature convictions, took a leading part in the proceedings
of the convention. He was a member of the Committee on Federal Relations.
Jeremiah Morton, of Orange, introduced a resolution declaring against coercion
of the seceding states on any pretext whatever, and stating that while Virginia
was ardently desiring to restore the Federal Union, she would unite with her
sister states of the South if the efforts then under way should not avail. Mr.
Moore, in reply, said the cotton states had not consulted Virginia, and he did
not intend to be bound hand and foot by them. He would neither be hurried out
of the Union, nor kept in it by precipitate action. If compelled to go anywhere,
he was determined to know first where he was going, who he was to go with,
and what was to be his condition after he did go. He was ready to resist sending
troops through Virginia to attack the seceding states, but if the latter thought
proper to attack any United States fort, they would have to abide the conse-
quences. He would at a proper time undertake to show that there was a conflict
of interest between Virginia and the cotton states.

These five resolutions were introduced by Mr. Moore, February 25th:
1. That in resisting the fugitive slave law, refusing to give up refugees, trying to
deprive the South of common territory, in circulating incendiary pamphlets,
and furnishing arms to bands of assassins, the South demands full and ample
security that these wrongs shall not be repeated. 2. Virginia can never join
a confederacy with the African slave trade. 3. Virginia refuses to endorse
government by direct taxation. 4. Approval of the Crittenden program. 5. “If
such amendments are not adopted, Virginia will enter into a compact with such
states as will agree to adopt them, whereby the present government of the
United States will be dissolved as to the states so agreeing.”

Mr. Dorman introduced an additional resolution to the effect that the
Federal Union can rightfully be dissolved only by the power that made it, and
that Virginia should work for a vote in all the states upon the decision of the
Peace Conference. Several speeches were made on the Moore resolutions. A
band of fifty to sixty men serenaded the seccessionists who had replied to
Moore, and gave three groans while passing Moore’s hotel. There was talk of
burning him in effigy, and yet there was a motion in convention to adjourn to
Staunton.

Meanwhile the people of Rockbridge were expressing their sentiments in word
and in act. The Gagette had made this comment on the slavery issue, February
7th: “To us it seems clear that in the event a Southern Confederacy is formed,
slavery must inevitably be driven from the states of Maryland, Virginia, Ken-
tucky, and Missouri, which will give rise to another dissolution.” Just one
month later it gave these reasons for not going into a Southern Confederacy:
“We are devoted to the institution of slavery. We believe its general tendency
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is to elevate the condition of the African. A few masters maltreat their slaves,
but just as many husbands maltreat their wives. Public sentiment frowns upon
both. If the Southern states unite in a Southern Confederacy, slavery will be
driven out of Virginia. Fifty negroes would run off then for one that runs
off now.” In such a contingency, the Canada line would in effect be brought down
to the frontier of Virginia. ‘

In a meeting at Natural Bridge, March 30th, with Edward Echols as chair-
man, secession resolutions were passed with but three dissenting voices. Yet the
Gazette expressed its belief that if the resolutions were to be offered in a meet-
ing of all the citizens, there would be a majority against them of 1,500. Of
Lincoln’s inaugural address, the Gazette had these words to say: “We are not
disposed to complain of the tone of this document. It maintains the doctrine of
coercion, but there is not the slightest intimation that he would recommend to
Congress the adoption of any coercive measures.”

The final day of the period we are considering came perilously near being
a day of bloodshed. On receipt of the news that Confederate batteries were
firing upon Fort Sumter, a Confederate flag was run up in front of the court-
house. This was at eleven o’clock, on the morning of April 13th. There were
speeches by Major Colston, J. G. Paxton, J. W. Massie, J. C. Davis, and J. W.
Brockenbrough. The Unionists of Lexington, who were numerously represented
among the mechanics and working people, determined to show their resentment
by flying a Federal flag from a still higher flagstaff. The pole, which was of
unusual length, was brought to the courtyard at too late an hour to set it in
place. In the morning it broke while being raised, because of holes that had been
bored into it. It was then necessary to splice the pole, and this work occupied
some time. Meanwhile, a few cadets had come into town, and hot words passed
between them and several of the townspeople. In the scuffle that ensued the
cadets were very roughly handled. It is in the nature of youth to be radical, and
the cadets of the Institute were generally ardent in their enthusiasm for the
Southern Confederacy. On the part of the students of Washington College,
such feeling was less in evidence.

After the mauled youths had returned to their quarters and related their
adventure, their comrades were hot with rage. Almost at once they shouldered
their muskets and began marching up Main Street with the avowed intention of
storming the town and exacting satisfaction by force of arms. They were very
soon met by Major Jackson, afterward the celebrated Stonewall, who told
them they were not marching properly, and they fell into a more regular align-
ment. He accompanied them to the hollow that crosses the street between the
Institute and the courthouse. They were now confronted by Major Colston, one
of their instructors and a person of magnetic influence. By a few brief words of
command he made the column face about and march back to the barracks. A
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little later the hotheads were reprimanded by General Smith, who told them it
was a flagrant violation of good order, whether civil or military, to take the
punishment of their grievance into their own hands and perhaps cause innocent
persons to suffer. Meanwhile, Captain E. F. Paxton, of the local militia com-
pany, had received notice that the cadets were on their way. Though a secession-
ist himself, he did not flinch from his duty. His men, seventy-five in number,
were given their arms, and were posted in windows and at other points of vantage
with orders to fire if the cadets persisted in their rash design. The cadets would
probably have experienced a terrible loss of life and limb if they had not been
brought under control by Colston. Besides the militia, there were some experi-
enced marksmen in the town who had gathered in from the mountains. Had firing
once begun it would have been well aimed.

Francis T. Anderson, who was to speak at the raising of the Federal flag,
was slow to appear and was sent for. His son found him in a law office closeted
with perhaps twenty-five of the citizens. One of the number had received a tele-
gram from Richmond with the news that Lincoln had called on each of the un-
seceded states for a quota of men to put down the secession movement. All the
persons in the room had a very grave air and were engaged in earnest con-
versation. Their conclusion was that there was only one thing to do, and that
was for Virginia to take her stand with the South. Mr. Anderson presently went
out upon the courtyard, and said in substance as he stood by the flagpole: “I love
that flag. For eighty years it has been the flag of my country. Under its folds,
that country has grown rich and prosperous. But, fellow-citizens, that flag is
now in the hands of our enemies.” At this point the speaker was hissed, no
inkling of the telegram having yet reached the throng. But after he had related
the import of the message, and had given his view of its significance to the
Southern people, he was cheered to the echo. Unionism had come to a sudden
end in Rockbridge. May 23rd, the people of Virginia voted on the ordinance of
secession that had been adopted by the convention. In Rockbridge there was
only a single negative vote in a total of 1,728.

In reviewing the momentous year that came to such a well-defined close, it
remains clear that the people of Rockbridge felt no general enthusiasm in the
doctrine of secession; that they deeply disapproved the conduct of the cotton
states ; that their affection for the Union was sincere ; and that they took up arms
against the Federal government with regret. But their heritage of political
thought taught them that the Union of their fathers was founded by consent
and could not rightfully be maintained except by consent. The coercion of a
state by the central government was therefore foreign to their creed. They felt
that the Union was virtually dissolved, that it was now their duty to stand by
their state, and they took up this duty with a resolution worthy of their ancestral
stock. '
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THE WAR OF 1861

OPENING SCENES—MILITARY ORGANIZATIONS—EVENTS OF 1861-2—FEDERAL RAIDS—HUNTER AT
LexINGTON—THE WAR YEARS IN RockBRIDGE—THE CLOSE—
DOCUMENTARY PARAGRAPHS

When the news of the firing on Fort Sumter reached Washington, President
Lincoln called upon Virginia for 2,340 men as her quota for enforcing Federal
jurisdiction in the seceded territory. The date of the proclamation was April
17, 1861. The reply of Governor Letcher was a prompt refusal. The reply of
the state was the passage by the state convention of an ordinance of secession.
The news of these events reached Lexington the morning of Saturday, April
20th, and this county found itself ushered into a war.

In each section it was the prevalent opinion that a determined stand, backed
by a display of military force, would overawe the other. Only those dis-
cerning men who best understood the temper of their opponents felt assured
that actual war was inevitable and that it would be severe and devastating. No
one dreamed that 1,340 engagements would be fought in the Virginias, that more
than 600,000 American soldiers would lose their lives, and that 400,000 others
would be more or less crippled for life. Some persons regarded the coming
clash of arms as though it were like an exciting picnic. Others regarded it with
the most serious feelings.

With the people of Rockbridge the leading issue was home rule as against
the paramount authority of the Federal government. In the other issues, seces-
sion and slavery, they were less interested. Of the four presidential candidates
of the preceding year, Lincoln was looked upon as an enemy, Buchanan as a dis-
honest coward, Breckenridge as a man who truckled to Kentucky Unionism.
Bell was a passive spectator, yet gave his assent to the Confederate movement,
and his followers in the Gulf states were active in its behalf.

The situation between the free and the slave states had been tense an entire
decade. Colonel Smith and several others of the faculty of the Virginia Military
Institute, and nearly 100 of their cadets had formed part of the armed force of
1,500 men that was assembled at Charlestown in the fall of 1859 to prevent any
attempt to rescue John Brown. It was Colonel Smith himself who superintended
the execution of Brown. A year earlier than this, he had been given orders under
secrecy to double the guard of the arsenal, since there was a supposed plot to arm
the negroes at the Pewe Iron Works near Lexington and set in motion a
servile war. In the winter of 1860-61 there had been intense restlessness and
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some turbulence among the cadets. In the early half of April they were almost
daily hoisting secession flags in spite of vigorous efforts to the contrary by the
authorities.

About this time a bachelor makes this comment in the Gazeite on the attitude
of the women:

We believe that it is a historical truth that the ladies of the South have from the be-
ginning of our trouble been in favor of secession. They see by virtue of their superior
intuition the propriety of the measure long before the dull and stolid brains of man could
receive and respond to the impression of the necessity. Whilst men were reasoning upon
the subject and striving in vain to solve the difficult problem, the intuition of the ladies cut
the Gordian knot.

J. B. Smith and J. E. Carson were advertising in the county papers that they
had $100,000 to spend for likely young negroes.

On Sunday, April 21st, the governor ordered Major Jackson to take a num-
ber of cadets to Richmond to act as drill sergeants at Camp Lee, and on Monday
the order was complied with. On Saturday an order had come for the volun-
teer companies of Rockbridge to turn out. At one o’clock p. m., on a date given
as Sunday, but which was probably Monday, the Rockbridge Rifles, 103 strong,
started from Lexington. The Reverend Mr. Tibbs and the venerable Doctor
McFarland gave them a benediction, all heads being uncovered and all eyes
moistened with tears. Doctor White pronounced the benediction at the departure
of the two companies of Rockbridge Dragoons, each about sixty strong. The
destination of these commands was Harper’s Ferry. The officers of the Rifles
were these: Captain, S. H. Letcher; First Lieutenant, E. F. Paxton; Second
Lieutenant, J. K. Edmondson ; Third Lieutenant, W. W. Lewis; Fourth Lieuten-
ant, D. L. Hopkins; Orderly Sergeant, J. C. Boude. The following were the
officers of the First Dragoons: M. X. White, Captain; J. S. Cumings, First Lieu-
tenant; Charles Jordan, Second Lieutenant; M. Burks, Third Lieutenant; J. W.
Moore, Orderly Sergeant. J. R. McNutt was Captain of the Second Dragoons,
R. McChesney was First Lieutenant, and John Gibson was Third Lieutenant.

When the cadets, about 150 strong, started to Richmond by way of Staun-
ton, the Rockbridge Greys, about 100 in number, were quartered at the Institute,
awaiting orders. The Silver Greys were prompt to form a company and elect
officers. The streets of Lexington took on an unusually active appearance. The
citizens were very liberal in equipping the soldiers, and a committee of them
stood pledged to look after the families of those who had gone to war. Accord-
ing to the Gasette, a respected man of color set about raising a fund for this
purpose.

A meeting at Natural Bridge, presided over by Colonel J. H. Paxton,
adopted these resolutions: That a committee of seven men, one from each
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magisterial district, be appointed to receive subscriptions of money and materials
for clothing ; that R. H. Catlett be quartermaster and J. H. Myers, treasurer ; that
able-bodied young men, to the number of not more than 200, and who desire
to serve their country, be requested to report at once to Colonel Davidson at
Lexington ; that William Dold be a commissary to secure supplies for the soldiers
awaiting orders in Lexington.

May 3rd, a flag was presented to the Artillery Company, J. D. Davidson
making the speech. Responses were given by Captain Pendleton and Sergeant
J. C. Davis. June 8th, the ladies of the Falling Springs congregation presented
a beautiful flag to the Liberty Hall Volunteers, who were pronounced “one of
the finest looking bodies of men sent from this portion of the state.” The com-
pany marched the same day with Professor White as their captain. At this time,
Washington College, with sixty-nine students on its roll, closed for the remainder
of the session. Three days earlier, the Rockbridge Guards, seventy-five strong,
left Brownsburg under command of Captain David P. Curry. In a little more
than a week the ladies of that village and its vicinity had made coats, trowsers,
knapsacks, haversacks, cloth caps, and covered canteens for eighty men, besides
ten tents and 140 fatigue shirts of gray cloth. All the men were provided with
shoes and socks.

Within twenty weeks from the marching of the cadets, the Lexington papers
could announce that Rockbridge had supplied her full quota of volunteers.

All in all, the following organizations were furnished by this county to the
Confederate service: two batteries of artillery, four companies of cavalry, seven
companies of infantry, a company of rangers, senior and junior reserves to the
number of ninety, and 206 men on miscellaneous duty, making a total of 2,343.
Of these, 250 were killed in battle, 169 died in service, and 463 others were
wounded, making a total in casualties of 882, or 37.7 per cent.; almost precisely
three men out of eight. Included in this number, however, are 288 men of
other counties who enlisted in the Rockbridge organizations. Another statement
places the number of Rockbridge men at 2,154.

In 1900, after six years of toil, J. P. Moore, J. S. Moore, and W. T. Poague
compiled a list of the Rockbridge soldiers. They announced that absolute accur-
acy could not be assured; that several names probably appear twice in their
list, that the miscellaneous list is probably deficient, that not all the names of the
Senior Reserves could be secured, and that the enumeration of casualties may
be incomplete. But since the list is quite nearly accurate, it is a monument to
the diligence of these veterans. The senior reserves did not include men under
forty-five, and few of them could have been living. Junior reserves were under

eighteen years of age.
The Rockbridge commands were in the Virginia campaigns, and most of them
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were in many battles. The first to respond was the Rockbridge Rifles, which was
organized November 17, 1859, immediately after the John Brown affair. It was
first assigned to the 5th Virginia, but was soon transferred to the 4th, and just
after First Manassas, in which it lost fifteen men, to the 27th. It was in twenty-
four engagements, Falling Waters being the first and Appomattox the last, where
it surrendered thirty-three men. It had contained in all 140 men, and the pre-
ceding casualties were fifty-six. This company was often employed in sharp-
shooting service.

The Rockbridge Battery marched from Lexington, May 10, 1861, with about
seventy men and two small six-pounders from the Institute. Two other guns
were given to it at Harper’s Ferry. One of its guns was all the Confederate
artillery in the affair at Falling Waters, and its fire was very accurate and
effective. This command had the reputation of being one of the best in the
Army of Northern Virginia, and at no time did it lack for recruits. Of its mem-
bership forty-five were commissioned as officers and assigned to other companies.
John McCausland, its first captain, rose to the rank of major-general. The
command was in twenty-one battles and sustained 147 casualties, yet surrendered
ninety-six men at Appomattox.*

The First Dragoons was organized at Fancy Hill May 16, 1859, by Captain
L. V. Davidson.

. The Liberty Hall Volunteers—Company I of the 4th Virginia Infantry—
were organized at Washington College and served in the Stonewall Brigade.
The company was in thirty-two battles and lost 146 men, one of whom—A. B.
Ramsay—was wounded on four different occasions. At First Kernstown the
Volunteers were almost annihilated. At Sharpsburg they lost three out of the
five who were engaged. At Chancellorsville they lost nineteen out of twenty-
eight, and after the engagement of May 12, 1864, at Spottsylvania, only two men
were left.

Company H of the 25th Virginia Infantry, organized at Wilson’s Springs,
won fame as good marksmen and hard fighters. In the battle of McDowell, it
lost twenty men out of thirty-five, every commissioned officer being put out of
action.

The Rockbridge Greys of the Stonewall Brigade came principally from
within a radius of five miles around Buffalo Forge. They were armed at the
start with the very light cadet musket, but later with the Enfield. Their first
battle was First Manassas, where they lost nineteen men out of sixty-four.

Company E of the 52nd Virginia Infantry was composed entirely of Rock-

*The Story of a Cannoneer, by Edward A. Moore, of the Rockbridge Artillery—a de-
scendant of General Andrew Moore—is a vivid and realistic presentation of war as seen
by a private soldier, and has been kindly mentioned by literary critics.
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bridge men from the 8th and 144th regiments of the militia. It was organized
at Staunton, August 1, 1861, upon the disbanding of the militia organization. It
fought under Jackson and was in fourteen battles, losing fifty-two men.

Company G of the 58th Virginia was mustered in at Staunton, also on
August 1, 1861. All but about nine of its members were from Kerr’s Creek.
This company served under General Edward Johnson in Pocahontas and High-
land, and was in the battle of McDowell. Thenceforward it was in Jackson’s
corps. Its leading engagements were twenty-three, and it numbered sixty men
at Appomattox.

Company G of the 14th Cavalry, organized in 1862, included nineteen men
from this county, twelve of whom were original members of the Greys.

Company C of the same cavalry regiment was organized in 1862, and was
largely made up of men who had already served in the Rockbridge Second
Dragoons and the Churchville Cavalry. It was larger than the army regulations
permitted, and a portion was formed into Company H.

For more than three years Rockbridge was not penetrated by any Federal
column. Yet as early as the June of the first year of the war there was a wild
rumor that a force of Federal cavalry was on its way from Ohio to destroy the
Virginia Military Institute. There were then no hostile troops nearer than the
vicinity of the Ohio river, and still the report was enough to bring out about 120
men at Brownsburg and fifty-five at J. W. Youell’s on Walker’s Creek. July
brought anxious moments. Men from this county fought at Falling Waters, the
opening engagement in the Shenandoah, at Rich Mountain, where the first serious
fighting took place in West Virginia, and at First Manassas, where twelve Rock-
bridge men were killed and thirty-six wounded. During the remaining months
of 1861 there was but slight military activity in the Virginias.

At the opening of May, 1862, the army of Banks, nearly 20,000 strong, was
lying at Harrisonburg, only forty miles from the Rockbridge line, and Staunton
was threatened. The cadets were called out to aid in the successful repelling of
the Federal advance, and after the battle of Port Republic on June 9th, the county
was relieved of further apprehension for some months. The field crops were
good, both in 1861 and 1862. But the depreciation already creeping into the
Confederate currency was reflected in the rise of the private soldier’s pay to
$15.00 a month.

With one exception the principal threats to the county were from the Federal
cavalry under General Averill. The first of these raids was late in August,
1863. Awverill left Winchester the Sth of that month and reached Callaghan
Station near Covington twenty days later, after destroying the saltpeter works
along his route. Colonel W. L. Jackson had 900 men at Millboro, and intended
to make a stand at Panther Gap. Two companies of cadets and one company
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of home guards marched to Goshen, but as Averill did not turn eastward, the
reénforcement returned to Lexington after an absence of two days.

Early in November Averill was again at Callaghan. Imboden took position
a mile east of Covington, where he was joined on the morning of the 9th by
Colonel Shipp with 225 cadets and one rifled gun and by Colonel Massie with
575 of the home guards. Eight companies of these were mounted. Averill
retired toward Huntersville, but thinking a flank movement was the real purpose,
Imboden took a diagonal course and marched to Goshen. He thus saved the six
or eight very necessary blast furnaces. At Armentrout’s, Imboden dismissed the
cadets and the guards.

Only one month later there was a third and more serious raid. With both
cavalry and artillery, Averill was once more at Callaghan, December 14th. De-
feated in the battle of Droop Mountain, November 6th, General John Echols
had fallen back to Union, where on the night of the 14th he was joined by
McCausland from the Narrows of New River. A Federal force under Colonel
Scammon had occupied Lewisburg. But Averill found Jackson’s River unford-
able. General Fitzhugh Lee with two of his brigades advanced from Char-
lottesville to cover Staunton, and was joined by Imboden on Shenandoah Moun-
tain. General Early came also to Staunton and took command. Averill was at
Sweet Springs on the 15th. By marching eighty miles in thirty hours, he struck
the Virginia and Tennessee Railroad at Salem and did great damage. Meanwhile,
Lee was ordered in pursuit. Colonel Jackson was directed to take position at
Clifton Forge, and Echols on Sweet Springs Mountain. Again Shipp and Massie
marched with the cadets and the home guards. The latter reached Goshen on
the 17th, but was ordered to countermarch in haste and guard the bridges over the
Buffalo. By noon on the next day he was joined at Lexington by Lee with
2,700 men, and by Imboden. The combined force advanced to Collierstown and
camped. Auverill circulated the report that he would return by way of Buchanan
and Lee was ordered to that town. But Averill moved to Newcastle, which he
reached on sunset of the 18th. He was told that Lee was at Fincastle and
Jones between him and Sweet Springs. By great nimbleness of movement, and
with the help of a doctor whose knowledge of the mountain roads proved ex-
ceedingly inconvenient to the pursuers, Averill slipped between the Confederate
commands and escaped by way of Covington. These operations covered one
week, which was a time of cold rains and swollen rivers, and consequenlty of
great hardship to all the soldiers concerned.

During the winter of 1863-64, the Laurel Brigade of General Rosser was
quartered at Buffalo Forge. It broke camp April 11th.

Early in May, 1864, General Crook was joined by Averill at Union. General
Jenkins was defeated by him at Cloyd Mountain and at New River Bridge, where
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the railroad to Tennessee was again damaged. Crook then marched to Staunton
by way of Greenbrier.

General Sigel, who commanded the Federals at New Market, was of German
birth, and his record as a military leader is indifferent. He was superseded
by General David Hunter, who won a victory at Piedmont, June 5th, where
General W. E. Jones, the Confederate leader, was killed. Two days later Hunter
occupied Staunton without opposition, the Confederates falling back to Rockfish
Gap to protect Charlottesville. The railroad for three miles on each side of
Staunton was destroyed. The next day he was joined by Crook and Averill, who
struck the Virginia Central at Goshen and wrecked it as they came along. June
10th Hunter began his advance to Lexington in four parallel columns, and
reached the Rockbridge line by nightfall. Soon after noon the next day he had
come to North River, the 1,400 cavalry under McCausland being too light a
force to hinder his progress in any marked degree. The Confederates fell back
through Lexington, leaving the bridge over North River in flames. The black-
ened timbers were falling into the current as the Federals came up. Their
passage was disputed by some artillery and by sharpshooters on the bluff at the
Institute and in storehouses near the river. In his report Hunter calls McCaus-
land unsoldierly in risking the destruction of the town by a superior force. He
had thirty guns, some of which unlimbered on high ground and dropped a few
shells around the Institute and into the lower course of Main Street. But the
skirmish at the river was a small incident, the Federals losing only four men. A
pontoon was thrown across below the road, and before the close of the day
the town was in their possession. Two of their officers, Colonel Hayes and
Major McKinley, were subsequently presidents of the United States. The
retreat of McCausland was hastened by Averill, who crossed the river eight miles
above the town.

The next morning witnessed the most regrettable incidents of the raid.
General Hunter was a stern soldier, harsh toward a foe, and had an almost
irresistible propensity to burn private as well as public buildings. Soldiers are
quick to take their cue from their commander-in-chief, and the rudeness shown by
many of Hunter’s men was largely a reflection of the vindictiveness for which the
general was well known.

On this day, and not so soon as Hunter had intended it, the Virginia Mili-
tary Institute and the house of Governor Letcher were burned. The cadets
had been sent against the Federal forces whenever opportunity presented itself.
Under the generally accepted usages of the civilized nations of 1864, it was per-
missible to render the buildings unserviceable to them in a military sense. But
this school is and always has been fundamentally scientific, the military feature
being as incidental as it is in many of the colleges and academies of the present
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day. That the burning of the recitation rooms, the library, and the scientific
apparatus was unwarrantable was officially admitted by the National government
subsequently paying the Institute $100,000, which, however, was less than one-
half the estimated damages. Nevertheless, Hunter made an almost clean sweep,
sparing only the house of the superintendent, where two sick girls were lying.
Hunter intended to burn Washington College also, but finally yielded to the
representations of one of the oldest of the alumni. Nevertheless the buildings
were plundered and damaged, especially with respect to the library and the
laboratory equipment, but restitution was made in 1887 to the extent of $17,000.

The burning of the fine residence of John Letcher was a wanton act. Hunter
alleges that it was done by way of reprisal, and because of an “inflammatory
proclamation” urging the people of Rockbridge to turn themselves into bush-
whackers. But Letcher was no longer governor of Virginia. His appeal was
that of a private citizen. We have not seen the document, but we feel assured
that it did not sanction any form of resistance not generally recognized as
legitimate. Mr. Letcher could not have been so unwise and shortsighted as to
advise a course of action that would cause needless suffering to his people.
General Hunter made the most of some very poor excuses, and his incendiarism
was against the express instructions of President Lincoln. It was discounten-
anced by many of his own officers, so far they could do so without exposing them-
selves to a charge of insubordination.

Hunter’s army remained in Lexington until about daybreak on the morning
of June 14th. It made beefsteak of the cows in and around the town, and
developed an extraordinary appetite for the acres of onions planted for the
Confederate soldiery. The cadets, about 250 strong, had marched to Balcony
Falls to assist in holding that pass. The Federal army pushed on to Buchanan,
on its way to Lynchburg, in an attempt to capture that important place. In its
march through the rural districts it caused much uneasiness, but we are told
that the behavior of the soldiers was better than in Lexington. Hunter burned
about a half-dozen each of furnaces and canal barges, and carried away a
few prisoners, five guns, some ammunition, and the statue of Washington that
was on the college tower. Whether the bell of the Institute was carried away
or was buried in the debris of the ruins we are not informed. By the standards
of 1861-64, the treatment of Lexington by Hunter was severe. Yet it was
not a circumstance to what would have been its fate had it been entered by a
German army of the present war. The town would have been burned to the
ground after the residences had been looted; scores of the inhabitants, without
distinction of age or sex, would have been maimed or massacred; the able-
bodied males would have been carried away into virtual slavery, and many of the
females would have been carried away for a purpose not necessary to particularize.
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In the brief interval between the firing on Sumter and the first passage at
arms in Virginia, the Gazette took occasion to deprecate “the tarring, etc., of
those voters who are against the ordinance of secession, as subversive of law and
order. If a free citizen is not to be allowed to exercise his free will in casting his
vote, then the submission of the question is mere mockery. Many of our best
citizens still believe the border states have not adopted the best method of
redressing their grievances. Whilst they cannot conscientiously change their
opinion, toss up their caps and huzza for secession, they are ready to defend
Virginia with the last drop of their blood. We are personally acquainted with
the sentiments of some sterling men, whom we have heard assailed as abolitionists
by flippant coxcombs and silly misses.”

At the close of 1864 the War Department of the Confederacy estimated
that there were 50,000 deserters from its armies in the mountain districts of the
South. Some of these were in this county. In August, 1863, Lieutenant Wise
was sent out with fifty of the cadets to scour the hills, but returned the next day
without meeting any success whatever. The mountain paths were far more un-
familiar to them than to the refugees.

More than one-seventh of the white population of Rockbridge was absent in
the Confederate army, and as the greater portion of the farmers were not slave-
holders, there was a distressing shortage of labor. The hardships which the
people at home were called upon to undergo were very great. Fencing was
burned for campfires, and fields thus became commons. There was a progressive
deterioriation of the roads. Many of the people became very poorly clad, even
after bedding had been made into wearing apparel. Maple sirup and sorghum
sirup took the place of sugar. Many a meal consisted only of corn bread, roasted
potatoes, and rye coffee, and even then there was a scarcity of corn. Foodstuffs
were hidden to escape the thief as well as the impressing agent, and it was very
unsafe to tell where such articles were concealed. The informant was some-
times put out of the way. Deserters and slackers were tolerated because of the
fear that they would burn the home of the one who would tell about them. As
for the hungry soldier, he was much the same, whether Federal or Confederate.

As early as August, 1862, the depreciation in the paper currency was causing
prices to soar. But in the summer of 1864, a yard of linsey sold at $2500, and
other articles in proportion. Postage was five cents for a less distance than
500 miles. and ten cents for a greater distance. However, depreciation was not
the only trouble with the prices. Governor Letcher’s message of September 25,
1862, contains this vigorous denunciation of the profiteer:

A reckless spirit for money-making appears to have taken entire possession of the
public mind. Patriotism is second to a love of the Almighty Dollar. The price of every-
thing is put to the highest point. What must be the feelings of a man who is fighting the
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battles of the country, when he is receiving but $11.00 per month, is informed that a pair of
ladies’ shoes costs $16.00, with everything else in proportion? With what heart can he
fight our battles under such circumstances?

There were other complaints of extortion. A local paper said Rockbridge
was overrun with speculators and hucksters, who were stripping the country
of almost everything necessary to human existence. Provisions of any kind
could hardly be had for love or money. Thousands of barrels of flour, pur-
chased at $15.00, were stored at Lynchburg and Richmond for sale at $30.00.

After four years of progressive privation, the return of peace was a relief.
A meeting held at Staunton, May 8, 1865, declared the people of Augusta county
ready to conform to the laws of the United States. Even before Appomattox,
one of the men representing Virginia in the Confederate Senate had expressed
himself in favor of a reunion of the states. Wreck and ruin were visible
in every direction, and it was a large task to remove the signs. Yet such was the
energy and the recuperative power of the Rockbridge people that the process
of restoration was rapid, and in five years it was fairly complete. In commerce
the recovery was faster than in farming. But during the twelve months fol-
lowing the surrender of General Lee, little money was to be seen except
specie, and there was a tendency to hold coin in reserve.

In the first years of the war the rich could purchase exemption for their
own sons, and it was due to this discrimination that even yet the war is sometimes
referred to as “the rich man’s war and the poor man’s fight.” But substitution
was at length abolished. The outcome of the great conflict put the aristocrat on
his mettle and he went to work.

If 1870 found economic recovery measurably complete in Rockbridge, it also
marked the end for Virginia of that unsavory episode in American history
known as the Reconstruction Period. In 1868 Virginia was Military District
Number One, and it was not able to take part in the general election of that
year. A few months later the carpet-bag régime was overthrown, and in
January, 1870, the state was again a member of the Federal Union.

To give a further insight into the events of the four years of war, we devote
the remainder of this chapter to extracts from the county order-books and the
newspaper files.

EXTRACTS FROM THE ORDER-BOOKS

1861

All justices present, May 9th, to consider the subject of arming the militia, according
to the Act of January 19th. The following orders were issued:

An issue of county bonds to the amount of not more than $25,000, and in sums of not
less than $100. The bonds to be registered and numbered, signed by the presiding justice
and countersigned by the clerk, and made payable to the treasurer. Interest payable semi-
annually.
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William Dold, Joseph G. Steele, and John D. Paxton constituted a committee to carry
the above order into effect, and to deposit the money thus realized with the Bank of Lex-
ington.

Whenever the colonel, lieutenant-colonel, and first major—or any two of them—of
either militia regiment shall certify that at least sixty efficient men are organized into a
volunteer company, and that the assistance of the county is needed to equip the company, a
warrant to that effect is to be issued, but not for more than $25.00 per soldier.

The commissioners shall provide quarters and subsistance while such companies are
drilling, such expense not to exceed $20.00 per soldier; likewise subsistance, and transporta-
tion to rendezvous if ordered into service.

The justices of the several districts—or any two of them—may ascertain the wants of
the families of men who are in service, and see that requisite necessaries are supplied, and
make report monthly. The sum to be thus used is not to exceed $5,000.

Reports to be turned in at each term of court.

The foregoing orders to be published in the Lexington Gazette and the Valley Star.

Ordered, June 3rd, that a Home Guard be organized, the same to include all the white
males able to serve and who have taken the oath of fidelity to the Commonwealth. The
Guards to patrol their several neighborhoods with a view to the preservation of peace
and quiet, and to be empowered to arrest and bring before a justice all persons, white
or black, whom they may have reason to suspect of improper purposes, or violation of the
Ordinance of Secession.

Abraham Doubt, slave of Mrs. Hennetta Ruff, cleared of the charge of inciting servile
insurrection, but not of that of making seditious speeches. Ordered that he be given thirty-
nine lashes on the bare back at the whipping post.

A levy ordered of six cents per $100 on land and personalty, and eighteen cents on each
slave over twelve years old, the avails to be applied to the interest on the bonds and the
payment of the first instalment. Another levy, of seventy cents per $100 of land and
personalty, was to pay interest on the county’s subscription to the North River Navigation
Company.

The road levy was fixed at $1.50 in money or two days in labor.

The July court reduced the minimum bond to $20.00.

1862

In March and April 385 men were exempted from military service because of physical
disqualification. Ninety-six others were exempted as being millers, overseers, blacksmiths,
etc. There were ninety-three refusals.

A bond issue of $10,000 ordered in May to relieve the families of volunteers and the
militia.

Robert J. White was appointed salt agent, and was authorized to buy not more than
10,000 bushels, the faith of the county being pledged to the payment.

1863

In January there was a further issue, by a vote of eleven against ten, for the relief of
soldier families. In the further distribution of relief, ordered that the weekly allowance,
paid in money, be $1.25 to a wife, seventy-five cents for each girl over the age of twelve, and
fifty cents for each child under twelve.

An order of $10,000 in county notes was ordered, the issue to be in the denominations
of one dollar, fifty cents, twenty-five cents, fifteen cents, and ten cents.

In January there were 608 slaves in the county between the ages of eighteen and forty-
five, who were liable to be drafted for work on fortifications, The apportionment was
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to be made by a committee of justices, one from each district. The slaves were to be
valued. The number actually drafted was 266.

In September the sheriff was to enroll all male slaves, including rfugees, between the
ages of eighteen and fifty-five, to fill a requisition for work on forts. 292 were furnished,
out of the 701 who were liable.

1864

Substitution was abolished in January by an Act of the Confederate Congress.

A. S. Bacon, forty-seven years of age, was appointed General Agent and Storekeeper
for Rockbridge, giving bond in the sum of $50,000. He was directed to borrow, on the
faith of the county, to the amount of not more than $50,000, and to purchase cotton yarns
and cloths, and other articles of prime necessity. While thus employed he was to have a
salary of $200 a month, over and above his expenses, and was to make a report at each
term of court. In February he asked whether, in the existing condition of the country,
he should continue his efforts. He was directed to use his own discretion.

There was a call, February 1st, for ninety slaves to work on the forts around Richmond.
The court thought they should be kept at home to work the farms, fortify the mountain
passes, and aid in preventing the raids that were always threatening the county. Raids
had already taken place in the preceding year in the months of June, August, November,
and December, and another invasion was likely to occur at any time. The governor of the
state was asked to exempt the county from the requisition.

Supplies extremely scarce in April. Agents cannot buy enough for the indigent families.
1,300 persons are dependent on public support. 4,950 bushels of corn and 660 barrels of
flour are needed before August 1st. The court certifies that the supplies asked are neces-
sary. It is represented to that body that corn and wheat may be purchased at the depots of
the tax-in-kind of the Confederate government. Bacon is instructed to spend as much of
the $50,000 as will relieve the want, refugees and sojourners being included.

The court asks that the deputy sheriffs now liable to service be exempted. Three are
required, outbreaks being daily on the increase. For more than thirty years four deputies
have been constantly engaged. The county has over 18,000 people, and is broken and moun-
tainous.

In April it is stated that certain citizens are believed to be evading the impressment of
supplies. Impressment agents are required to call upon the sheriff, or any constable, and
such official is authorized to summon any number of citizens to take impressed articles by
force. A refusal to so assist will be contempt of court.

Several murders and attempts at murder during the year.

A committee was appointed June 6th to visit the battlefields near Staunton and Rich-
mond to look after wounded Rockbridge soldiers. Another committee is in the field to
collect supplies and forward them to the first committee.

During Hunter’s raid, thirty or more barrels of flour—left in certain mills—were carried
off.

In November another issue of $50,000 in bonds for the relief of indigents.

Severe drouth in the summer and very meagre crop. Scarcely enough supplies in the
county for home needs.

(FROM THE NEWSPAPER FILES)
1861
1,500 men in the county on government wages.
Complaint in October that tanneries are paying only five cents per pound for hides,

but asking from sixty cents and upward for leather.
Schools languishing,
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1862

Prices in August: flour, $8.00; corn, $1.00; oats, fifty cents; butter, twenty-five to
thirty cents; bacon, thirty-five cents; beef, nine to twelve cents; eggs, fifteen cents.

“If every part of the Confederacy has as many idle young men in it as this quiet little
town of Lexington, we might raise a splendid army in addition to the forces now in the
field.”—Gaseite, August 14.

The Natural Bridge Aid Society sent $150 to the relief of the wounded of the 12th
Georgia at McDowell.

Public schools partially or entirely closed for more than a year. Private schools fully
sustained. Ann Smith Academy reorganized with Mrs. George D. Baskerville as principal.
The Rev. Mr. Trimble’s school at Brownsburg now in its third year and more flourishing
than ever before.—August 21.

Good crops in the Valley of Virginia. 2

Candles seventy-five cents a pound. Why not substitute an hour of the morning for an
hour of the evening?

About 150 of the Rockbridge Dragoons surprised and captured in the west of Green-
brier, about December 1st, by the Federal cavalry.

1863

Farm produce five times as high as usual. Things purchased, ten times as high.—
February 2.

Wood, per cord, $12.00.—March 5.

Native dyes, copperas being a requisite in each instance: The root and bark of sassafras,
a beautiful yellow and orange; kalmia (dwarf laurel), a drab; willow bark, a deep blue-
black on wool and linen, a dark slate on cotton; bark and root of red oak, a chocolate brown;
pine bark, a slate (on cotton) ; pine with kalmia, a dove; sweet gum bark, a dove; maple,
a purple; beech bark, a dove; leaves and berries of sumach, a black; white oak, a lead (on
cotton), but will not dye wool.

200,000 pounds of bacon in the county—April 15.

As a candidate for the Confederate Congress, Baldwin hag 676 votes and Letecher 526.

253 cadets in the Virginia Military Institute, May 6th, and more wish to come in.
Sixty students at Washington College.

Seventy-five families in Lexington will need bread this winter, and 100 will need fuel
to the amount of 500 cords. 150 families in the corporation produce no foodstuffs.

1864
Lexington House sells for $100,000 in January.
Many farmers on half rations of meat so as to send meat to the army.
Matrimonial advertisement by one of Rosser’s soldiers.
Several smokehouses robbed in April.
English stationery on sale at one of the stores.
Large wheat crop, considering the reduction in the supply of labor.
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RECENT PERIOD

Progress DURING THE Periop—LocAL PoriTics—EcoNoMIC AND SociAL CHANGES—
War or 1917

More than half a century has now elapsed since the great war of the 60’s.
In this county the period has brought a progressive transformation, greater and
more striking in its aggregate results than was witnessed in the equal number of
years just preceding. )

In October, 1868, a local paper remarks that greenbacks were becoming fairly
plentiful and that the merchants were laying in heavy stocks of goods. In the
same month the Rockbridge Agricultural and Mechanical Society roused itself
from its war eclipse and held a fair continuing three days. The new beginning
was kept up, and notwithstanding the fact that the whole country was in 1874
in the throes of a severe business depression, the fair of that year was quite
successful.

In 1890 Rockbridge fell a victim to the speculative mania known as a boom.
The visitation created an important town at Buena Vista and was not entirely
unsuccessful at Glasgow or at the county seat. The amount of money that was
forthcoming to be invested in “development” stock and town lots was a significant
commentary on the rapid recuperation that had taken place in twenty-five years.
In fact, the assessed valuation for 1877 was greater by $2,000,000 than the
value of farms, farm machinery, and livestock in 1850. By 1917 the valuation
of real and personal property had risen from $5,785,786 to $8,533,920, exclusive
of Buena Vista.

During the reconstruction episode the “Yankee” was not a popular personage.
In 1869 we hear the complaint that pedlers from the North were representing
themselves as Englishmen. However, when Colonel Waite came from Batavia,
New York, in 1873 to visit his old friends the Davidsons, he could report that
he was treated in the most friendly and courteous manner, although he saw
many ex-soldiers who were lame or otherwise disabled. He observed that the
negro was inclined to flock to the towns, thus causing a scarcity of labor, although
many were still in the employ of their former masters. He found slavery unre-
gretted, yet found the opinion general that the enfranchisement of the blacks,
in the way it was accomplished, was a political blunder. Two years after the
visit of Colonel Waite, John Leyburn remarked that “no well disposed Northerner
need fear as to a kindly reception.” Two years later yet, a county paper was
wishing that more results might come from efforts to attract immigration from
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the North. It remained for the dastardly shooting of President Garfield to
elicit the following remark from the Gazette:

No event in American history has so unified the people as the shot at Garfield. We have
discovered all at once that we are Americans. The Union has been restored. The Republic
lives. Guiteau’s bullets have done more to show the people of these United States what
manner of men they are than anything that has happened in their history. The spontaneous
outburst of Southern indignation speaks too plainly to be misunderstood.

In announcing the death of the president, C. M. Dold, mayor of Lexington,
requested that business be suspended for the day, and that at four o’clock the
citizens should assemble at the Presbyterian church, the largest in the town.
The schools were also suspended, minute guns were fired at the Institute, and
the religious services at the church were largely attended.

By a majority of forty-four votes, one precinct not reporting, Rockbridge
declared itself adverse to the Constitutional Convention of 1902. But the changes
embodied in the state constitution of that year met with general approval. Three
years later the County News deprecated airing the race issue on the stump.

During the few decades that the Whig party was a factor in American
politics, Rockbridge gave majorities for that ticket. We are without precise
knowledge of the political complexion of the county in the early period of the
nineteenth century.

The close of hostilities in 1865 found the Whig party in high favor in the
South because of its far-sighted attitude respecting secession in 1860-61. Its
opponent, generally in the lead in these states, was under some reproach because
of the results of its sponsorship of that issue. The way seemed open for two
strong parties to exist in the South as well as in the North. But with a pro-
found lack of broad vision, the ultra partisan element that came to the front after
the assassination of Lincoln pursued a course which almost solidified the whites
of the South in a support of the Democratic party. In 1873 the Democratic
candidate for the governorship had more than twice as many votes in Rockbridge
as his opponent, the latter carrying only one precinct. In the presidential contest
of 1876 Tilden had 2505 votes and Hayes only 903. When the Democracy of
Virginia divided on the state debt issue, the Readjuster wing was the stronger
in this county, and its majority in 1879 was about 200. Yet in 1881 the Readjuster
candidate as governor ran behind his popular opponent by ninety-one votes, al-
though he carried seven precincts.

Many of the Readjusters went over to the Republican party, and for more
than twenty years Rockbridge lay in the doubtful column. In 1880 the Republican
candidate for the governorship had a majority of sixty-eight. In 1884 the
Democratic majority for Cleveland was 101, and in 1892 it was 230. But Mc-
Kinley’s majority was 660 in 1896, and 553 in 1900. In 1901 the state ticket
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showed a Republican majority of 142. In 1893, Yost for Congress had a
majority over Tucker of seventy-seven.

The constitution of 1902 had in Rockbridge a twofold effect. It caused a
great reduction in the aggregate vote, and as this reduction made a heavier in-
road upon the Republican column than upon the Democratic, the county no
longer stands in the doubtful list. Thus in 1894, 1900, and 1901, the combined
votes for the two leading candidates were respectively 3,945, 3,968, and 3,450. It
is therefore evident that the average election brought out fully eighty per cent.
of the voting population. But in the first election under the new system—that of
1903—the total vote had fallen to 1,895. In 1913 it was only 780. In 1912,
however, it rose to 1,837, 1,106 votes going to Wilson, 474 to Taft, and 257
to Roosevelt. In 1916 the Democratic candidate for the Assembly carried
thirteen precincts and had 1,030 votes. His Republican competitor carried eight
precincts and had 835 votes. In the same year Wilson had 1,205 votes and
Hughes 678. The west side of the county remains a Republican stronghold.

The period we are considering has brought a number of important changes.
The census of 1870 was defective in the Southern states, but on the face of the
returns there was a significant loss in population in this county for the decade
1860-70 of 1,190. Between 1870 and 1910, there was a gain of fifty-two per
cent., or, if the figures for 1860 be compared with those for 1910, the gain was
forty-two per cent. However, much the greater share of this gain is absorbed by
the increase in the town and village population. In the neighborhoods strictly
rural the gain has been small.

The canal has gone into disuse, there have been great inroads upon the
forest supply, and the smelting of iron keeps in the closest touch with the rail-
way siding. But with the exception of the old line of the Chesapeake and
Ohio, all the railroad mileage in the county has come into operation since 1880.
If mining has relatively decreased, manufacturing has greatly increased. If there
is no conspicuous increase in the tilled acreage, the local agriculture has ad-
vanced in output, and there is a more general recognition of scientific methods.
The silo and the commercial orchard have appeared, and the canning industry is
gaining a foothold. The log house is not extinct, and inhabited specimens will
be found in Rockbridge about as long as anywhere in Virginia; but very many
of the farm homes are roomy, comfortable, attractive, and modern.

The pay school has yielded to the free school, and the latter is efficiently
- administered. The higher educational institutions of the county were never in a
more prosperous condition.

The telephone, the automobile, and free rural delivery, unknown in the early
years of the period, are deeply modifying the habits of the people. The taxable
wealth is greater than in the most palmy days of the antebellum era, even with its

slave valuation.
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With a colored laboring class nearly one-third as numerous as the white
population, there was necessarily a jar in the adjustment to the changed labor
system that began in 1865. But the whites went to work so manfully that in a
few years the deeper traces of the war were obliterated. Hired service is no
longer under any social ban. Between 1900 and 1910, the colored element de-
creased nearly one-third, and Rockbridge has assumed much of the appearance of
a community that is wholly white. Yet it does not by any means follow that the
negro will totally disappear. In the Rockbridge of today the colored people are,
on the whole, orderly, industrious, and prosperous.

In a larger degree than was usual in the Valley counties, the old Rockbridge
was noted for its fine country estates, owned by an old family element that was
numerous, cultured, and influential. This class has relatively declined, much of it
having been attracted to the cities and to other states. The less wealthy class
of whites has perhaps come nearer to holding its own, and a new element has
slowly yet steadily been coming in. In consequence, there is a very perceptible
difference between the Rockbridge of yesterday and the Rockbridge of today.

The citizen of this county is industrious and hospitable, and is conservative
in thought and action. His local patriotism is deep, and it leads him to draw a
distinction between the descendant of the early settler and the resident born in
some other community. .

In 1914 the world was prosperous. With only one conspicuous exception
all the members of the family of nations had a sincere desire to live in peace
with one another. Yet a rich and thriving country of Europe, acting through
a subservient neighbor, deliberately provoked a general war, and waged it with
a studied cruelty which would have shamed the North American Indian of
the eighteenth century. There was a contempt for the good opinion of the
world. No considerations of truth, honor, or humanity were permitted to stand
in the way of the German program. The horrible crimes perpetrated by the
German armies were by order of the German leaders, and seemingly with the
general consent of the German people.

The colossal vanity of the kaiser made him aspire to be another Alexander
the Great. Behind him was a feulalistic group of military leaders, land barons,
and captains of industry. Below him and them were the millions of the German
people, trained from infancy to obey the nod of the man in authority, and with-
out any practical voice in their government. The conceit, arrogance, and greed of
the war lords was boundless. By means of a domestic propaganda, adroit
and persistent, the German had for years been indoctrined with the myth of
his superiority to anyone else whomsoever. The clergyman, the schoolmaster,
and the journalist were permitted to teach only what would encourage the
opinion that it was the God-given mission of the German to overcome other
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nations by the sword and rule the entire earth. The world was not to be
conquered for the world’s good, but that it might be plundered and domineered
over. That nation the German saw fit to deem degenerate was to be blotted
out. This propaganda developed the “bighead” in a most acute form. It led to
an insufferable contempt for the rest of the world. Consequently, the German
has utterly failed as a colonizer, or in gaining the good will of the Europeans
who are not German, yet hitherto under German rule.

Germany has posed as a highly civilized nation. Her industrial organiza-
tion was very efficient. She already had an enviable “place in the sun,” but
wanted a monopoly of this privilege. The Germans have some commendable
traits and have great possibilities for good in the upbuilding of the world. But
they are as yet a young people, only superficially weaned from barbarism and
paganism, and without the acquirement of the habit of good manners. Napoleon
said that if one scratched a Russian he found a Tartar. Were he alive now
he would say that if one scratches a Prussian he finds a savage. Under auto-
cracy, the civilization of Germany was an effort to accommodate the twentieth
century to the spirit of the Middle Ages. It was worn as a garment and not
as a part of her being. It was materialistic and without a soul. It scoffed
at the reality of any power except brute force. The war which the criminal
leaders of Germany set in motion in 1914 has been a oconclusive demonstration
of the unfitness of present-day Germany to lead the world in the path of real
civilization.

That war was not a war in the ordinary sense of the term. It was the
overpowering of an outlaw who was running amuck. A more righteous conflict
was never waged. Germany was fought that the world might be made a decent
place to live in. There is no place for that country in the household of civilized
nations until her people cease to bow down to the false gods they have so assidu-
ously worshipped the last half century. It is entirely against a growing spirit of
the age for one nation to throttle another by a resort to arms, particularly when
this recourse involves the plunder or destruction of mines and factories, the en-
slavement or massacre of the operative population, and indiscriminate piracy and
murder on the high seas. It is not for any nation to assume that it is a law to
itself and that whatever it does is justifiable.

The United States was forced into this war to assist in the rescue of civiliza-
tion. The people of Rockbridge have the consciousness that they loyally upheld

- sons were numerously represented on the battle-front
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THE NEGRO ELEMENT

SLAVERY IN VIRGINIA—GROWTH OF SLAVERY IN ROCKBRIDGE—MAINTAINING ORDER AMONG
THE NEGROES—CRIME—EMANCIPATION EFrorTs—THE NEGRO IN THE WAR
oF 1861—THE RockBrIDGE NEGRO OF ToDAY

African slavery was almost as unfamiliar to the British people in their own
land as it was in the whitest county of the Old Dominion. It was not legalized
in Virginia until more than fifty years after the founding of Jamestown. White
servants were preferred to colored ones until after 1700. Negroes of American
birth were more satisfactory laborers than those coming direct from Africa.
Slavery grew in favor, and when American independence was declared, the
negro population of Virginia was already so large that it seemed likely to exceed
the white at an early day.

The more far-seeing of the ruling class in Virginia perceived the unde-
sirability of this inundation. The House of Burgesses repeatedly asked the
British government to cease bringing negroes to the colony. All these efforts
were set at naught by the greed of the mercantile classes of England. On the
eve of the Revolution, Lord Dartmouth said England “cannot allow the colonies
to check or discourage in any degree a traffic so beneficial to the nation.” This
forcing of slaves upon Virginia was one of the grievances named by Jefferson in
his original draft of the Declaration of Independence. It must be conceded, how-
ever, that slaves would not have been brought to Virginia unless there was a
willingness to buy them. A stern boycott would have ended the traffic. No
British ministry would have dared to break down such a weapon by sheer force.

The fact that the summer climate of Virginia is considerably warmer than
that of Britain had very little to do with the importation of slaves. Black slaves
as well as white servants were purchased because the society of Tidewater was
essentially aristocratic. Where there is an aristocracy, there is inevitably a
menial class. The Tidewater was a land of tobacco plantations, and these could
not be carried on without a large class of laborers. It is interesting to note
that above the Tidewater and below the Blue Ridge, slaves were fewer than in the
former section. In the Valley they were still fewer, and in many of the counties
beyond the Alleghany Divide they were almost non-existent. Slaves and large
farms grew fewer and yet fewer as one journeyed toward the Ohio.

There never was a time when the opponents of slavery in America were not
numerous. The institution was vehemently denounced by the delegates from
Virginia to the Federal Convention of 1787. A Virginia law of 1784 encouraged
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the freeing of the slaves. In the same year the Methodists of America became an
independent church, and one of their first official acts was to petition against
slavery, although most of their membership was then in Virginia and Maryland.
Slavery tended to make manual labor discreditable unless it was performed by
slaves. It thereby degraded the lower classes of society and contributed to idle-
ness in the higher. It was a Southern man who tersely described slavery as “a
curse to the master and a wrong to the slave.” It was another who defined it as
“a mildew which has blighted every region it has touched from the creation of
the world.”

Colonial Augusta was almost a white man’s country. In 1756 it had only
about eighty slaves; perhaps not more than one per cent. of the population. But
thence forward they became increasingly numerous in the better agricultural dis-
tricts of the Valley. In Rockbridge they were few prior to the Revolution, and
they were confined to a small number of the wealthier families. When the iron
industry arose and made a demand for labor, negroes were hired from masters
east of the Blue Ridge. “By 1861,” remarked Colonel Preston, “we were quite
a slaveholding people; a few more years, and we would have had to undergo
much that Tuckahoe did on that score. It was well the unpleasantness came as
soon as it did.”

So completely have the outward vestiges of the reign of slavery passed away
from Rockbridge, that only a few of the original negro quarters remain. A
notable exception in the Weaver estate at Buffalo Forge, where the houses for
the slaves were of an uncommonly substantial and comfortable kind. The insti-
tution was milder in Virginia than in the cotton belt, and the relations between
master and slave were as a rule kindly. The main highway to “the darky’s heart
was down his throat.” The slave was given a holiday week at Christmas time
and he enjoyed it as much as his master did. He was in his element when playing
banjo and bones and patting his knee.

But since the African came to Virginia as a child-race, and was not used
to any softer argument than brute force, it was felt that slavery could not be
maintained by treating the negro in the same manner as the white man. The
slave was supposed not to carry a gun or to go outside his master’s premises
without a pass. Poisons might not be put into his hands, and this restriction
was necessary. In 1839 a Rockbridge slave attempted to poison several persons.
He might not be taught to read or write. But between himself and his own
slaves the master did not think the law had any claim to interfere. Accordingly,
if he saw fit, he taught a favorite slave to read and write.

The patrol system was one means of keeping the slaves in order, and it
occasioned a good deal of expense. Captains were appointed by the county
court, each having a force of so‘:ne six or eight men. A captain and his squad
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were to patrol a specified area at specified times. For this service the patrol-
man was paid thirty-three cents a night in 1782. In 1822, he was paid six cents
an hour. The penal code was not the same to the slave that it was to the
Caucsaian. His ears could be cropped. He could be hanged for burning a barn,
or for stealing, and the county court was empowered to decree the death penalty.
But before the negro was hanged, his valuation.as a slave was determined, and
this sum was paid by the county to the master.

A considerable share of the crime in Rockbridge has been committed by the
negro. The first civil execution of a white man in this county took place
August 3, 1905. It was preceded by the legal hanging of five negroes at five
different times. York, a slave of Andrew Reid, was adjudged guilty December
1, 1786, of killing Tom, another of Reid’s slaves. It was odrered that he be
hanged one week later, that his head be severed from the body, and that it be
set on a pole at the forks of the road between Lexington and John Paxton’s.
Rape was not at all unknown before emancipation. An execution for this crime
took place in Rockbridge in 1850. For assaulting and beating Arthur McCorkle,
Alexander Scott was ordered to be hanged April 5, 1844. The master was to be
paid $450.00. Cyrus, a slave of Robert Piper, was ordered to hang in 1798 for
burning his master’s house. In 1840, Nelson, a slave, was ordered to be hanged
for burglary. Outlaw slaves might be put to death with impunity. But the
penalty for burglary was sometimes changed to transportation to Liberia. Whip-
ping was administered in less serious matters, as when thirty-nine lashes were
ordered for Peter, a slave of John Hays, in 1800. He had stolen leather worth
$3.25. In 1804, Jinny, a slave of John Dunlap, threatened his wife, Dorcas. The
woman was ordered to be kept in jail until her child was born, and thirty lashes,
well laid on, were to be given. A negress was occasionally guilty of infanticide.

Before 1861, and particularly before 1830, there were somewhat frequent
instances of manumission. But restrictions were imposed on the freedman. He
was registered as to height, color, markings, etc., and a duplicate of the paper
given him. Registration had to be repeated every five years. To live in the
county -he had to have the consent of the county court. But he had a surname
as well as a given name, and his marriages were recorded among those of the
white people. It was the policy of Virginia to discourage the free negro from
remaining in the state. He was too frequently idle and worthless, and his pres-
ence tended to make the slaves restless and demoralized. Yet a request to remain,
if by a freedman who stood well with the whites, was not likely to be turned
down.

In 1830 the desire to get rid of the institution of slavery had become very
strong in Virginia. The state was declining in wealth, and emigration to the West
and South was very heavy. About this time, 343 women of Augusta county

s
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signed a petition for immediate emancipation. A petition to the Assembly, dated
1827 and sent from Rockbridge, asks the removal of free negroes from the
state, and favors manumission and colonization. It goes on to say that “the
evils, both political and moral, which spring from the difference of color and
condition in our population, are great and obvious. The blacks, in proportion
to their number, are a positive deduction from our military strength, an impedi-
ment to the wealth and improvement of the country, and to the general diffusion
of knowledge by schools; a source of domestic uneasiness and an occasion of
moral degeneracy of character. Separated by an impassable barrier from politi-
cal privileges and social respectability, and untouched by the usual incentives to
improvement, they must be our natural enemies, degraded in sentiment and base
in morals.” Another Rockbridge petition exhibits the contrast between 1790
and 1830, with respect to the section of the state east of the Blue Ridge. The
whites had increased from 314,523 to 375,935, but the blacks had increased from
288,425 to 457,013, being now in a large majority. The tendency toward an
Africanization of the Eastern District was causing much emigration of the
whites. It was prophesied that a race war would result and cause a blotting
out of the negroes. The petition asked for a special tax to create a fund to re-
move such blacks as were willing to go, and to purchase some others to send
with them. It also asked that private emancipation be followed by removal.

In 1832 a bill for a general emancipation passed the lower house of the
legislature, and lacked only one vote of going through the senate. The Western
District of Virginia was almost unanimous for the measure. The value of
the slave property was about $100,000,000. Shortly after the defeat of this bill
came the tragic insurrection in Southampton, whereby sixty white people lost
their lives. An anti-slavery feeling spread in the North, and the many anti-
slavery societies in the South were disbanded. The institution was given a new
lease of life, and yet there was still a strong economic opposition to slavery in the
Western District, this name being given, until 1861, to the portion of Virginia
west of the Blue Ridge.

A petition from this county in 1847 says it is believed there are 60,000 of
the free colored in the state, and it asserts the opinion that there will be 250,000
of them in the year 1900. It recommends deportation to Liberia, and says
that with few exceptions the freedmen are idle, worthless, and increasingly
injurious to the slaveholders and the slaves. Henry Ruffner, himself a slave-
holder, put forward a plan the same year. He found that slavery was driving
away immigration, driving ont white laborers, crippling agriculture, commerce,
and industry, imposing hurtful social ideals upon the people, and that it was
detrimental to the common schools and to popular education. His plan was to
divide the state along the line of the Blue Ridge, eliminate slavery on the west
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side, and on the east side to introduce a policy of gradual emancipation, deporta-
tion, and colonization. John Letcher was also in favor of eventually keeping
slavery out of the Western District. In the course of an interview at Washington
College, General Lee said he had always favored gradual emancipation. He had
considered the presence of the negro an absolute injury to the state and a peril
to its future. He thought it would have been better had Virginia sent her negroes
into the cotton country.

In 1860, the imminence of civil war depreciated slave values and gave a
stimulus to a more active selling of them in the cotton states. In the Gagette for
January 24, 1860, William Taylor advertises for 1,000 negroes for the Southern
market. Another advertisement, dated May 10, 1860, reads thus: “I wish to pur-
chase 500 likely young negroes of both sexes for the Southern market, for which I
will pay the highest market prices in cash. My address is Staunton or Middle-
brook, Augusta County, Va. J. E. Carson.” About this time advertisements
of runaway slaves were somewhat a regular feature of the newspapers.

During the war of 1861 the conduct of the negroes was highly creditable to
the race, and there were few misdemeanors among them. Many of the slaves
showed great fidelity in staying with the families of their masters and working
the farms. In one instance a master was about to join the Confederate army and
had to leave five children behind him. His man-slave told him to go on and he
would himself see that things at home were attended to. The master was killed
in battle, but the negro was faithful to his trust, and the children were emabled
to go to school. A monument marks the grave of the old servant in the Timber
Ridge burial ground.

American slavery was doomed by the war of 1861, no matter which side
might triumph. The Federal government resorted to emancipation as a war
measure, and it was made permanent by a constitutional amendment. Yet it is
not generally known that an emancipation act was passed by the Confederate
- Congress in the closing days of the war.

The slave was commonly known by a single name, instances of which are
Mingo, Will, Jerry, Jude, Pompey, Dinah, Daphne, Rose, Jin, Nell, Let, Phcebe,
Phillis, and Moll. One effect of emancipation was to ensure him a surname,
which was often that of the family in which he had worked.

An interesting exception to a general rule was that of the Reverend John
Chavis. In 1802 it was certified that he was free, decent, orderly, and respect-
able, and had taken academic studies at Washington College. Another was
Patrick Henry, for whom Thomas Jefferson built a cabin on his land at Natural
Bridge and left him in charge of the property, so that it might be adequately
shown to visitors. Jefferson conveyed some land to him in fee simple and he
lived on it till his death in 1829. Henry’s will is on record at Lexington. He had
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the unique distinction of being a colored slaveholder, as the following document
will show:

Be it known to all whom these presents may come, that I, Patrick Henry, of the County
of Rockbridge and State of Virginia having in the year of our Lord one Thousand eight
hundred and fifteen purchased from Benjanin Darst of the town of Lexington a female
slave named Louisa, and since known by the name of Louisa Henry; now, for and in con-
sideration of her extraordinary meritorious zeal in the prosecution of my interest, her
constant probity and exemplary deportment subsequent to her being recognized as my wife,
together with divers other good and substantial reasons, I have this day in open court in
the county aforesaid, by this my public deed of manumission determined to enfranchise, set
free, and admit her to a participation in all and every privilege, advantage, and immunity
that free persons of color are capacitated, enabled, or permitted to enjoy in conformity
with the Laws and Provisions of this Commonwealth, in such case made and provided. And
by these presents I do hereby emancipate, set free, manumit, and disenthrall, the said Louisa
alias Louisa Henry from the shackles of slavery and bondage forever, for myself and all per-
sons whomsoever, I do renounce, resign, and henceforth disclaim all right and authority over
her as, or in the capacity of a slave. And for the true and earnest performance of each and
every stipulation hereinbefore mentioned to the said Louisa, alias Louisa Henry, I bind my-
self, oty heirs, executors, and administrators forever. In testimony whereof I have here-
unto set my hand and affixed my seal this second day of December in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and sixteen.

Patrick Henry.

In 1910 the negroes of this county were sixteen per cent. of the population,

* and paid taxes on land and personalty assessed at $237,505. The gregariousness

of the race is indicated in the fact that of the aforesaid amount, $155,653 be-
longed in Lexington town and district.

It is worthy of mention that Amy Timberlake, daughter of a negress brought
from Africa, lived to a greater age than any other resident of Rockbridge, so far
as our information goes. She died in 1897 at the age of 107.

In the middle course of Irish Creek is a considerable community sometimes
known as the “brown people.” They live the simple life in their little log cabins
which dot the valley and the bordering hillsides. In the veins of many of them
is the blood of the Indian as well as that of the African, but the Caucasian type
is dominant.
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THE TOWN OF LEXINGTON

FounpiNG oF THE CouNTY SEAT—THE TowN SiTE—CouNTy BUILDINGS—THE FIRE OF 1796—
LexiNcroN IN 1816 AND 1835—LEXINGTON IN RECENT TIMES—
A LerTER OF 1781

When the county of Rockbridge was authorized in 1778, the population
was probably not less than 4,000. It must have been well distributed, except that
it had not penetrated so deeply into the mountain coves as was the case a century
later. The Rockbridge people of that day were altogether rural. The nearest
approach to a village was the school-hamlet at Timber Ridge. One cannot find in
the United States nowadays an area so large as Rockbridge with its then popula-
tion and without a full-fledged town.

But for the creation of the new county, ten and perhaps twenty years
would have elapsed without placing a village in the center of the Rockbridge
area. The county had to have a center of local government, and west of the
Blue Ridge a county seat has always meant a town. The selection of the
plateau at the mouth of Woods Creek was governed partly by the general
attractiveness of the spot, but still more because of its central position and its
being on the main line of travel between Staunton and the settlements on and
beyond the Roanoke. It was also on a direct line of travel to the Kanawha and
the West.

Thus we find that the same Act of Assembly which created Rockbridge also
provided for laying off into streets and lots a tract of about twenty-seven acres.
The net return from the sale of lots was to be applied to lessening the county
levy. In the Act the statute-made town is called Lexington. We do not know
who was particularly responsible for the choice of name, but the Lexington
of Virginia, like the Lexington of Kentucky, appears to be a namesake of the
village in Massachusetts, where the first battle of the Revolution was begun.

The first private owner of the tract was Gilbert Campbell, who left a new
“hoose” and personalty of $179.41 on his decease in 1750. The property then
passed to his son, Isaac, the possessor at the time of the War for Independence.
The rectangle of 900 feet by 1,300 feet, provided by the statute, was divided
into thirty-six lots, two of these being reserved for the county buildings. The
original lots are 128%4 feet broad and 195 feet deep. The three streets running
in the longer direction were named Randolph, Main, and Jefferson. The cross
streets were called Henry, Washington, and Nelson. With one exception these
streets bear the names of Virginia statesmen of the Revolutionary period. An
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alley all around the circumference of five-sixths of a mile is indicated in the
original plat. The courthouse reservation was defined as fronting Main and
extending from Henry to Washington.

The boundaries of Lexington were extended in 1847, 1850, 1874, and 1916.
It is a curious fact that the title of the Act of 1850 conveys no hint that
the statute concerns any other town than Clarksburg, the birthplace of Stonewall
Jackson.

The first care of the county court was to provide for the public buildings.

The specifications for the first courthouse are given in Chapter IX. The build-
ing was to have been completed by November 1, 1778. Nothing appears to have
been done, for next year we find the court ordering a courthouse twenty-five by
thirty feet, flanked by two jury rooms, each twelve feet square. A stone founda-
tion was to support a brick wall nine feet high. The roof was to be in the
form of a T and covered with joint shingles. The courthouse now ordered
appears to have been burned in 1787. In that year we find the justices con-
tracting with William Brice to build a courthouse twenty-four by thirty feet
on the ground, and with a wall eighteen feet high. Again the foundation
was to be of stone and the wall of brick. Again the courtroom was to be
flanked by a jury-room twelve feet square and provided with a chimney. In front
there was to be a lobby twelve feet by twenty-four. The courtroom was to con-
tain a gallery, and was to be lighted by two windows taking glass eight inches
by ten, but with twenty-four panes instead of eighteen. Pine flooring and
chestnut shingles were to be used. This second courthouse perished in the
great fire of 1796. The justices to draw the plans for still another courthouse
and jail were John Bowyer and John and James Caruthers. In 1798 a pillory and
stocks were ordered. We are not informed as to the size of the original county
“boarding house,” but in Rockbridge, as elsewhere, an “insufficiency of the
jail” was for years a complaint entered by every incoming sheriff. In 1815 a
stove was ordered for the “dungeon of jail.” A new office for the clerk of the
court was ordered in 1845. The present commodious and quite modern court-
house was opened in 1897.

April 11, 1796, the young village was scourged by the fire-fiend. Accord-
ing to one version of the occurrence, some resident had burned the trash
in his garden, and the coals were given new life by a rising wind. By another
statement the fire began on the lot above the one occupied by the Methodist
Church in 1889. The hay in a stable took fire, either from the pipe of a negro
hatter or from the embers under a wash-kettle. Both accounts agree that there
was a westerly wind. Little could be done to check the conflagration, and it
extended as far eastward as the intersection of Main and Henry streets. The
courthouse burned down, and for a while the residence of Andrew Reid was
used as a substitute.
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The disaster of 1796 stimulated the people to devise a means for being
less helpless in the event of another fire. So we find fifty citizens signing in
the same year the following petition:

We, the inhabitants of the town of Lexington and its vicinity, under the impression of
our late misfortune by fire, and sensible of the great danger to which we are dailey ex-
posed from many unavoidable circumstances; do hereby mutually associate ourselves for the
purpose of forming a fire company, to be known by the name of the Lexington Fire
Company.

About thirty years later, another petition says there is an engine and hose,
but no fire company. It remarks that the town levy on all real property is three
per cent.

A petition of 1801 mentions an Act of Assembly whereby certain persons
named therein were authorized to raise by a lottery $25,000 for the relief of the
sufferers by the fire. It goes on to suggest, that as the Act was not carried into
effect and the townsmen had in some measure recovered from their loss, the
sum named be reduced to $5,000, and be used in building a schoolhouse in the
town and in opening roads over South and North mountains.

A much better class of houses appears to have succeeded those destroyed
in the great fire. One Isaac Burr, of New York, who kept a diary on his trip
up the Valley of Virginia in September, 1804, says that “Lexington is a hand-
some little village with good buildings.” Burr must have been very fond of pie.
He complains that he could get none except those made of apple or peach, and
even these were exceedingly scarce.

A petition of 1805 finds a grievance in the playing of “long bullet,” the
nature of which seems now forgotten. It was played so much on the high-
ways and near the town as to endanger the safety of people traveling about.
Gambling was a feature of the game. Convictions were hard to secure, and that
the practice might be stamped out, the aid of the Assembly was invoked.

For a quarter of a century there was no church building in the town, and
religious services, as well as literary societies and singing schools, were held in
the courthouse. On Washington’s birthday, 1796, the sum of $2,500 was sub-
scribed by forty-five men to erect a Presbyterian Church. The fire which quickly
followed was probably responsible for some delay. At all events the church was
. not completed until the fall of 1802. It had an outside gallery and could seat
800 people. It stood near the main entrance to the present cemetery, and in 1844
was succeeded by the one now in existence. This, however, has been remodeled
since the war of 1861. The Presbyterian house of worship has been followed,
in the order of their mention, by the Methodist, Baptist, Episcopal, and Roman

Catholic churches.
Unless the “Campbell schoolhouse” of 1753 stood near or on the site of
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Lexington, the one built by William Alexander near where the union station now
is would appear to have served the needs of the village in its earlier years.
Apart from the Ann Smith Academy, the first pretentious effort in the educa-
tional line seems to have been in 1819, when the “Central School of Lexington”
was built by an association at a cost of $1,100. In 1834 it was still in use and
incorporation was asked.

In 1811 there were eleven mechanics asking leave to incorporate as an asso-
ciation.

In his semi-centennial address before the Franklin Society in 1873, Colonel
J. T. L. Preston gives an interesting picture of Lexington in 1816. The town
was still nearly or quite within the limits decreed in 1777. Main Street was
not compactly built up, and there was but one brick building on its southward
side. The finest structure was the Ann Smith Academy. Beyond it was a
cornfield. At opposite sides of the college campus were two brick halls two
stories high. The water supply was from a pump and from Back Spring.
Hauling water by sled was “quite an institution.” Ice-houses were unknown.
The Presbyterian was the only church. There were two services separated
by an “intervale” of one-half hour, and nearly as many people were present in
the afternoon as in the morning. The large oak grove then reaching from
the church gate to Woods Creek was a rambling ground during the noon inter-
mission. There were many merchants for a town of not over 600 people, but
the trading was on a small scale. The store of William Caruthers was the largest.
Goods were purchased in Philadelphia. Prices were higher than in 1873, and
money was scarcer. The town physician was Samuel L. Campbell, an eccentric
gentleman of fine sense, kind heart, good culture, and liberal views. His field
was a large one, yet there was less sickness than in later years. The able and
very genial bar, of which riotous stories were told, consisted of Chapman John-
son, Daniel Sheffey, Briscoe Baldwin, and Howe Peyton.

In 1832 the lottery was still hardly thought of as a form of gambling. In
that year Lexington was authorized to raise $12,000 by such means and use
it in paving the streets and bringing water into the town.

Martin’s Virginia Gazetteer of 1835 tells us that Lexington had Presbyterian
and Methodist churches, a printing office, five shoemakers, five saddlers, four tav-
erns, four carpenters, three hatters, two tanneries, two tinplate works, two cabi-
net-makers, two wheelwrights, two jewelers, two blacksmiths, and one brick-
layer. Three libraries were open to the public. There were about 150 dwellings
and nearly 900 inhabitants.

Howe, in his Sketches of Virginia, dated 1845, reports that the town had
four churches, two printing offices, and 1,200 people. He quotes an English
traveler as saying that “the town has many attractions. It is surrounded by
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beauty, and stands at the head of a valley flowing with milk and honey. House
rent is low and provisions are cheap, abundant, and of the best quality. Flowers
and gardens are more highly prized than in most places.”

American opinion in the 50’s sounds less appreciative. An observer of 1855
calls Lexington “an indifferent town and rather small, with muddy streets.”
Speaking of the town in 1859, Florence McCarthy, the Baptist minister, says it
then looked as though it had been finished twenty years earlier, a new house
being a very rare event. Yet in 1855, J. W. Paine was keeping a bookstore, and
two years later Samuel Pettigrew had a daguerreotype studio. In this period the
drinking habit was unpleasantly conspicuous. A petition of 1852, signed by
182 persons, says there are six unlicensed drinking places, and it asks for a search-
warrant law. Just before the war of 1861 there were eight groggeries, and court
day was no time for a self-respecting woman to appear on the street.

After the return of peace Lexington roused itself to a considerable degree
of business activity, yet in 1873 a local newspaper said the streets were uncleanly '
and the sidewalks unworthy of the name. Eight years later there were paved
streets, brick sidewalks, waterworks, and sanitary arrangements, but no rail-
road. It took eighteen hours to come from Lynchburg, a distance of fifty miles.

Before there were banks in the Valley of Virginia it was a custom to con-
ceal money. It is said that when Major William Dunlap died in 1834, there was
the sum of $12,000 in specie lying buried on his farm near Goshen. In later
years much time was spent by residents of the neighborhood in searching for
it. The first bank in Rockbridge was the Lexington Savings Institution, in-
corporated in 1843, but chartered under a longer name in 1834. It was still in
operation in 1860, and gave five per cent. interest on time deposits. The Lexing-
ton Building Fund Association was organized in 1854. In 1860 its assets were
$51,611.75, and its expense account for the year was $1,114.94.

The coming of peace in 1865 found the town cemetery in a very much
neglected condition. Few stones had been set up during the war, and much of the
inclosure was a jungle of grass, weeds, and tree-sprouts. During the war there
were 108 interments of Confederate soldiers from other states than Virginia.
More than one-half were North Carolinians. But the cemetery is now well cared
for. It lies high and level, commands a fine outlook, and is much beautified with
flowers and shrubbery. It is the resting place of many of the eminent dead of
Rockbridge. The most conspicuous feature is the pillar surmounted by a statuc
in heroic size of the great Confederate leader, Stonewall Jackson.

Lexington was incorporated December 18, 1841. On the first Saturday in
January, 1842, and every second year thereafter, the free white male house-
keepers and freeholders, twenty-one years of age or upward, were to elect seven
trustees, these serving two years and four constituting a quorum. They were en-
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powered to appoint a board of three assessors. They could also adopt rules and
regulations for the maintenance of order, grade and pave streets, put in water-
works, and proceed against delinquents. Their jurisdiction extended one mile
beyond the town limits. They appointed a town sergeant, who acted as constable
within the corporate limits.

During the last fifty years Lexington has been a place of about 3,000 in-
habitants. The business quarter is chiefly on Main street, and is quite compact.
The business and professional interests are about such as may be looked for in
an American town of this size. Yet Lexington has never been an industrial
center. It is supported by a considerable country trade and by the two great
educational institutions within its confines. The streets are generally paved,
and the residence sections include many modern cottages setting back from the
sidewalk in very attractive grounds. The improvement since the 50’s is due more
to the changed conditions of the postbellum era than to a marked increase in
population. In 1850 the county seat was credited with 1,105 white and 638
colored inhabitants. In 1860 the total population was 2,135. In 1870 it had risen
to 2,873, which is well-nigh as large as the figures for 1910. In 1874 the assessor
found 1,451 white and 1,251 colored citizens and 501 students.

We close this chapter with a letter written from Lexington while it was yet
an infant village.

Lexington 1st Feb. 1781
May it please your Excellency:

Accounts from all quarters lead us to expect vigorous Measures from our Enemies the
next Campain. I have just received Duplicates of Letters sent from our Officers of Ilinois
to others at Louisville which inform that the Spanish & American Ilinois Settlements are
preparing defensively for heavy attacks. The original Letters I hear are sent forward to
your Excellency. On conferring with Cols Bowmans & Trigg we concluded it expedient to
send 150 Men to Garrison the Mouth of Licking until Crockett shall arrive which we shall
expect weekly. We apprehended the Expenxe wd be less to Government than to wait
until the Enemy arrived at our Settlements and better conduce to the Security of the
people.

Inclosed are Recommendations for certain officers in this County. Would there be any
Impropriety in sending out some Blank Commissions as formerly? I wd engage that no
abuses be committed. There are many vacancies for other Officers than those recommended
whose Ranks are as yet unfilled.

I have the Honor to be with the greatest Respect,

Your Excellency’s
Most obedient and
humble Servant :
To Gov. Jefferson JorN Tobpys



XVIII
BUENA VISTA AND GLASGOW

At a point where North River exchanges an easterly for a southerly course,
is a long and tolerably broad expanse of river-bottom. Immediately eastward are
the high and broken foothills of the Blue Ridge. Westward is the rapid flowing
river, and beyond is the rolling upland that extends to the North Mountain. The
locality was long known as Hart’s Bottom, because a portion was patented by
Silas Hart, a pioneer. magistrate whose home was near Staunton. John Robin-
son came here shortly after the close of the Revolution, and by adding to his
original purchase acquired a large estate. In 1889 the bottom was owned by
Samuel F. Jordan, B. C. Moomaw, and one Gurney, of New York. By this time
it was known as Green Valley. Near the flag station on what was then the
newly built Shenandoah Valley Railroad was the Appold Tannery. Near this
small industry were a half dozen dwellings for the employees.

About thirty years ago, a “boom fever” was spreading like an epidemic the
entire length of the Valley of Virginia. “Development companies” sprang up
like mushrooms, each one announcing that it designed to transform some old
town or village into a hive of industry, or to create a brand-new town on a
tract of farming land. Finely printed prospectuses were scattered broadcast,
lot sales were held, bonuses were given to industrial “plants,” and speculation
ran riot until the inevitable reaction came. The result ranged all the way from
moderate success to utter failure.

The effort launched at Green Valley was the earliest in the Valley of Virginia
with the exception of Roanoke, and to this priority is largely due the fact that
Buena Vista is an actual town and not a memory. A development company
was organized with J. T. Barclay as its president. The issue of capital stock
was fixed at $600,000. Within nine days this was oversubscribed by nearly
twenty-five per cent. The land purchased and laid off into lots amounted to
900 acres. The streets, which are seventy-five feet wide, generally conform to
the cardinal points of the compass. Those known as avenues bear the names
of trees. The cross-streets are known by number. The blocks are of uniform
size. Lots are 125 feet deep. Business lots are twenty-five feet wide and resi-
dence lots are fifty feet wide. The business quarter is next the river and along the
railroad tracks. The residence section lies toward the Blue Ridge and rises into
some of the lower foothills.

The stock was sold in shares of $50, two shares entitling the holder to a
residence lot, and seven giving him a business lot. Some of the industrial enter-
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prises that came brought skilled workmen from Pennsylvania, but otherwise the
people are almost wholly Virginian. Much of the early influx was from Ambherst
on the other side of the Blue Ridge. During the early years in the history of the
town, a rough, disorderly element, partly white and partly colored, was too con-
spicuous.

In 1891 Buena Vista was incorporated as a city and thus became politically
independent of Rockbridge county. It is alleged, and it would seem with reason,
that the count of the inhabitants was padded. At all events, the town has never
yet had the 5,000 people that the statute law asks as a requisite to incorporation.

Buena Vista has had its ups and downs. Nearly one-half the buildings in
the place appeared in 1890. Next season a reaction came, and for six years
the town was at a standstill. Since that period of ebb there has been a slow
but rather steady progress. The present population is about 3,500, and only about
150 persons are colored.

The leading industries of Buena Vista employ about 550 workmen. They
comprise the Columbia Paper Company, the Alleghany Iron Company, the Buena
Vista Tannery, and the Buena Vista Extract Company, all but the last named
being owned in Pennsylvania. Smaller industries are a firebrick company, a
stationery company, a silk mill, a saddle factory, a canning company, a building
supply company, planing and lumber mills, and a brick plant that uses slag. The
silk mill is owned in the North. Several of the early industries succumbed. One
of these was a glass company, which sold out to the Armour Fertilizer Company.
Another was a concern for the manufacture of wire fencing.

As in other boom towns of the period in question, one of the very first things
set on foot by the promoters was a hotel on a scale entirely unwarranted by
the probable support it would have. The Buena Vista Hotel was built at a cost
of $85,000, yet was placed on an elevation at the very edge of the town, and
thus could not attract commercial travelers. It did not burn down under the
suspicious circumstances that were true of several other boom hotels of the Valley.
It was at length sol